Student ID: 20312947

School of Medicine University of Nottingham

Academic Thesis

Georgia West, MSc

Thesis submitted to the University of Nottingham for the degree of Doctor of Forensic Psychology

Submitted for Examination: December 2023

Acknowledgements

Thank you to my research supervisors Prof. Kevin Browne and Dr Elizabeth Paddock for your continued support, guidance and patience over the last three years. Thank you to all of my clinical supervisors across my placements, particularly St Andrew's Healthcare who granted permission to conduct the research and participants that took part.

My sincere gratitude goes to Prof Charlie Brooker. This thesis would not exist without your kind help and support. I thoroughly enjoyed working with you and I am grateful for the incredible opportunities that have come as a result. Thank you to my supervisor Dr Elena Xenophontos for your support and understanding whilst I completed my thesis.

I would like to thank friends for their continued support and patience whilst I navigated this journey, and believed in me at times when I struggled to believe in myself! Finally, I would like to give greatest thanks to my Mum and Dad. Without you none of this would have been possible, and I am eternally grateful for your continued support. Beyond Bars: Examining Suicide Risk amongst people on probation.

Table of Contents

List of Tables	VIII
List of Figures	Х
List of Appendices	XI
Thesis Abstract	12
Chapter One: Introduction	14
Defining Suicide	15
Prevalence of Suicide	18
Suicide Risk Factors	19
Sociodemographic factors	20
Criminal justice outcomes	21
Clinical risk factors	22
Ideation to action framework	25
Interpersonal Theory of Suicide	25
The Integrated Motivational-Volitional Model of Suicide	27
Three Step Theory	28
Rationale for thesis	29
Thesis overview	30
Chapter Two: Risk factors for suicide amongst the probation population: A	32
Systematic Review.	
Abstract	33
Background	34
Appraisal of previous reviews	34
Aims and Objectives	36
Method	36
Search strategy	37
Study Selection	38
Inclusion/exclusion criteria	38
Quality assessment	40
Data extraction	42
Results	43
Description of studies	43
Characteristics of included studies	46
Descriptive data synthesis	57
Sociodemographic variables	59
Clinical variables	62
Criminogenic variables	67
Temporal variables	68

Discussion	68
Strengths and weaknesses of evidence included	73
Consideration of findings in the wider context of their relationship to practice,	78
theory and the population of interest	
Implications	81
Gaps in research identified from results of the review	83
Recommendations for future research	84
Conclusion	85
Chapter Three: Risk factors for suicidal ideation and suicide attempt amongst men on probation	87
Abstract	88
Background	89
Ideation to action framework	89
The current study	90
Methodology	91
Ethics	92
Measures	92
Analysis	93
Tool development	95
Results	96
Bivariate analyses	99
Multivariate analyses	114
lool to identify vulnerabilities to suicidality	119
Discussion	125
Consideration of findings in the wider context of their relationship to	128
practice, theory and the population of interest	
Limitations	131
Implications for practice and future research	132
Conclusion	133
Chapter Four: Assessment, formulation and intervention of suicide risk for a	135
man on probation: a single case study	
Abstract	136
Background	138
Person on Probation	138
Referral process	138

Suicidal ideation within the probation population: prevalence and definition	139
Assessment, analysis and formulation	141
Intervention	149
Theoretical background to treatment and links with formulation	148
Intervention overview	151
Therapeutic process	153
Results	154
Psychometrics	154
Observations	155
Discussion	157
Consideration of findings in the wider context of their relationship to	160
practice, theory and the population of interest	
Future directions	162
Conclusion	163
Chapter Five: The use of the Depression Hopelessness and Suicide Screening Form with Forensic Populations: A Psychometric Critique	165
Abstract	166
Background	167
Depression, Hopelessness and Suicide (DHS) Screening Form	169
Normative data	175
Reliability	176
Internal consistency	176
Test re-test	177
Validity	178
Face validity	178
Concurrent validity	179
Predictive validity	184
Content validity	185
Construct validity	185
Practical applications	187
Discussion	186
Consideration of findings in the wider context of their relationship to practice, theory and the population of interest	189
Conclusion	192
Chapter Six: General discussion	194
Thesis aim	195

Summary of findings	196
Chapter Two	196
Chapter Three	198
Chapter Four	200
Chapter Five	202
Research and clinical implications	203
Conclusions	207
References	210
Appendices	240

Chapter	Title	Page
Systematic review		
Table 1	Summary of included studies	48
Table 2	Summary of identified risk factors	69
Primary research paper		
	Contingency classification table for	06
Table 3	predictive studies	90
Table 1	Demographic variables stratified by	98
	outcome group	50
Table 5	Bivariate analyses results comparing	101
	suicidal ideation with controls	101
Tabla 6	Bivariate analyses results comparing	106
Table o	suicide attempt with controls	100
	Bivariate analyses results comparing	111
Table 7	suicidal ideation with attempt	111
	Results of logistic regression on six	
Table 8	independent predictor variables	115
	comparing controls with ideation	
	Accuracy of logistic regression 6-	
Table 9	factor model in classifying individuals	116
	who experienced suicidal ideation	
	Results of logistic regression on six	
Table 10	independent predictor variables	117
	comparing controls with attempt	
	Accuracy of logistic regression 6-	
Table 11	factor model in classifying	118
	participants who attempted suicide	

List of Tables

	Classification table demonstrating	
	the accuracy of a six-risk factor	
Table 12	checklist with a cut-off score of 3 or	121
	more to classify individuals who	
	attempted suicide	
	Results of logistic regression on nine	
Table 13	independent predictor variables	124
	comparing ideation with attempt	
	Accuracy of logistic regression nine-	
Table 14	factor model in classifying	125
	participants who attempted suicide	125
	compared to suicidal ideation	
Table 15	Risk factor checklist for men on	107
Table 15	probation at increased risk of suicide	127
Case Study		
Table 16	Comparative Pre and Post	150
	Psychometric Assessment Results	156
Table 17	Client X's completed proposed	150
	vulnerabilities to suicidality tool	139
Psychometric Critique		
Table 18	Critical Item Checklist	171
	Demographic information and	
Table 19	reported alpha reliabilities from	172
	studies utilising the DHS	
	Correlations between DHS scores and	
Table 20	alternative measures of depression	181
	and hopelessness	

List of Figures

Chapter	Title	Page
Introduction		
Box 1	Suicide definitions commonly utilised	17
	in research	17
Figure 1	Interpersonal Theory of Suicide	26
	The Integrated Motivational-Volitional	28
Figure 2	Model of Suicidal Behaviour	
Systematic review		
Box 2	Review search terms	38
Figure 3	Study selection	45
Primary research paper		
	Checklist scores of the number of risk	
	factors present in those individuals	
Figure 4	who experienced a suicide attempt	119
	compared to individuals who had not	
	attempted suicide	

List of Appendices

Letter	Title	Page
Appendix A	Inclusion and exclusion criteria (PECO)	242
Appendix B	Quality assessment	245
Appendix C	Data Extraction Form	253
Appendix D	Frequency of hits	255
Appendix E	Descriptive data synthesis for variables with two hits	259
Appendix F	Primary study ethical approval	262
Appendix G	Case Study consent form	263
Appendix H	Client X Longitudinal Formulation	265
Appendix I	Client X 5 P's Formulation	267
Appendix J	Signposting letter	269
Appendix K	Follow up Satisfaction Questionnaire	270
Appendix L	Depression, Hopelessness and Suicide Screening form	272

Thesis Abstract

Objective: The thesis broadly explores suicide risk in the probation population, with a predominant focus on risk factors, preventative intervention and risk assessment. **Methods**: The thesis includes a systematic review regarding risk factors for suicide amongst individuals on probation (Chapter Two), empirical research paper discerning differences between individuals on probation who experience suicidal ideation, suicide attempt and no history of suicidal thoughts or behaviour (Chapter Three), a single case study of a male on probation who demonstrated a historical suicide attempt and experienced suicidal ideation at the time of intervention (Chapter Four), and critique of the Depression, Hopelessness and Suicide (DHS) Screening Form. **Results**: Chapter Two presents 10 references that were systematically identified, of which highlights the scarcity of research regarding suicide risk factors for the probation population. Chapter Three attempts to expand on existing literature and presents sociodemographic, criminogenic and clinical differences between men on probation who have; attempted suicide, experienced solely suicidal ideation and have not experienced suicidal thoughts or behaviour. Findings also present a tool that is comprised of routinely assessed risk factors within the probation setting to identify vulnerabilities to suicidality and indicate individuals who may require a suicide assessment. Chapter Four proposes Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT; Beck & Beck, 2020) and Dialectical Behavioural Therapy (DBT; Linehan, 2014) could be considered in reducing the presence of suicidal ideation amongst the probation population and findings add further validity to the tool developed from the primary research paper, of which identified vulnerabilities to suicidality. Chapter Five indicated psychometric properties of the DHS are satisfactory when utilised with forensic populations. Although, the DHS should be utilised with caution in light of outlined limitations that must be addressed in practice.

Conclusion: Clinical risk factors are critical when assessing and managing suicide risk in probation populations. However, additional risk factors that can mediate suicide risk outcomes should also be considered. However, probation do not have surplus resources to manage these problems. Therefore, responsibility must be shared with probation, prison and community services to provide integrated, quality resettlement support and care for those on probation. The thesis supports the use of risk factors in identifying vulnerabilities for suicidality, and indicates that when risk factors are more prevalent ideation may transcend into attempt. However, as Chapter Three is retrospective in nature, the validity of the tool should be treated with caution and used in conjunction with clinical judgement when assessing suicide risk. Finally, each case should be formulated individually with support from psychology professionals to identify suitable intervention, and observational and collateral information should be utilised in addition to screening tools for risk assessment. Chapter One: Introduction

Introduction

Suicide is a pertinent public health concern that has afforded increased consideration in international research community across the previous decade (Mackenzie, 2015). Consequently, worldwide initiatives have been established to reduce suicide deaths (World Health Organisation, 2014). The Department of Health holds responsibility for developing suicide prevention strategies in England, and in part of its recent strategy it outlines a goal to reduce suicide in high-risk groups (Department of Health & Social Care, 2023). People who have offended comprise one group of individuals at elevated risk of suicidal death (Fazel et al, 2005; Mackenzie, 2015). However, although research indicating probation suicides may exceed individuals in prison (Sattar, 2003), suicides in prison have afforded considerable attention from researchers, whilst individuals on probation have been somewhat neglected (Mackenzie, 2015). Suicide research in probation is pertinent in light of the Government's ambition to reduce the prison population through utilising community sentences (Ministry of Justice, 2010). In addition, the Offender Rehabilitation Act (2014) has increased the number of individuals supervised by probation (Mackenzie, 2015; Ministry of Justice, 2015). Given that 238,264 individuals are supervised on probation (Ministry of Justice, 2023a), it is imperative probation are supported with research and training to monitor suicide risk to follow the responsibility to prevent and reduce suicides (Bridges et al, 2008).

The chapter shall consider nuances regarding defining suicide, its prevalence with particular reference to forensic populations, and provide an overview of up-to-date understanding of suicide risk factors and theories regarding mechanisms that promote transition from suicidal ideation to suicide attempt; otherwise known as the ideation-action framework (Turecki et al, 2019). The chapter will conclude with the rationale and overview of the thesis as a whole.

Defining suicide

There is lack of a consistent definition regarding suicide and 'suicidal behaviours' (Mackenzie et al, 2015). Such lack of coherence can be partially understood as suicide is a complex phenomenon; hence its understanding and incorporation has been sometimes convoluted by numerous definitions utilised across suicide literature (Turecki et al, 2019). Caution should therefore be exercised in comparison of international research as suicide is recorded differently across jurisdictions (Mackenzie, 2015). In England and Wales, the decision regarding whether an individual has died by suicide is determined by a coroner, and will only be confirmed as such if deemed beyond reasonable doubt the individual intentionally ended their own life (World Health Organisation, 1974, cited in Mackenzie, 2015). Within populations of individuals who have offended, the National Offender Management Service (NOMS) utilises the term 'self-inflicted death' to encompass any individual who ends their life, whereby suicide usually features as a sub-category (Ministry of Justice, 2023b). Between 2011-2021 there were 2,693 self-inflicted deaths amongst offenders in the community (Office for National Statistics, 2023). Although 38% of these deaths were suicide, it is important to hold in mind that the majority of these deaths (49%) were defined as drug related deaths, excluding suicide (Office for National Statistics, 2023). Nevertheless, these statistics demonstrate the importance of the thesis topic.

Suicidal ideation has been conceptualised as thoughts related to suicide, of which may be passive; such as wishes to die, or active; a plan of how to end one's life (Turecki et al, 2019). However, risk of acting out suicidal ideation may intensify with the content, frequency and intent associated with thoughts. However, a suicide attempt denotes self-injurious behaviour that encompasses intention to die (Turecki et al, 2019). This differs from self-injurious behaviour that can exist without intent to end one's life (Halicka & Kiejna, 2015). This illustrates how suicidal thoughts or behaviours can be difficult to ascertain and define due uncertainty regarding the individual's intention when exhibiting suicidal thoughts or behaviour (De Leo et al, 2004; Mackenzie, 2015). However, some argue intent should not be a defining feature of suicidal ideation or behaviour (Hawton, 2002), as irrespective of intention, research outlines that previous self-inflicted injury can increase vulnerability to eventual completed suicide (Hawton et al, 2014; Joiner, 2006; Mackenzie, 2015). Although detailed nomenclatures have been propositioned for suicide terminology (Turecki et al, 2019), many terms describe similar phenomena and are not widely adopted. Therefore, the thesis shall utilise terms most consistent with current suicide research (Box 1), with some adaptation due to the population of interest being individuals on probation.

Box 1: Definitions used in research (Turecki et al, 2019, p. 44)

Suicide: Death caused by injuring oneself with the intent to die.

Self-inflicted death: Any death of a person who has apparently taken their own life, irrespective of intent. This can include suicides, and cases where individuals unintentionally caused their own death, such as accidental drug overdoses

Suicidal behaviours: behaviours that could result in ending one's life, whether fatal or not

Suicidal ideation: any thoughts related to ending one's own life. Thoughts may be active, with a plan on how to complete suicide, or passive; inclusive of thoughts regarding desire to die

Self-harm: self-injurious behaviours without or with intention to die.

Non-suicidal self-injury: self-injurious behaviours without any intention to die.

Population of interest: Individuals supervised by probation. This incorporates anyone

It is of note the definition of self-inflicted death incorporates suicide when considering the population of interest. As the thesis studies individuals supervised by probation as the population of interest, data utilised throughout the thesis will therefore regularly incorporate self-inflicted deaths. Where possible, attempts have been made to disentangle data to discern differences in suicide and self-inflicted deaths. However, there are benefits of incorporating self-inflicted deaths. Firstly, it provides a broader understanding of risk, whereby including these statistics incorporates a spectrum of risk-taking behaviours that can be targeted within probation supervision. Furthermore, many individuals on probation struggle with numerous risk factors, which can pose difficulties deducing intent behind their actions (Sirdfield et al, 2020). Excluding these ambiguous cases from suicide research risks underreporting the true scope of the problem. Therefore, inclusion of these cases provides a comprehensive picture of the risks individuals face and the potential for preventable deaths. However, where 'self-inflicted' death is cited throughout the thesis, caution should be exercised to hold in mind that this does not necessarily deem figures are reflective of intentionally taking one's life. Furthermore, it is important to hold in mind that that self-inflicted deaths amongst the population of interest are predominantly drug-related deaths (Office for National Statistics, 2023).

Prevalence of suicide

World Health Organisation (WHO) has reported at least 700,000 fatal suicides each year (WHO, 2023). WHO estimates for each suicide death, 20 individuals attempt suicide, however rates vary globally (Turecki et al, 2019; WHO, 2014). Suicidal ideation, however, demonstrates a higher prevalence than suicide attempts, although incidence rates differ dependent upon definitions utilised in research. Despite this, a World Mental Health Survey inclusive of 17 countries found 9.2% prevalence of suicidal ideation across the lifespan, whereby 3.1% encompassed suicidal plans (Nock et al, 2008). However, these figures are dependent upon an individual's inclination to disclose suicidal ideation and attempts, of which is further contingent on religious and cultural influences and possible social stigma (Tureki et al, 2019).

Suicide risk is increased for individuals with offending histories, whereby it is reported that men in prison have 3.9 times increased likelihood to die by suicide comparative to the general population (Office for National Statistics, 2023a). An analysis for the female population could not be obtained due to a small number of deaths (Office for National Statistics, 2023a). However, the risk of suicide has been reported at six times higher in individuals under community probation supervision

18

compared to the general population; with the risk for men being four times greater, and the risk for women being 11 times greater (Office for National Statistics, 2023b). A study in England and Wales reported that men under criminal justice community supervision were at least ten times more likely to die by suicide comparative to the general population (Sattar, 2003), and a latter study reported 13% of general population suicides were in a community justice pathway before death (King et al, 2015). The severity of suicide risk in probation can be demonstrated further by The Ministry of Justice's annual report that reported 1,267 recorded suicides for individuals supervised in the community, averaging at approximately 115 suicides per year and encompassing 38% of all self-inflicted deaths (Office for National Statistics, 2023b). Furthermore, 67% of suicides occurred amongst those serving a post-release sentence type (Office for National Statistics, 2023b). However, these studies do not provide an understanding of potential contributory factors associated with increased suicidal behaviour amongst those serving a community sentence (Mackenzie et al, 2017; Phillips et al, 2018).

Suicide risk factors

Public attention of suicide has advanced our comprehension of risk factors and promoted a more holistic and comprehensive understanding of suicidal behaviour. Suicide risk is understood to be influenced through the interplay of numerous psychological, clinical, biological, cultural, social and environmental factors (Turecki et al, 2019). Models and theories to conceptualise suicide have been proposed (Joiner, 2005; Klonksy & May, 2015; O'Connor & Kirtley, 2018) and are discussed latter within this chapter. Although many risk factors may be involved, these models focus on their relative relationship with suicide, of which can vary and be mediated by additional factors (McGirr et al, 2009). Although categorisation is helpful to understand the relationship between risk factors, it cannot be perfected, as some risk factors act simultaneously across different factors (Turecki et al, 2019). However, some researchers conceptualised risk factors for suicide in probation populations by three broad, yet separate categories; sociodemographic factors; clinical factors and criminological factors (Cook & Borril, 2013), of which are summarised below and utilised throughout the thesis.

Sociodemographic factors

Men in prison are 3.9 times more likely to die by suicide than their non-prison counterparts (Office for National Statistics, 2023a), whereas females in prison have demonstrated twenty times increased likelihood to die by suicide comparative to same-aged females in the general population (Fazel & Benning, 2009). Similarly, suicide risk is four times greater in men supervised in the community comparative to the general population, and 11 times greater in females who have offended compared with the general population respectively (Office for National Statistics, 2023b). Female community offenders have been at higher chance of being identified as 'at risk' (Cook & Borril, 2013), possibly as a result of women being at increased likelihood to disclose risk of harm to self (Hawton, 2002). Despite limited research regarding community offenders, reported findings suggest rates across 30+ age group are particularly at risk (Phillips et al, 2018; Pratt et al, 2007), and prison data highlights individuals aged 50-59 had the highest number of self-inflicted death (Ministry of Justice, 2023). However, unfortunately this data does not disentangle what proportion of these self-inflicted deaths were suicide, as opposed to accidental drug overdose. Despite this, much research examining suicidality within custodial settings has demonstrated ambiguous findings in suicide rates based on sociodemographic factors (Fazel et al, 2011; Freuhwald et al, 2018; Overholser et al, 2011).

Fazel et al (2008) found individuals who were married, Caucasian or male were at higher risk of completed suicide amongst a cross-cultural custodial sample. However, recent studies have reported that ethnic minorities, immigrants and individuals experiencing socioeconomic deprivation are more likely to demonstrate suicidal behaviour comparative to the general population, of which has been demonstrated in custodial settings (O'Connor et al, 2011; Stoliker et al, 2020; Turecki et al, 2019).

20

Finally, it is apparent that individuals reporting gender-minority, or sexual orientation-minority status, are at higher risk of suicidal thoughts and behaviour. This trend has been reflected worldwide, however is often an overlooked variable in samples with offending histories (Figueiredo & Abreu, 2015).

Social isolation, which could exist as a result of bereavement, perceived loneliness or exclusion (Batty et al, 2018; Qin et al, 2003) has been determined as a suicide risk factor, and is arguably a characteristic demonstrated in forensic populations, particularly sex offenders (Van Den Berg et al, 2017). However, it is pertinent to remember that some sociodemographic factors may function alternatively in varying social contexts. For example, minority ethnic groups demonstrate increased suicide risk when residing in localities with a low proportion of others within the same minority ethnic group (Neelman & Wessely, 1999; Tureki et al, 2019). Furthermore, some risk factors may more quickly precipitate a suicide attempt, such as ending an intimate relationship (Qin et al, 2003).

Criminal justice outcomes

It has been proposed that uncertainty regarding criminal justice outcomes and times of transition is a contributory factor for suicide risk. For example, King et al (2015) reported an increased suicide risk when remanded on police bail as a suspect, and increased rates of suicide following custodial release has been well documented (Fox et al, 2019). Sattar (2001) analysed 1267 death certificates of individuals serving post-sentence probation supervision. The study reported 25% of deaths happened within the first month following release from custody and 51% of deaths within the first 4 months. Additional research indicates the initial two weeks post release demonstrate a particularly vulnerable period for self-inflicted death amongst men (Binswanger et al, 2011; Kariminia et al, 2007). Although Binswanger et al's (2011) data combined drug overdose and suicides, Kariminia et al (2007) conducted separate analyses for suicide, and found that suicide peaked for men during the first 2 weeks post release in Australia. Furthermore, Pratt et al (2006) found that 21% (N=79) individuals released from custody across a two-year period completed suicide within 28 days of release, and this data excluded drug-related and accidental deaths. Although we know that 49% of self-inflicted deaths are drug related amongst offenders in the community (Office for National Statistics, 2023b), these findings underscore the importance of considering suicide independently. Furthermore, 67% of suicide in offenders in the community were serving a post-release sentence type (Office for National Statistics, 2023b). Given that Post Sentence Supervision is mandatory for offenders serving a standard determinate custodial sentence of less than 2 years (Offender Rehabilitation Act, 2014), there is increased suicide risk of thousands who transition from a custodial sentence to community supervision. Finally, it is reported that individuals who receive a suspended sentence or have been convicted of sexual, violent or substance-related offences are at increased suicide risk (Cook & Borrill, 2013; Pritchard & King, 2005; Phillips et al, 2018; Webb et al, 2012).

Clinical risk factors

There is persuasive evidence regarding heritability of suicide attempts, including evidence that indicates suicide and suicidal behaviour can be demonstrated independently of psychopathologies (McGirr et al, 2009; O'Neill et al, 2017; Turecki et al, 2019;). Twin studies indicate a heritability of 30-50%, however this estimate reduces by roughly 40% once comorbid psychiatric disorders are controlled for (Fu et al, 2002). Furthermore, there is a five-fold increased risk of suicide attempt amongst individuals whose parents died by suicide comparative to the general population, although only 5% of people who complete suicide had parents who also completed suicide (Burrell et al, 2018; Turecki et al, 2019). Although research indicates familial clustering of suicidal behaviour, no genes have been reported as responsible for suicidal ideation or behaviour (Lutz et al, 2017). Therefore, it is perhaps more likely suicidal behaviour could be a result of a gene-environment interaction, hence the study of epigenetics has taken stead in suicide research. For example, childhood abuse and neglect have demonstrated strong association with adult suicidal behaviour (Brezo et al, 2009; Turecki, 2014), and associations with epigenetic changes such as DNS methylation and histone modifications (Tureki et al, 2014) have been evidenced. Physical illness also features as a contributing factor of suicide risk, such as sleep difficulties, chronic pain and inflammatory diseases (Bernert et al, 2015; Webb et al, 2012), and traumatic brain injury has been associated with suicidal ideation and attempt in a custodial samples (Gunter et al, 2013).

Psychiatric disorder is a key risk factor associated with suicide (Mackenzie et al, 2015; Sattar, 2001). This is particularly evident in North America, whereby 90% of individuals who completed suicide had a mental illness, however this can be as low as 7% in other countries (Mars et al, 2019). Psychiatric disorders are varied amongst forensic populations (Humphreys, 2000), and are more prevalent in individuals in prison who attempt suicide, comparative to prisoners without previous history of suicide attempts (Mackenzie, 2015; Marzano et al, 2010; Rivlin et al, 2010). Although there are gender differences regarding psychiatric diagnoses, depression is common to both genders and strongly associated to suicide (Sarchiapone et al, 2009). In addition, substance use disorders, schizophrenia and bipolar are frequent psychiatric diagnoses in individuals who complete suicide (Turecki et al, 2019). Comorbidity concerning suicide and mental illness transcends to individuals serving community sentences (Mackenzie, 2015), and psychiatric disorder is prevalent amongst individuals on probation who completed suicide (Haglund et al, 2014; Pritchard et al, 1997).

Risk factors can mediate more distal factors, for example; aggressive, impulsive and anxiety personality traits; often associated with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), and borderline personality disorder (BPD) and obsessivecompulsive disorder (OCD) (Brezo et al, 2008; Fergusson et al, 2000; Mann et al, 2009; McGirr et al, 2009). Epidemiological evidence has also supported disorders that increase distress, such as panic disorder, can increase likelihood of enacting suicidal ideation, especially in the context of mood disorders (Nock et al, 2008). Anxiety is often reported to mediate other factors, as when it is considered as an independent variable there has only been a weak or insignificant association with suicidal behaviour (Bentley et al, 2016). In addition, negative affect and low selfesteem have also demonstrated association with suicide (Batty et al, 2018). Furthermore, adverse childhood experiences reportedly impact stress regulation pathways, and hence can perpetuate difficulties regulating emotions, impaired executive function and diminished problem-solving ability (Richard-Devantoy et al, 2014); all of which have demonstrated association with suicide, forensic populations, and can increase likelihood of suicidal ideation when exposed to stress (Fergusson et al, 2000; Meijers et al, 2015).

Although most probation suicide research reports on prevalence of suicide, there are some clinical risk factors identified from community samples, such as; drug misuse and former psychiatric inpatient admission (Sirdifield et al, 2019). This is pertinent, as research repeatedly reports that many individuals with offending histories have poor mental and are at increased likelihood to use illicit drugs (Brooker et al, 2012; Sirdfield et al, 2019). Extensive research has highlighted links between acute and chronic substance misuse and completed suicide (data included unnatural death with undetermined intent) in recently released prisoners (Haglund et al, 2014), and an association with suicidal ideation and attempts in a community corrections sample (Gunter et al, 2011) and suicide attempts in a custodial sample (Sarchiapone et al, 2009). The influence of drug misuse is further underscored by the fact that 49% of self-inflicted deaths of offenders in the community are drug related (Office for National Statistics, 2023b). Acute alcohol and substance misuse has been associated with increased impulsivity, aggression, distress, and a reduction in coping and problem skills; all of which have been associated with enacting suicidal ideation (Favril et al, 2020a; Giancola, 2002; Ramstedt, 2001; Yu & Sung, 2015b). Furthermore, risk factors determined from custodial samples elicit variables such as; self-harm and requiring community mental health services upon release (Favril et al, 2020a; Favril & O'Connor, 2019; Fazel et al, 2011; Pratt et al, 2010).

Nonfatal suicidal attempts have demonstrated a strong association with subsequent suicide attempts and completed suicide (Turecki et al, 2019). Indeed, 40% of people who die by suicide have historically attempted suicide (Cavanagh et al, 2003). However, most individuals who experience suicidal ideation or non-suicidal suicidal behaviour do not complete suicide (Turecki et al, 2019). Therefore, it is pertinent to consider differences between individuals who demonstrate suicidal thoughts compared to behaviour, and ascertain what factors may promote suicidal ideation to transcend into an attempt.

Ideation to action framework

Research suggests that suicide risk factors can be predictive of ideation, but less prevalent when predicting those at greatest risk of enacting on these ideations (Favril & O'Connor, 2019; Favril et al, 2020b). The ideation-to-action framework is a key developing body of literature that denotes the progression of suicidal ideation, and the development from suicidal ideation to attempts, are separate phenomena with distinct predictors and explanations (Klonksy et al, 2016). The distinction is paramount; as approximately 71% of adults who experience suicidal ideation, do not exhibit suicidal behaviour (Nock et al, 2008). This research has generated a spawn of 'ideation-to action' theories that aim to address why suicidal ideation may develop, and how this may progress to a suicide attempt. Whilst it is not possible to discuss all theoretical approaches herein, three well founded suicide theories will be described (Mackenzie, 2015).

Interpersonal Theory of Suicide (Joiner, 2005)

Joiner's seminal Interpersonal Theory of Suicide (IPTS; 2006) indicates that thwarted belonginess and perceived burdensomeness can promote desire for suicide, however acquired capability can lead to a suicide attempt (Mackenzie, 2015; Van Orden et al, 2010). Perceived burdensomeness denotes an individual's own existence is so defective they are a burden to family and friends (Mackenzie, 2015; Van Orden et al, 2010). When one perceives they are a burden, they may also believe that it would be better for friends and family if they were dead. Sense of thwarted belonginess refers to feeling lonely with a lack of sense of belonging. Although some people may be habituated to pain, they may not possess the desire for suicide (Mackenzie, 2015). Hence, outlining that desire alone is insufficient to attempt suicide, and rather one must overcome fear inherent with attempting a lethal suicide attempt often referred to as a capability for suicide (Joiner, 2005). People who have offended are identified by Joiner (2005) as possessing higher capability for suicide due to repeated exposure to provocative or dangerous events that may normalise, and hence reduce, fear and pain they may normally experience in these scenarios (Mackenzie, 2015). For example, such experiences could increase an individual's pain tolerance, of which does not necessarily have to be physical. Joiner's (2005) theory stipulates increased pain tolerance is imperative for acquired capability for a suicide attempt, and this deciphers between individuals who die, or do not die by suicide (Joiner et al., 2006).

Overall, Joiner proposes an individual is most likely to carry out suicidal behaviour when all three components interact. See Figure 1. The IPTS model (Joiner, 2005) has been utilised with people who have offended (Cramer et al, 2012; Ireland & York, 2012), and the pain tolerance component has been praised for providing possible explanations for increased rates of suicide amongst men comparative to women, and for particular 'at risk' populations (Joiner, 2006; Mackenzie, 2015).

<u>Figure 1:</u> Interpersonal Theory of Suicide (Joiner, 2005, as cited in Mackenzie, 2015, page 15)



The Integrated Motivational-Volitional Model of Suicide (IMV; O'Connor et al, 2011) The IMV (O'Connor et al, 2011) follows a similar process to the IPTS (Joiner, 2005) in that it endeavours to decipher between individuals who experience suicidal ideation from individuals engage in suicidal behaviour, or complete suicide. The motivational phase considers how suicidal ideation manifests. Specifically, the model proposes life stressors can result in feelings of humiliation and defeat, and when this interacts with specific moderators, such as difficulties coping or problem solving, can promote feelings of entrapment (Klonsky et al, 2018; O'Connor et al, 2018). As such, in the context of other moderators, such as; sense of burdensomeness, lack of belonging and pessimistic thoughts regarding the future, entrapment can present as a resolution to life stressors, hence exacerbating suicidal intent (Klonsky et al, 2018). Secondly, the volitional phase identifies motivators such as impulsivity, access to lethal means and increased capability, of which can transcend suicidal ideation into an attempt (Klonsky et al, 2018; O'Connor et al, 2018). Despite IMV's (O'Connor et al, 2011) similarities to IPTS (Joiner, 2005), it differentiates in that defeat and entrapment are identified as pathways to suicidal ideation as opposed to sense of burden and lack of belonging. Secondly, the volitional, or enacting stage, stretches beyond capability and incorporates additional motivators such as impulsivity and access to lethal means (Klonsky et al, 2018; Mackenzie, 2015).

<u>Figure 2:</u> The Integrated Motivational-Volitional Model of Suicidal Behaviour (O'Connor, 2011 page 184).



Three Step Theory (3ST; Klonsky et al, 2015)

The 3ST is the latest published ideation to action theory of suicide (Klonsky et al, 2015; Klonsky et al, 2018). Step 1 indicates the presence of psychological pain and hopelessness can precipitate suicidal ideation. The 3ST postulates when life is painful and aversive, an individual can gain a desire to avoid life, particularly if there is lack of hope the pain can be reduced and hence a sense of a more optimistic future (Klonsky et al, 2018). Step 2 indicates that ideation escalates when pain surpasses a sense of connectedness to others and purpose. In this instance, it is proposed suicidal ideation can transgress from passive (i.e. fleeting thoughts) to active (i.e. planning). Step 3 proposes that ideation transgresses to attempt when one has capacity. This includes higher pain threshold, lower fear of death and accessibility of

lethal means (Klonsky et al, 2015). This shares vital components with IPTS (Joiner, 2005) and IMV (O'Connor et al, 2011) models due to its emphasis on the function of connection with others precipitating suicidal ideation and acquired capability in the development from ideation to action (Klonsky et al, 2018).

Overall, each theory indicate suicide cannot be predicted by one factor alone. Alternatively, multiple risk factors appear to interact to form part of a suicidal process (Mackenzie, 2015), with each theory considering the complex nature of suicide and factors that could increase likelihood of a suicide. However, despite their utility these theories have not been developed specifically for forensic populations, nor do they identify risk factors that can be feasibly and routinely assessed and collated on a wide scale such as a probation setting. In light of lack of suicide research for the probation population, gaining greater insight into potential risk predictors for suicide amongst this population could encourage a more preventive approach (Mackenzie, 2015). Furthermore, it is crucial to distinguish factors that pose an individual at risk of attempting suicide, from those who experience solely ideation. This would be clinically relevant to improve risk assessment and tailor preventative intervention within the probation population (Favril et al, 2020b).

Rationale for thesis

There are two key rationales for dedicating this thesis to suicide risk in probation. Firstly, people on probation are a neglected population amongst the field of suicide research, despite their increased risk. Secondly, the thesis aims to help gain an understanding of risk factors that can influence suicide risk, of which can translate directly into practice. It is intended the results will improve clinicians' and probation practitioners' skills and confidence in identifying and managing suicide risk. Furthermore, it is pertinent to recognise gaps in the research field to inform further research, as outlined in the recommendations of the thesis. However, ultimately, the thesis hopes to contribute to understanding of suicide and support people on probation receiving the attention and support they require.

Thesis overview

The thesis is composed of six chapters that widely examine themes associated with suicide risk in probation. Each chapter demonstrates how knowledge of risk can strengthen our limited knowledge of suicide in probation, including how practitioners could assess risk in the probation setting and consideration regarding preventative intervention.

The thesis encompasses an introduction (Chapter One) and a concluding overall discussion (Chapter Six) that considers findings across each chapter. The four key chapters comprise of Chapter Two; a systematic review exploring up-to-date suicide risk factors amongst the probation population by systematically analysing 10 studies that met the review's inclusion criteria. To our knowledge, the review is the first of its kind to identify commonalities in individuals who may be at increased risk of suicide and demonstrates scarcity of research in the field.

Chapter Three is an empirical research project exploring risk factors for suicidal ideation and attempt distinctly. The study aimed to expand on prior research in the field, and identify differences between those individuals who experience suicidal ideation and a suicide attempt. To our knowledge, the study is the first of its kind to identify risk factors associated with the ideation-action framework in a probation population. The study also provides a tool that can identify vulnerabilities to suicidality and indicate individuals who may require a suicide assessment. Chapter Four concerns a case study of a male on probation who has a history of a suicide attempt and the presence of suicidal ideation. The case study outlines assessment, formulation and intervention of the case to identify whether Cognitive Behavioural Therapy CBT; Beck & Beck, 2020) and Dialectical Behavioural Theory (DBT; Linehan, 2014) approach were effective in reducing the presence of ideation and overall suicide risk, and whether the tool developed from Chapter Three identified proposed vulnerabilities for suicidality.

Finally, Chapter Five is a critical appraisal of the Depression, Hopelessness and Suicide Screening Tool (Mills, 2004); a measure utilised in the assessment process discussed in Chapter Three. The tool has been widely utilised in forensic settings; however, a review does not exist that critiques its validity and reliability properties when utilised in forensic settings. The chapter aims to fulfil this knowledge gap through critiquing the DHS and considers practical implications, limitations and proposed further research for the field. **Chapter Two:** Risk factors for suicide amongst the probation population: A Systematic Review

Abstract

Objectives: The review aims to produce an updated synthesis regarding the magnitude and range of risk factors associated with suicidal ideation, suicide attempt and death by suicide for people supervised by probation.

Methods: Seven bibliographic databases were systematically searched to identify existing evidence regarding risk factors for suicide amongst the probation population. Initial searches denoted 4,120 hits that were reduced to 10 full references following screening and quality assessment stages.

Results: The review highlighted numerous potentially modifiable risk factors that can be addressed in suicide prevention interventions. Risk factors are separated into sociodemographic, clinical, criminological and temporal variables. Sociodemographic variables consisted of female gender, age >30, lack of education qualification or status and residential instability. Clinical variables consisted of; depressive symptoms or disorder, anxiety symptoms or disorder, any other psychiatric disorder, psychiatric treatment, illicit substance misuse, psychological distress and previous victimisation. Violence perpetration was the only criminological variable to receive two hits or more, and recent release from custody was identified as a temporal risk factor. Conclusions: Clinical risk factors appear critical in determining risk of suicide probation populations. However, alone they are insufficient to predict suicidal outcomes and additional risk factors that could mediate suicide risk should also be considered. In light of the wide pool of risk factors, it may be beneficial to identify key risk factors that could transcend suicidal ideation into an attempt. However, probation do not have surplus resources to manage these problems. Therefore, responsibility must be shared between probation, custodial and community services to provide integrated, quality resettlement support and care for those on probation.

Background

The Government suicide prevention strategy (Department for Health and Social Care, 2012; 2023) has identified individuals in the Criminal Justice System (CJS) as a priority for several years, and The National Probation Service Health and Social Care Strategy outlines its aim to improve understanding and awareness of suicide risk and prevention (National Probation Service, 2019). However, there is scant evidence regarding risk factors for suicidal ideation, suicide attempt or completed suicide when serving a probation order (Sirdfield et al, 2019). The British Psychological Society (2017) suggests suicide can be prevented by implementation of strategies that include early identification of risk factors to identify vulnerable individuals. This is demonstrated in an array of criminal justice settings, whereby risk management and assessment target modifiable risk factors (Department of Health, 2012; Gould et al, 2018; Lohner & Konrad, 2007; Mann et al, 2005). However, there is a need for evaluation and research to provide evidence for this ambition and support suicide prevention amongst the probation population; an arguably socially excluded, deprived, and vulnerable group (Sirdifield et al, 2019).

The review aims to produce an up-to-date synthesis of the magnitude and range of risk factors associated with suicidal ideation, suicide attempt and completed suicide for individuals supervised under probation. The review is the first of its kind and can clarify relevant risk factors where there may be uncertainty. It is intended that suicide risk assessment could consider factors outlined within the review and combine multiple risk factors with suitable weighting whilst being informed by clinical judgement. The review aims to improve ability to identify and reduce of suicide risk in the probation population, and it is hoped results can assist training of probation practitioners regarding knowledge of dynamic risk factors that impact risk of harm to self. Furthermore, results can assist preventive interventions that can target modifiable risk factors and increase probation practitioners' confidence and ability to safeguard (Mackenzie et al, 2017).

Appraisal of previous reviews

Preliminary searches identified three published systematic reviews of relevance (Jones & Maynard 2013; Skinner & Farringdon 2020; Sirdfield et al 2019). Skinner & Farringdon (2020) explored whether individuals who have offended and are supervised in the community were more likely to die by suicide compared with the general population. Although they found community offenders are significantly more likely to complete suicide comparative to the general population, the review could not compare risk factors between groups. Therefore, the review could not answer why community offenders are more likely to die by suicide (Skinner, 2021). Jones & Maynard (2013) undertook a systematic review to investigate suicide risk in recently released prisoners. However, the review only considered community residing people post-custodial release, and not all studies included samples who were supervised. This is particularly pertinent, as Skinner & Farringdon (2020) reported that although ex-prisoners were four times more likely to die by suicide comparative to the general population, individuals who had not been incarcerated and were supervised in the community were eight times more at risk. In addition, the review was conducted ten years ago. Since this time, multiple studies have been completed and probation populations have increased in size. Therefore, it is likely individuals from different backgrounds are now being supervised in the community (Zhong et al, 2021).

One systematic review was identified in a grey literature search that explored suicide risk and probation (Sirdfield et al, 2019). However, the primary aim of the review was as follows: "to identify what the literature tells us about the most effective approaches to improving health outcomes for adults on probation" (Sirdfield et al, 2019, p.2). Therefore, the review focused on effective studies, and only one paper met their criteria. Although the 'background' literature provided a brief overview of possible predictors of suicide, key papers have been missed regarding possible predictors due to their strict search criteria. Furthermore, the review only searched papers only to 2017, and some of the included papers utilised samples that were not supervised by probation. Therefore, there is a need for a structured, directed and comprehensive systematic review with the primary aim to identify risk factors associated with suicide in probation.

Aims and Objectives

The systematic review aims to synthesise existing evidence regarding risk factors for suicidal ideation, suicide attempt and completed suicide in individuals on probation. The Chapter provides the first systematic review regarding risk factors for suicide for individuals on probation and encompasses studies published over the past 20 years.

Method

A systematic widespread search regarding electronic bibliographic databases and gateways was facilitated to identify research studies appropriate for the current review. The search was conducted on 8th July 2022 – 4th August 2022 and the search was limited to references published from 1980 onwards as a result of limited resources in the searching stage. The following electronic bibliographic databases, electronic gateways and grey literature were utilised:

Electronic bibliographic databases

- MEDLINE (24th July 2022)
- PsychINFO (24th July 2022)
- Embase (24th July 2022)
- IBSS (29th July 2022)
- ASSIA (29th July 2022)
- Web of Science (1st August 2022)
- Scopus (1st August 2022)

Other electronic gateways

• The Campbell Collaboration was searched for existing reviews (8th July 2022)
- The Cochrane Library was searched for existing reviews on (8th July 2022)
- Reference lists of all identified studies were hand searched and examined based on the review's inclusion/exclusion criteria.

Grey literature

The Probation Journal and reference list of included papers were hand searched. Grey literature such as; reports, government documents, theses and conference abstracts were also utilised to reduce likelihood of repetition pre-publication using the following databases:

- Proquest global theses (3rd August 2022)
- Google Scholar (3rd August 2022)
- Open Grey (7th August 2022)
- National Offender Management Service (7th August 2022)
- The King's Fund (8th August 2022)

Search strategy

The study protocol outlined the predetermined search strategy composed during scoping exercises completed in March 2022. The search strategy was consistently followed and search syntax is outlined in Box 2. The syntax was applied to aforementioned electronic bibliographic databases and electronic gateways; however, adaptations of search strings was required in instances whereby simplistic search functions were required. All references identified were saved and processed in Endnote. Grey literature search results were reviewed as found, with studies that met the review's criteria being identified by hand.

(probation*) OR (communit*) OR (offend*) OR (parole*) OR (licence) OR (community rehabilitation compan*) OR (national probation service*) OR (community order*) OR (mental health treatment requirement*) OR (sentence*) OR (order*) OR (rehabilitat*) -AND-(characteristic*) OR (risk factor*) OR (protective*) OR (demographic*) OR (predictor*) -AND-(suicid*) OR (self-inflicted death) OR (suicide attempt*) OR (lethal attempt*) OR (fatal attempt*) OR (ideatio*) OR (completed suicide*)

Study selection

All identified studies were reviewed against the review's inclusion and exclusion criteria, using a form developed at the time of the protocol (Appendix A). Studies were excluded if a separate analysis for probation sample was not conducted, or if the outcome was not related to suicide. Studies whereby the suicidal ideation, attempt or completed suicide did not occur whilst explicitly under community supervision were excluded. Specifically, as the review is concerned on assisting the management of individuals who are supervised in the community.

Initially, the titles and abstracts of retrieved studies were screened for topic relevance. Duplicate and irrelevant studies were excluded. The full text of remaining included studies were acquired, and their eligibility examined thoroughly against the PECO criteria (Appendix A), of which is surmised below. Studies that utilised duplicate data were excluded to avoid double-counting.

Inclusion/exclusion criteria

The PECO (Population, Exposure, Comparator, Outcome) framework was utilised to ascertain eligibility criteria, of which is outlined below

Inclusion criteria

<u>Population</u> : The sample includes adults supervised on probation or community order (Over 18 years old)

Exposure: Characteristics regarded as risk/protective factors present

Included studies report on a broad range of exposures including but not limited to the following:

a) Demographic factors: gender, ethnicity, relationship status, employment, accommodation.

b) Criminological factors: sentence length, offence type, previous offending history, length of imprisonment, length of order, order type .

c) Clinical factors: history of attempted suicide, recent suicidal ideation, being on psychotropic medication, psychiatric diagnosis, substance or alcohol misuse, contacts with healthcare providers.

<u>Comparator</u>: Any separate group as outlined within the inclusion population where possible, or no specified comparator and therefore characteristics regarded as present or absent.

<u>Outcome</u>: Suicidal ideation, suicide attempt and completed suicide using psychometric, self-report and recording systems

Study Design: Any comparative quantitative study design

Context: Criminal Justice supervision in a community setting

Exclusion criteria

- Qualitative and case studies
- Duplicates, books and Non-English language articles
- Unpublished studies, book chapters, commentaries, editorials, narrative, or alternative opinion papers.

Quality assessment

Following exclusion of publications that did not meet the review criteria, the potentially included studies were quality assessed using a pre-piloted checklist. Quality assessment checklists were developed specifically for each study type. The checklists for cohort studies, case control and cross-sectional studies can be found in Appendix B, of which were derived from the Critical Appraisal Skills Programme (CASP UK, 2018) toolkits. Checklists considered potential bias within included research, such as; sampling, selection, attrition and measurement biases. A scoring system accompanied the quality assessment criteria to certify greater quality studies obtained greater scoring. Each principle was scored as follows:

- U = Unknown
- 1 point for every high quality 'Yes' response
- 0.5 points for every 'Partial'
- 0 points for every inadequate/low quality 'No' response

Unknown (U) answers required further investigation when studies were possibly of adequately high quality to progress within the review. Further investigation was completed predominantly through contacting authors of studies via email. If a response was not received, scores were not adjusted. All scores for each criterion were summed to curate an overall score for study quality. The maximum possible score cohort studies was 14, 12 for case-control and 20 for cross-sectional studies. Furthermore, the number of 'unknown' items were summed to further determine clarity of reporting; whereby a high prevalence of 'unknown' criterion was indicative of low-quality reporting. The total sum of 'unknown' items was deducted from the quality score to establish an overall quality assessment score as follows: • Quality Score – № of Unknown = Total Quality Score.

Quality assessment was conducted predominantly by the primary author, however another reviewer assessed 50% of included papers to assess and promote consistency in the assessment of quality. Variation within the quality ratings were agreed mutually through further discussion. An intra-class correlation (ICC) was utilised to determine inter-rater reliability regarding the degree of consistency across quality ratings. The ICC was 0.9, of excellent range, and therefore demonstrates minimal measurement error and high agreement between reviewer quality ratings (Hallgren, 2012). A cut-off point was agreed by both reviewers to determine whether studies would progress to data extraction. As the range of quality scores was 65-90% the cut-off point identified was 75%.

Overview of the quality assessment criteria (Summary of Appendix B)

Cohort studies

The cohort study checklist (CASP UK, 2018) assessed whether the study addressed a clearly defined issue, of which included people on probation as the sample and risk factors for suicidal outcomes as variables of interest. The tool assessed whether recruitment minimised selection bias, and whether exposure and outcomes were accurately measured to minimise measurement bias; using validated and consistent methods. In addition, the checklist considered whether confounding variables were identified and adjusted for, and assessed whether there was a follow-up period. Furthermore, it evaluated the results by examining the strength and precision of the association between exposure and outcomes. Finally, the checklist assessed the applicability of the findings to local populations, their consistency with other available evidence, and implications for practice.

Case control studies

The case control study checklist (CASP UK, 2018) assessed whether the research question was clearly focused and whether the case-control design was appropriate. It examined whether cases and controls were recruited in an acceptable manner to avoid selection bias, ensuring they represent a defined population. The checklist also considered if exposure was accurately measured to minimise bias and whether the groups were treated equally. It considered whether confounding factors were accounted for, with attention to how large and precise the treatment effect was, including consideration of p-values and confidence intervals. Finally, the checklist assessed whether the study results are reliable, based on their design and possible sources of bias. Section B focused on the applicability of the results to the local population and how they fit with existing evidence.

Cross-sectional studies

The cross-sectional study checklist (CASP UK, 2018) evaluated the clarity of the study's aims and the appropriateness of its design, ensuring that the sample size and population are well-defined and representative. The tool assessed whether the selection processes avoided bias, how non-responders were handled, and whether risk factors and outcomes were measured accurately. The checklist also considered clarity of statistical significance, the reproducibility of methods, and the potential for bias from non-response. Additionally, it examined whether the results were consistent, conclusions were justified, and if limitations, funding sources, conflicts of interest and ethnical approvals were addressed.

Data extraction

Data and relevant information were extracted from the studies that passed the quality assessment, and hence rendered them as included in the study, utilising a data extraction form that was composed prior to commencing the review (Appendix C, of which is surmised below). If information was unclear or sparse and a response was not received by the author, an answer was recorded as 'unknown'. The quality assessment score was documented on the data extraction form, alongside the

frequency of unknown or unclear questions for each study. Data extraction was conducted solely by the primary author, and the predetermined form promoted a consistent approach. The following study information was noted: inclusion/exclusion criteria, target population demographics, control group characteristics where possible, study methodology including analysis and results relevant to the review.

Summary of data extraction form (Appendix C).

The data extraction form collected essential information about research studies for quality assessment and analysis. It includes general information such as the study number, date of extraction, title, authors, publication details, country of origin, and quality assessment score along with the count of unclear responses. The form also verified study eligibility based on the PECO criteria, confirming whether the population, exposure, comparator, and outcome criteria are met. Study characteristics were detailed, covering; aims, design, inclusion and exclusion criteria, recruitment procedures, and study setting. Population data included target population specifics, source and age group, as well as total sample size. Additionally, where appropriate, it outlined information about the comparator or control group, including whether it was matched, the number of controls, and any relevant details. The methods section captured outcome and exposure measurement approaches, along with data analysis techniques. Finally, the outcomes section identifies and defines risk factors studied, measurement methods, validation of outcome tools, statistical methods used, and considerations for adjusting systematic and random errors in the analysis.

Results

Description of studies

The entire search process generated 4120 hits, and were mostly acquired through the following electronic bibliographic databases: Medline (474), Psychinfo (603), Embase (642), Web of Science (381) and Scopus (1608). Additional studies were obtained from Proquest global theses (320), IBSS (47) and ASSIA (12). Existing systematic reviews and included studies reference lists were hand searched to yield 33 additional research papers, however nearly 30% of overall hits were duplicates. It's hypothesised the low number of hits reflects the scarcity of literature within the study field, and further demonstrates the need for further focus and attention within this research area. Figure 3 outlines the study selection process.



Characteristics of included studies

Table 1 summarises characteristics of the 10 included studies in this review. All studies explicitly included adults receiving criminal justice supervision in a community setting such as probation, or an international equivalent. Eight studies concerned the probation setting (Brooker et al, 2021; Candarelli et al, 2014; Cook & Borrill, 2013; Haglund et al, 2014 Phillips et al, 2018; Pratt et al, 2006; Yu & Sung, 2015a;2015b) and two concerned community corrections (Gunter et al, 2011; McCullumsmith et al, 2013). The purpose of incorporating community corrections is they likely hold similar characteristics to those supervised by probation and can add value to the review.

Four studies were reported in the United Kingdom (Brooker et al, 2021; Cook & Borrill, 2013; Phillips et al, 2018; Pratt et al, 2006;), five in the United States (Yu & Sung, 2015a; 2015b; Candarelli et al, 2014; Gunter et al, 2011; McCullumsmith et al, 2013;) and one in Sweden (Haglund et al, 2014).

Three studies utilised completed suicide as a study outcome (Haglund et al, 2014; Phillips et al, 2018; Pratt et al, 2006). However, it is of note that Haglund et al (2014) included suicide and unnatural death with undetermined intent in their definition of suicide, Phillips et al (2018) included self-inflicted deaths in their definition of suicide, and Pratt et al (2006) included individuals who received an open verdict at the coroner's inquest. Although Pratt et al (2006) excluded accidental deaths, findings from these papers should be interpreted with caution, particularly as we know that accidental drug deaths comprise 49% of self-inflicted deaths (Office for National Statistics, 2023b). Therefore, findings may not directly correlate to suicide. Three concerned the presence of suicidal ideation or attempt (Brooker et al, 2021; McCullumsmith et al, 2013; Gunter et al, 2011), one used staff judgements of those 'at risk of suicide' by probation (Cook & Borril et al, 2013) and three concerned suicidal ideation alone (Yu & Sung, 2015a; 2015b; Candarelli et al, 2014). As the pathway to suicidal ideation and action have been identified as separate pathways (Brooker et al, 2021), ideation outcome studies will be considered separately.

Sample sizes varied across the 10 studies, with larger studies often sampling entire cohorts, whereas smaller studies focussed on specific localities or collection of individuals observed over shorter time periods. The total number of participants in the systematic review was 427,561. Only 18,613 (4.4%) of these participants exhibited the outcome of interest, however two papers (Yu & Sung, 2015a; 2015b) did not specify the proportion of the sample that demonstrated suicidal ideation. The average sample size was 42,756 per study with a large range of 274 to 244,988 participants.

Five studies utilised the absence of suicidal ideation or attempt as control groups (Brooker et al, 2021; Candarelli et al, 2014; Gunter et al, 2011, McCullumsmith et al, 2013), two used the general population (Haglund et al, 2014; Pratt et al, 2006;), one used prison and general population (Phillips et al, 2018), one used non-parolees (Yu & Sung, 2015b) and one used staff judgements of individuals not 'at risk' of suicide (Cook & Borril, 2013). One study did not specify a control group, however concerned gender differences amongst parolees (Yu & Sung, 2015a). It is of note only five studies conducted gender differences analyses (Haglund et al, 2014; McCullumsmith et al, 2013; Phillips et al, 2018; Pratt et al, 2006).

Due to the level of heterogeneity across studies, statistical combination of data has not been attempted. Specifically including variation in measurements and analytic methods used, and in the predictor and outcome variables explored, as outlined in Table 1. Furthermore, meta-analyses can produce spurious results due to distortion of data across different research designs, of which can originate from uncontrolled confounds and selection biases (Egger et al, 1998). Instead, an overview of study characteristics, key findings and associated quality scores are presented in Table 1, followed by a comprehensive descriptive data synthesis.

Table 1: Summary	of included studies
------------------	---------------------

Author, year and setting	Aims of study	Study design	Outcome measure and study variables	Measures of suicidal outcome	Control group	Participan ts	Quality score	Main relevant findings
Pratt et al (2006) Probation,	To investigate suicide rates in recently released prisoners in	Retrospe ctive populati on-based	Completed suicide (of which included open verdict at coroner's inquest) Time after release	Verdict of suicide at coroner's inquest	General populati on	N = 244,988 (382 observed suicides)	12.5	21% of suicides occurred in first 28 days post release 51% occurred within first 4 months Highest rates of male suicide in those aged 40, 49 years and 50
England and Wales	prisoners in England and Wales supervised under probation	conort study	Age Sex					those aged 40-49 years and 50 years or older Rate ratio of about 4 for men < 25 years increasing to beyond 15 in men aged 50>. Men 8 times and women 36 times more likely to complete suicide in first year of release from custody than would be anticipated in general population respective sex groups
Phillips et al (2018)	To gain a better understanding of the rate of	Retrospe ctive cohort	Completed suicide (of which included self-inflicted	HMPPS data completed	Prison and general	N = 1619 observed suicides	12	Suicide rate for men on probation 6 times higher than general population, and 29.2 times higher
Probation, England and Wales	suicide amongst people under the supervision	study	<i>deaths)</i> Gender, age, ethnicity Sentence type	by probation providers when	populati on			for women respectively. The rate ratio (28) between men aged 30-49 was the highest and age 30-39 for women.

	of probation providers		Time after sentence, day of the week	someone dies in accordance with Probation Instruction				Women on post release sentence identified as high risk White ethnicity at increased risk, irrespective of gender Risk of suicide high in first few weeks of release
Yu & Sung (2015b)	Examined the prevalence and correlates of	Cohort	<i>Suicidal ideation</i> The National Survey on Drug Use	A question in the NSDUH: "At	Non- parolees	N =114,033 (1,249 parolees)	10.5	High school graduate was associated with increased suicidal ideation among parolees (OR =
Probation, USA	suicidal ideation among parolees and among persons not on parole		and Health (NSDUH) provides up-to-date information on demographic, social, alcohol, and drug use, mental health and other health-related issues	any time in the past 12 months including today, did you seriously think about trying to kill yourself?				1.62) Serious psychological distress, major depressive episode, illicit substance use, and inpatient stay were related to increased suicidal ideation. For parolees, these variables increased the odds of suicidal ideation by a factor of 2 to 5.
Yu & Sung (2015a)	To examine gender differences in	Cohort	<i>Suicidal ideation</i> The National Survey on Drug Use	A question in the NSDUH: "At	Not specified – men vs	N = 4320	11	Being black and female doubled the odds of having SI (OR = 2.014, 95% CI = 1.247 – 3.254).
Probation, USA	suicidal ideation of probationers		and Health (NSDUH) provides up-to-date information on demographic, social, alcohol, and	any time in the past 12 months including today, did you	women			Illicit drug use was associated with increased SI for male probationers (OR = 1.668, 95% CI = 1.236 – 2.252). For both genders, having serious psychological distress increased

drug use, mental
health and other
health-related
issues

seriously think about trying to kill yourself?

the odds of SI: for men (OR = 5.22, 95% CI = 3.759 - 7.257) and women (OR=4.969, 95% CI = 3.130 - 7.888). Experiencing a major depressive episode (for males, OR = 5.125, 05% CI = 3.578 - 7.341; for females, OR = 3.080, 95% CI = 2.031 – 4.672) and receiving inpatient mental health treatment (for males, OR = 2.605, 95% CI = 1.470-4.616; for females, OR = 3.801, 95% CI = 1.951–7.407) were predictors of SI for both groups. Residential instability, operationalised by moving more than once within the previous 12 months, increased the odds of SI for female probationers only (OR=1.896, 95% CI = 1.290-2.787). Perpetration of violence them was related to increased SI for female probationers only (OR=1.691, 95% CI = 1.009 - 7.407) Marginally higher proportion of females identified as at risk of suicide.

Cook & Borrill (2013)

To identify risk Crossfactors that

predicted staff

about previous

judgements

sectional The OASYS includes

demographic data and areas related

risk of

OASYS

Risk of suicide

Individua N = 38,910 OM view of Is 'Not at suicide on risk'

Probation, England or current suicide risk in offenders under probation supervision in a metropolitan probation trust. to offending behaviour such as relationships, substance misuse, thinking and behaviour, emotional wellbeing, and attitudes. The emotional wellbeing section includes questions about coping, psychological problems and depression, concerns about self-harm, previous suicide attempts and suicidal thoughts, social isolation, selfimage, and psychiatric problems.

The youngest age group (18– 25 years) had the lowest rates of at-risk judgements (8%, n = 874). Small statistically significant differences were observed between different ethnic groups (χ 2 (6, N = 38,910) = 478.31, p < .0001, φ = .11). White British ethnic group received highest rates of assessed suicide risk (16%, n = 2,879)

Offending-related factors

Small, however statistically significant differences were reported regarding all offending variables; offence type, risk of serious harm to others, risk of general reoffending predictor, risk of violent reoffending predictor, and MAPPA status. Regarding offence type, incidence of risk of suicide ratings were highest in sexual offenders (20%, n = 254) and violent offenders (14%, n = 1,240).

<u>Historical, clinical and current</u> <u>behavioural or situational risk factors</u>

All factors demonstrated statistically significant differences at the p < .0001 level. Of these factors seven risk Candarelli (2014)

Probation, USA

prevalence of mental health disorders in a communitydwelling probationer population and its association with suicide risk.

To assess the

Cross-

sectional

Suicidal ideation Demographic measures Adult ADHD selfreport scale, GAIN short screener for MH: Substance use disorders, depression, anxiety, mood disorder and bipolar. GAIN-SS A question d 'are you G thinking about ending your life or completing suicide?'

Answere N = 2077 d no to GAIN-SS

16

factors showed effect sizes (ϕ) of \geq .30 : previous history of self harm/attempt/ideation, low coping skills, psychiatric treatment/medication, poor attitude to self, childhood abuse, current psychological problems/depression, and problematic history of close relationship problems.

No differences in demographic variables. However greater proportions of women (21.8%, p < .001), positive screeners for substance abuse disorders (21.8%, p<.001), ADHD (51.2%, p <.001), anxiety disorder (42.4 %, p <.001), bipolar disorder (23.5%, p<.001), and depression (40.5%, p<.001) amongst individuals with high suicide risk.

Following adjustment for possible confounding effects, females were approximately 2 times more likely to screen positive for suicide risk. Participants who screened positive for substance abuse disorders were over two times more likely to screen positive for suicide risk.

								rick
Brooker et al (2019) Probation, London England	To examine variables that might be associated with suicidality in probationers assessed as needing, and accepting, psychological intervention	Retrospe ctive cohort	Current and/or past suicidal ideation or action Demographics: age, gender, ethnicity, post code Crime: order and offence type Psychometric measures: K6, GAD, PH-9, WSAS.	Suicidal ideation: One or more record of ideation in opinion of the clinician Suicide attempt: A recorded example of an attempt in which medical attention as	No history of ideation or attempt	N = 274	10.5	TISK. There was no statistical difference between the groups in gender, age, ethnicity, order type or local area deprivation score. There was no statistical difference between the attempt or ideation group. However, attempt and the ideation group were significantly more likely to have a higher score than the no history of suicide group regarding; psychological distress, generalised anxiety, depression, personality disorder and previous engagement with psychological services.
Haglund et al (2014)	To investigate rates and risk factors for suicide in people	Prospecti ve cohort	Completed suicide, of which included unnatural death and undetermined intent	Suicide obtained from the Cause of Death	Non- convicte d populati on	N= 26,953 releases	12	Most suicides were observed during the first year after release, with risk falling each year of study period. Incidence rate for suicide highest during first 28 days.

53

Participants who screened positive for ADHD, anxiety disorder, bipolar disorder, and depression were approximately 2–8 times more likely to screen positive for suicide

Probation, Sweden	previously imprisoned		Country of birth Previous prison sentences, offence type Psychiatric disorders; psychotic disorder, affective disorder, personality disorder, substance use disorder, any psychiatric disorder. Psychiatric hospitalisations Previous suicide attempt Time after release	Register, eld by the National Board of Health and Welfare.	controls matched on gender and year of birth	127 suicides (n=920, 14%)		Increased risk in released prisons with any previous psychiatric history (HR=3.5, 95% CI 2.3 – 5.3). However, when substance use disorder was excluded from this category, the increase disappeared (HR=1.1,5-2.1). Other factors related to increased suicide risk were previous suicide attempt (HR=3.6, 2.5-5.1), being released twice during the study period (HR=1.6, 1.0=2.4) and being born in Sweden compared with abroad (HR=2.7, 1.6 – 4.6). Specific diagnostic categories associated with increased suicide risk were psychotic disorder (HR 2.4, 1.5-3.8) and substance use disorder (HR=3.1, 2.1-4.6). No significant increase of risk by gender, age band, or in those with a history of violent crime
McCullum smith et al (2013)	To identify factors correlated with historical suicide attempts and	Cross- sectional	Suicide attempt or suicidal ideation Age, sex, race, marital status, education,	Responses to having 'seriously thought of suicide' and	No history of ideation	N = 18,753 Control (n=856; 37%)	18	Participants with historical suicide attempts were more likely to be younger, white, female, taking psychotropic medication, have a history of physical or sexual abuse,

Communit y correction s, USA	ideation among African- American men, African- American women, White men, and White women in a community corrections population.		accommodation, employment, insurance, psychiatric medication, physical or sexual abuse, alcohol and drug dependence	to having 'attempted suicide' in interview	or attempt	Ideation (n=2,314; 12.3%) Attempt (n=1,458; 7.7%)	
Gunter et al (2011) Communit Y correction s, USA	To identify factors that separate the ideator and actor groups from the control group among community- supervised offenders	Cohort	Suicide attempt or suicidal ideation Gender, race, age, marital status, education, employment, childhood traumatic life experience, lifetime brain injury, anxiety disorder, depression symptom sum, depressive	The semi- structured Assessment for the Genetics of Alcoholism Revised (SSAGA-II) that includes questions regarding suicidal ideation	No history of ideation or attempt	N = 418 Control (n=235; 56%) Ideation (n=70; 17%) Attempt (n=125; 30%)	11.5

and be dependent on alcohol and substances.

Five variables were frequently associated with suicide attempts for all four race/gender groups: younger age, being on disability or retirement, taking psychotropic medication, history of sexual or physical abuse, and illicit substance dependence. Other demographic variables had race or gender specificities as risk factors for suicide attempts.

A model composed of five independent variables differentiated the ideation and action groups from the control group: Caucasian race, depressive symptom sum, brain injury, childhood trauma, and avoidant personality. These five factors, combined with the additional variables of PCL:SV Factor 2 (Psychopathy Checklist-Screening Version) score and lifetime anxiety disorder, differentiated the action group from the control group disorder, avoidant and suicide personality, attempts. borderline personality, ASPD DSM criteria, substance use disorder, drug dependence, PCL:SV Factor 1 and 2 Number of convictions and current conviction

Descriptive data synthesis

Sociodemographic, clinical, criminogenic and temporal variables associated with suicidal outcomes were identified across 10 papers. All papers explored sociodemographic variables (Brooker et al, 2014; Gunter et al, 2011; Haglund et al, 2014; McCullumsmith et al, 2013; Phillips et al, 2018; Pratt et al, 2006; Yu & Sung, 2015a; 2015b). All papers aside from two considered clinical variables (Phillips et al, 2018; Pratt et al, 2006), however these were the only studies to consider temporal variables. Finally, all but four studies explored criminogenic variables and their association to suicidal outcomes (Candarelli et al, 2014; McCullumsmith et al, 2013; Phillips et al, 2018). No two papers explored all of the same variables. Appendix D provides an overview of variables were explored within each paper and the proportion of hits identified for each variable. Only variables with 3 or more hits are discussed in detail herein, aside from criminogenic variables that comprise at least two hits due to sparsity of data. However, variables that received less than three hits are briefly surmised below. Please see Appendix E for a more in-depth descriptive data synthesis of variables with two hits.

Summary of descriptive data synthesis for variables with one hit

- Financial difficulties were explored in four papers (Cook & Borrill, 2013; Gunter et al, 2011; Yu & Sung 2015a), however were only identified as significantly associated with suicidal ideation in one paper (Cook & Borrill, 2013).
- Sentence type was used as a variable in four papers (Brooker et al, 2019; Cook & Borrill, 2013; Gunter et al, 2011; Phillips et al, 2018), however postsentence supervision was only identified as associated with completed suicide in one paper (Phillips et al, 2018)
- Sexual offending, risk of serious harm to others and MAPPA status were identified as significantly associated with staff's judgements of suicide risk, however were only utilised in one paper (Cook & Borrill, 2013).

- Being recalled and released or having multiple convictions were utilised in two papers (Gunter et al, 2011; Haglund et al, 2014), but only were identified as associated with completed suicide in one paper (Haglund et al, 2014).
- Finally, conviction as an adolescent was only utilised in one paper (Gunter et al, 2011), whereby findings indicated association with ideation and attempt.

Summary of descriptive data synthesis for variables with two hits (Appendix E).

Sociodemographic variables

Relationships

- Relationship status was associated with suicide risk in two out of five studies that utilised it as a variable (Cook & Borrill, 2013; McCullumsmith et al, 2015).
- Key findings included the importance of problematic past relationships and social isolation (Cook & Borrill, 2013), and a correlation between divorce and suicide attempts among women (McCullumsmith et al, 2015).
- Other studies did not find significant associations between relationship status and suicidal outcomes (Gunter et al, 2011; Yu & Sung 2015a; Yu & Sung 2015b).

Physical Health

- Physical health was associated with suicide risk in two out of six studies that utilised it as a variable (Gunter et al, 2011; Cook & Borrill, 2013).
- Gunter reported brain injury as a risk factor for ideation and attempt, while Cook & Borrill linked poor health to staff assessments of suicide risk.
- Other studies did (2013) not find significant associations between physical health and suicidal outcomes (Brooker et al, 2019; McCullumsmith et al, 2013; Yu & Sung 2015a; Yu & Sung 2015b).

Employment Status

 Employment status was explored in five studies, with a significant association found with suicidal outcomes in two (Cook & Borrill, 2013; McCullumsmith et al, 2013). However, a significant association was not demonstrated with outstanding studies (Gunter et al, 2011; Yu & Sung 2015a; Yu & Sung 2015b)

Clinical variables

Alcohol misuse

• Alcohol misuse was less frequently cited compared to illicit substance misuse, with only two out of five studies reporting significant associations with suicidal outcomes (Cook & Borrill, 2013; McCullumsmith et al, 2013).

Attitude to self and problem-solving ability

 Problems with attitude to self and problem-solving ability were significantly associated with suicidal outcomes in both studies that examined it (Brooker et al, 2019; Cook & Borrill, 2013).

Previous suicidal tendencies

- Previous suicidal tendencies were identified as significantly associated with suicide risk in the only two studies that utilised it as a variable (Cook & Borrill, 2013; Haglund et al, 2014).
- Cook & Borrill (2013) emphasized the predictive nature of prior self-harm experiences, while Haglund et al (2014) reported a nearly four-fold increase in completed suicide likelihood among those with previous attempts.

Sociodemographic variables

<u>Gender</u>

Gender was explored as a variable associated with suicidal outcomes across all papers. Across seven studies, women were identified to be at increased risk of completed suicide (Haglund et al, 2014; Phillips et al, 2018; Pratt et al, 2006), suicide attempt (McCullumsmith et al, 2013), suicidal ideation (Candarelli et al, 2014; Yu & Sung, 2015a) and increased staff's judgements of suicide risk (Cook & Borrill, 2013). The remaining three studies did not report gender differences regarding likelihood of suicidal ideation or attempt (Brooker et al, 2021; Gunter et al, 2011) or suicidal ideation (Yu & Sung, 2015b). It is proposed gender differences were not found in these studies due to smaller sample size comparative to other studies. However, Phillips et al (2018) reported men on probation were five times more likely to complete suicide than the general population, compared to the rate of 36 times for women.

Ethnicity

White race or ethnicity was identified as a risk factor associated with completed suicide (Phillips et al, 2018), suicidal ideation and attempt (Gunter et al, 2011; McCullumsmith et al, 2013) and staff's judgements regarding increased suicide risk (Cook & Borrill, 2013) across four papers. Conversely, Yu & Sung (2015a) reported black ethnicity or race doubled the risk of suicidal ideation amongst female probationers. Yu & Sung (2015a) and McCullumsmith et al (2013) were the only papers to explore gender differences regarding ethnicity and its association with suicidal ideation and attempts, however, McCullumsmith et al (2013) did not report significant differences. Three papers did not report ethnicity as associated with suicidal ideation (Yu & Sung, 2015b; Candarelli et al, 2014) or suicidal ideation and attempt (Brooker et al, 2021). This could be a result of analysis encompassing multiple categories of race or ethnicity, and hence a decreased sub-sample size reducing likelihood of meaningful analysis. The remaining two papers did not report an analysis of ethnicity as associated with completed suicide (Haglund et al, 2014; Pratt et al, 2006).

Age

Age was explored as a variable associated with suicidal outcomes across all papers. However, only four papers reported differences in age regarding likelihood of completed suicide (Phillips et al, 2018; Pratt et al, 2006), suicide attempt

(McCullumsmith et al, 2013) and staff's judgements regarding increased suicide risk (Cook & Borrill, 2013). Of these papers, three explored gender differences (McCullumsmith et al, 2013; Pratt et al, 2006; Phillips et al, 2018). For men, the highest rates were observed amongst individuals aged 30 years and above (Phillips et al, 2018; Pratt et al, 2006). Age-specific trends for could not be discerned due to sparse data (Pratt et al, 2006), however, Phillips et al (2018) reported a particularly high-rate ratio for women within the 30-39 age category. Cook & Borrill's (2013) reported individuals aged between 18-25 had the lowest rates of at-risk judgements (8%, n = 874) compared to older age categories. Although this difference only accounted for only .5% of variation in suicide judgements, the finding supports both Phillips et al (2018) and Pratt et al (2017) that risk of suicide in probation may increase with age.

Conversely, McCallumsmith et al (2013) reported 'younger age groups' were associated with suicide attempt, irrespective of race or gender. However, Pratt et al (2007) and Phillips et al (2018) outcome variable concerned completed suicide, whereas McCallumsmith et al (2013) outcome was history of suicide attempts. Furthermore, McCallumsmith et al (2013) reported suicidal ideation did not demonstrate significance with any specific age group, and this finding was reflected across all studies exploring suicidal ideation as an outcome (Brooker et al, 2021; Candarelli et al, 2014; Gunter at al, 2011; Yu & Sung 2015a; 2015b).

Education

Education qualifications or status were identified as a variable in six studies to explore its association with suicidal outcomes (Candarelli et al, 2014; Cook & Borrill, 2013; Gunter et al, 2011; McCullumsmith et al, 2013; Yu & Sung, 2015a; 2015b) and was found to be associated with suicide risk in half of these papers. Lack of formal qualifications was associated with suicidal ideation (Yu & Sung, 2015b), staff judgements of increased suicide risk (Cook & Borill, 2013), and suicide attempts amongst white women and men (McCallumsmith et al, 2013). In addition, formal qualifications were protective against suicidal ideation in the overall sample and white men (McCallumsmith et al, 2013). However, the remaining three papers did not report associations with education and suicidal ideation (Candarelli et al, 2014; Yu & Sung, 2015a) and suicidal ideation or attempts (Gunter et al, 2011). It is likely reported significant associations may reflect the use of binary outcomes for variables and obtaining larger sample and sub-sample sizes, unlike Candarelli et al (2014) and Gunter et al (2011).

Accommodation

Variables related to accommodation and co-habiting circumstances were significantly associated with suicidal outcomes in all papers that utilised it as a variable (Cook & Borill, 2013; Yu & Sung, 2015a; McCullumsmith et al, 2013). Residential instability demonstrated significant association with suicidal ideation amongst women (Yu & Sung, 2015a), and unsuitable accommodation or being homeless was significantly associated with staff judgements of increased suicide risk (Cook & Borill, 2013). McCullumsmith et al (2013) found that overall participants and white women who disclosed a suicide attempt had a higher likelihood of living in a shelter. Whereas, living alone was significantly associated with suicidal ideation amongst African-American men. The remaining eight papers did not utilise residential variables for association with completed suicide (Haglund et al, 2014; Phillips et al, 2019; Pratt et al, 2006), suicidal ideation or attempt (Brooker et al, 2021; Candarelli et al, 2014; Gunter et al, 2011; Yu & Sung, 2015a; 2015b).

Clinical variables

Depressive symptoms or disorder

Depressive symptoms were significantly associated with suicidal outcomes in all six papers that utilised it as a variable (Brooker et al, 2021; Candarelli et al, 2014; Cook and Borril et al, 2015; Gunter et al, 2011; Yu & Sung, 2015a; 2015b). However, depressive symptoms were operationalised differently across papers. Gunter et al (2011) reported depressive disorder was associated with suicidal ideation or suicide attempt, and the number of depressive criteria during their most severe episode

significantly differentiated the ideation and action group from the control group. Cook & Borrill (2013) found that current psychiatric problems including depression was associated with staff judgements regarding risk to self, with an effect size of ≥.3 and was included in the final logistic regression model that significantly predicted suicide risk judgements. Brooker et al (2019) and Candarelli et al (2014) found that individuals who screened for depression were more likely to have experienced suicidal ideation or attempt. Finally, Yu & Sung (2015a;2015b) reported that experiencing a major depressive episode increased the odds of suicidal ideation fivefold for men, and three-fold for women.

Anxiety symptoms or disorder

Anxiety symptoms were identified as a risk factor for suicidal ideation and suicide attempt in all three papers that utilised it as a variable (Brooker et al, 2021; Candarelli et al, 2013; Gunter et al, 2011). Candarelli et al (2013) reported anxiety disorder doubled the odds of suicidal ideation for individuals on probation when controlled for confounding variables. Brooker et al (2019) reported a significantly lower generalised anxiety score amongst individuals without history of suicidal thoughts or behaviour, compared to the ideation and attempt group. Finally, Gunter et al (2011) reported anxiety disorder was associated with suicidal ideation and attempt, of which differentiated group membership from the control group. Furthermore, anxiety disorder doubled the odds of suicide attempt, however was not significant in the multinomial model for suicidal ideation relative to no suicidal ideation/action (Gunter et al, 2011).

Any other psychiatric disorder

Psychiatric disorder was a significant risk factor in the four studies that utilised this as a variable (Brooker et al, 2021; Candarelli et al, 2014; Gunter et al, 2011; Haglund et al, 2014). Two papers reported substance use disorder as associated with completed suicide amongst supervised released prisoners (Haglund et al, 2014) and ideation and attempt amongst community corrections sample (Gunter et al, 2011). Candarelli et al (2014) reported bipolar increased the odds of suicidal ideation by

two-fold and ADHD increased likelihood of suicidal ideation by nearly nine-fold, even when both variables were controlled for confounding variables. However, this result should be interpreted with caution as a result of wide confidence intervals, and the small proportion of participants who screened positive for ADHD (Candarelli et al, 2014). Furthermore, the instruments used only screened for the presence of ADHD symptoms over the previous 6 months, as opposed to diagnostic criteria in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM IV) (American Psychiatric Association 2000; Candarelli et al, 2014; Kessler et al. 2005).

Gunter et al (2011) was the only other paper to utilise ADHD as a dependent or predictor variable, and they found ADHD was associated with suicidal ideation or attempt when compared with the control group. Although Gunter et al (2011) utilised DSM criteria, this could vary regarding how strictly diagnostic criteria were adhered to. Gunter et al (2013) also found increased number of DSM-IV criteria for antisocial personality disorder and related individual criteria of deception, impulsivity and irresponsibility as associated with suicidal ideation and attempt. Similarly, Brooker et al (2019) reported increased SAPAS scores, a screening tool for personality disorder, amongst attempt and ideation groups compared to participants with no history. It is of note Haglund et al (2014) did not identify affective disorder and personality disorder as risk factors (Haglund et al, 2014), however this could be a result of low prevalence of these diagnoses among supervised individuals who completed suicide.

Psychiatric treatment

Psychiatric treatment in the form of medication or inpatient treatment was identified as a risk factor for suicidal outcomes in all six papers that utilised it as a variable (Brooker et al, 2021; Cook & Borill, 2013; Haglund et al, 2014; McCullumsmith et al, 2013; Yu & Sung, 2015a; 2015b). Three papers identified inpatient treatment as a risk factor for suicidal ideation amongst men and women (Yu & Sung, 2015a; 2015b) and suicidal ideation or attempt (Gunter et al, 2011). Two papers reported psychiatric medication increased likelihood of staff judgements of increased suicide risk (Cook & Borrill, 2013) and suicidal ideation and attempt for men and women (Gunter et al, 2011; McCullumsmith et al, 2013). However, in one study, risk was doubled for African-American men and women compared with White men and women respectively (McCullumsmith et al, 2013). Brooker et al (2019) found that previous engagement with psychological services was related to either suicidal ideation or attempt. Candarelli et al (2014) stated they collated data on inpatient treatment, however this was not reflected in analysis. Finally, all participants of Haglund et al (2014) received some form of inpatient treatment following suicide attempt, however previous inpatient stay was not discerned for its association with suicide risk.

Illicit substance misuse

Illicit substance misuse was identified as a risk factor for suicidal outcomes in all seven papers that utilised it as a variable (Candarelli et al, 2014; Cook & Borril, 2013; Haglund et al, 2013; Gunter et al, 2011; McCullumsmith et al, 2013; Yu & Sung, 2015a; 2015b). Three papers identified substance use disorder as increasing the odds of suicidal outcomes (Candarelli et al, 2014; Haglund et al, 2014; McCullumsmith et al, 2013). Candarelli et al (2014) reported substance use disorder increased the likelihood of suicidal ideation by four-fold even when controlled for confounding variables. McCullumsmith et al (2013) reported substance misuse dependence as significantly associated with suicidal ideation and attempt amongst men and women, irrespective of race, and Haglund et al (2014) reported that when substance use disorder was excluded from psychiatric history, the association with completed suicide disappeared; hence demonstrating the strength of this association.

Illicit substance misuse more generally was identified as a risk factor for suicidal outcomes in four additional papers (Cook & Borrill, 2013; Gunter et al, 2011; Yu & Sung, 2015; Yu & Sung, 2014). Cook & Borrill (2013) found historical and current drug misuse and current drug misuse was positively associated with staff's judgements of suicide risk for people on probation. Whereas, Yu & Sung (2015a) found that use of an illicit drug in the previous month was associated with suicidal ideation amongst

men on probation, although this was not significant for women. However, in their other paper regarding predictors of suicidal ideation, use of an illicit drug in the past month increased odds of suicidal ideation amongst all parolees by 2-fold (Yu & Sung, 2015b). Finally, Gunter et al (2011) found that increased number of substance use disorders and abuse of cocaine, stimulants and tobacco dependence were associated with the presence of suicidal ideation or attempt.

Psychological distress

Psychological distress was identified as significant for association with suicidal outcomes in all three papers that utilised distress as a variable, of which was measured with validated tools (Brooker et al, 2021; Yu & Sung, 2015a; 2015b). Yu & Sung (2015a) found serious psychological distress increased risk of suicidal ideation for men by 5-fold, and women 4-fold, and for all parolees within their other study (Yu & Sung, 2015b). Brooker et al (2019) found higher proportions of the attempt and ideation group had a severe psychological distress score, as measured by the K6, comparative to participants with no history; whereby the mean distress score was significantly lower. However, differences were not significant between ideation and action groups.

Previous victimisation

All three papers that utilised previous victimisation as a variable identified this as associated with suicidal outcomes (Cook & Borrill, 2013; Gunter et al, 2011; McCullumsmith et al, 2013). Cook & Borrill (2013) found that childhood abuse was associated with staff judgements regarding suicide risk, of which demonstrated an effect size of \geq .3 and was included in the final logistic regression model that significantly predicted suicide risk judgements. McCullumsmith et al (2013) reported that previous physical or sexual abuse increased odds of suicide attempt nearly seven-fold and ideation nearly four-fold of which remained significant across all race and sex groups, however the odds were higher for African-American men and women comparative to White men and women. Finally, Gunter et al (2011) identified traumatic life experience as significantly differentiating ideation and action group from the control group, and the presence of childhood trauma remained significant within the multinomial model to predict the presence of suicidal ideation or previous attempt. Although the remaining seven papers did not measure previous victimisation, it is likely this would be prevalent amongst the samples.

Criminogenic variables

Criminogenic variables were explored in seven papers (Brooker et al, 2009; Cook & Borill, 2013; Gunter et al, 2011; Haglund et al, 2014; Phillips et al, 2018; Yu & Sung, 2015a; 2015b). However, sparse significant findings were found. Violence perpetration was the only variable to receive more than two hits across included papers, albeit operationalised differently (Cook & Borrill, 2013 and Yu & Sung, 2015a). Cook & Borrill (2013) found small but statistically significant differences amongst violent offenders increasing likelihood of staff judgements regarding increased suicide risk. However, this did not remain significant within the regression model; thus indicating its contribution was not significant once the contribution of sociodemographic and clinical variables were accounted for. Yu & Sung (2015a) found that women who perpetrated violence with intent to seriously harm them increased likelihood of suicidal ideation by nearly two-fold. However, offence type was not captured within this paper, and this finding was not significant in their other paper regarding predictors of suicidal ideation amongst parolees (Yu & Sung, 2015b). It is proposed significant hits were not found amongst criminogenic variables as in some instances offence related variables were collated, yet not included in analysis (Candarelli et al, 2014), or offence related variables were not considered whatsoever (Candarelli et al, 2014; McCullumsmith et al, 2013; Pratt et al, 2006). Insignificant findings related to offence type could be a result of multiple offence categories, hence reducing the likelihood of meaningful analysis (Brooker et al, 2021; Haglund et al, 2014). Furthermore, there was a small proportion of violent offenders in some samples (Brooker et al, 2021; Gunter et al, 2011). Moreover, order type perhaps did not receive multiple hits as all participants in Pratt et al (2007) and Haglund et al (2014) were under post-sentence supervision. Two papers did not report significant

associations between order type and suicidal outcomes (Brooker et al, 2009; Gunter et al, 2011), and although Cook & Borrill (2013) collected data on order type, this did not comprise data analysis. In addition, four papers did not refer to order type within their research, however notably these were all US participants and may reflect differences within international criminal justice settings (Candarelli et al, 2014; McCullumsmith et al, 2013; Yu & Sung, 2015; 2015b).

Temporal variables

Only three papers explored recent release from custody, and all concerned completed suicide as the outcome (Haglund et al, 2014; Phillips et al, 2018; Pratt et al, 2006). Pratt et al (2007) identified 21% (N=79) suicides took place in the first 28 days post release, and 51% (N=195) within the initial four months indicating that recent release from custody increases risk of suicide. Phillips et al (2018) also suggests an increased risk of suicide following custodial release, with the number of deaths per week decreasing gradually over a period of a year. Haglund et al (2014) reported the highest incidence rate for suicide during the first 28 days, of which the rate ratio was 58 comparative to general population controls. It is likely remaining papers did not consider temporal variables as the population group did not concern solely those released from custody whilst under community supervision.

Discussion

Table 2 summarises risk factors outlined in the review.

Variable category	Variable
Sociodemographic variables	Women
	Age (30+)
	Lack of education qualification or status
Clinical variables	Depressive symptoms or disorder
	Anxiety symptoms or disorder
	Any other psychiatric disorder
	Psychiatric treatment
	Illicit substance misuse
	Psychological distress
	Previous victimisation
Criminological variables	Violence perpetration
Temporal variables	Recent release from custody

Table 2: Summary of identified risk factors

The review yielded 10 studies, however studies varied regarding the range of sociodemographic, clinical, criminogenic and temporal risk factors they investigated for association with suicide risk. Research that explored risk factors associated with completed suicide produced little or no data regarding clinical risk factors (Phillips et al, 2018; Pratt et al, 2006; Haglund et al, 2014). Therefore, although the outcome variable increased quality rating of these studies, they did not yield as many results as other papers concerning the presence of suicidal ideation and attempt. However, it is proposed variables that received hits on all papers they were utilised should gain particular attention. This is particularly prevalent amongst clinical variables, whereby; depressive symptoms, anxiety symptoms, psychiatric disorder, psychiatric treatment, illicit substance misuse, psychological distress and previous victimisation were identified as risk factors amongst all papers that utilised these measures (Brooker et al, 2021; Candarelli et al, 2014; Cook & Borrill et al, 2013; Gunter et al, 2011; Haglund et al, 2014; McCullumsmith et al, 2013; Yu & Sung, 2015a; 2015b). However, previous victimisation and distress were only measured in three papers, and therefore are pertinent to consider for future research. Overall, clinical risk factors appear critical in identifying suicide risk in probation populations, however, they are insufficient on their own (Beautrais, 2004; Candarelli et al, 2014). However,

the review encompassed environmental and psychosocial factors that can influence suicide risk outcomes and should be kept in mind.

The most frequently identified sociodemographic variables were white ethnicity and female gender. Much work regarding risk assessment for suicide identifies Caucasian race as a risk factor for suicidal ideation and suicide-related behaviour in community samples (Gunter et al, 2011; Kessler et al, 1999). Furthermore, the findings support recent data that indicates female offenders in the community are significantly more at risk of suicide (11 times greater than general population) in the community compared to men who have offended (four times greater than general population) (Office of National Statistics, 2023b), of which contrasts findings of statistics in the general population where men are more at risk comparatively (Office of National Statistics, 2024). Despite this, three papers that concerned completed suicide identified women as more at risk (Haglund et al, 2014; Phillips et al, 2018; Pratt et al, 2006). However, it is important to hold in mind that despite completed suicide being the outcome, this also included open verdicts (Pratt et al, 2006), unnatural death with undetermined intent (Haglund et al, 2014) and self-inflicted deaths (Phillips et al, 2018), and although Pratt et al (2006) excluded accidental deaths, it is impossible to ascertain that data within these papers are not accidental or drug related deaths, of which we know is the leading cause of self-inflicted deaths for offenders in the community (Office for National Statistics, 2023b). Despite this, Yu & Sung (2015a) proposed that females on probation may experience more life stressors than men. This is illustrated by their findings that females on probation had a higher prevalence of residential instability, psychological distress or a major depressive episode; all of which were identified as risk factors in this review and provide modifiable risk factors that can be targeted within probation supervision (Yu & Sung, 2015a).

The results indicate that individuals aged 30+ on probation are more at risk of completed suicide. However, it is possible that older individuals who completed suicide may have attempted suicide historically, and therefore we should not overlook the risk of all age groups. Particularly, as the younger population of those

supervised on probation may demonstrate more aggressive and impulsive traits, of which have been identified as risk factors for suicide in forensic populations (Dumais et al, 2005). Although these traits may ameliorate with age, older individuals may be impacted by the difficulties of society reintegration following release from custody more acutely than their younger counterparts (Pratt et al, 2006). Furthermore, as previously outlined, we cannot ascertain with confidence that incidents of completed suicide were not accidental or drug-related.

The review demonstrates that during the first 12 months after release from custody there is an increased suicide risk. It has been proposed individuals who were incarcerated may have proportionally more risk factors for suicide, such as; substance misuse, mental illness, and socioeconomic deprivation (Bland et al, 1998; Fazel & Danesh, 2002; Joukamaa, 1995). Consequently, individuals who have been imprisoned already demonstrate high risk of suicide, and perhaps the interaction of these risk factors after transition into a community setting may further conflate risk to self. The initial stages following release can be overwhelming, and individuals may experience exclusion by their release community, as well as mutually re-enforcing barriers such as; lack of accommodation, lost contact with families, and lack of paid employment upon release (Fox et al, 2005; Pratt et al, 2006). Furthermore, increased levels of drug use, violence and low staffing levels in prisons have been reported (Ministry of Justice, 2017), of which may influence the risk of people dying by suicide on release. Finally, as completed suicide papers included self-inflicted deaths (Phillips et al, 2018), unnatural death with undetermined intent (Haglund et al, 2014) and an open verdict at coroner's inquest (Pratt et al, 2007), and we know that drug-related deaths comprise 49% of self-inflicted deaths in offenders in the community (Office of National Statistics, 2023b), it is likely that overdose will have contributed to deaths that have been classified as suicide, particularly as individuals are at higher risk of overdose following custody due to a reduction in tolerance (Bingswanger et al, 2012).

Psychiatric diagnoses, symptoms and medication or treatment were prevalent risk factors for suicide. The association of depression with suicidal ideation is well documented among forensic and general populations, and depression is identified as a strong predictor of suicide in prison populations (Baillargeon et al 2009; Gunter et al, 2011; Sattar, 2003; Joukamaa, 1998). Suicidal ideation and attempt comprise DSM IV criteria for major depressive disorder (American Psychiatric Association 2013; Kessler et al, 2005) and demonstrate association with major depression more than any other mental health disorder (Candarelli et al, 2014). This could account for the prevalence of depressive symptoms demonstrated in the review. In addition, anxiety, bipolar, ADHD and antisocial personality traits and substance use disorder were identified as specific psychiatric diagnoses that may increase suicide risk. Individuals under probation have increased mental health needs comparative to the general population (Brooker et al, 2014; Brooker & Ramsbotham, 2014; Gunter et al, 2011; HM Inspectorate of Probation, 2021; Kariminia et al, 2007; Pratt et al, 2010), and these findings further highlights the significance of sufficient mental health provision for this high-risk group.

Childhood and adulthood physical and sexual abuse were identified as risk factors associated with suicidal outcomes, as also demonstrated in general and forensic populations (Brodsky et al, 2001; Howard et al, 2003; Joiner et al, 2007, Swogger et al, 2010). Previous research has identified the presence of distress in offenders who experienced childhood abuse (Clements-Nolle, et al, 2009; Milligan & Andrews, 2005), another risk factor identified within this review. Biological theories hypothesise childhood abuse may encourage attenuated serotonergic activity, of which can impact impulsivity, hence resulting in a greater propensity to act on aggressive impulses towards one's self (Candarelli et al, 2014). Furthermore, females who have offended have demonstrated disproportionately higher levels of intimate partner violence and childhood abuse (Walsh et al, 2011), thus this may heighten their risk of suicidal tendencies (Patel et al., 2011).
Substance misuse was identified as prevalent risk factor in this review. Substance misuse may increase the likelihood of suicide attempts due to difficulty shifting attentions, reducing inhibitory control and hence increasing impulsivity (Morley et al, 2008). A high prevalence of substance has been documented amongst individuals on probation (Brooker et al, 2017), the association of substance dependence and suicide is well documented in the criminal justice system and general population (Borges et al, 2000; Cottler et al., 2005; Håkansson et al., 2010; McCullumsmith et al, 2013; Wilcox et al, 2004). Furthermore, as previously highlighted, drug related deaths are likely to account for a significant proportion of completed suicides in this review. This finding underscores the importance of specialist substance misuse partner agencies within probation.

Although the analysis regarding offence related variables was sparse, results were fairly consistent with prison-based research regarding violent offending and increased suicide risk (Cook & Borril, 2013; Fazel et al, 2008; Sarchiapone et al, 2009; Zhong et al, 2021) and research based on community offenders who were not supervised by probation (King et al, 2015; Pratt et al, 2006; Webb et al, 2012). This finding also compliments dual harm literature that purports individuals who harm themselves are at increased likelihood to harm others (Slade, 2019). However, much of the data did not allow analysis according to criminogenic variables due to lack of detail in the data set. This requires further research, as the heterogeneity of the sample could lead to a dilution of high-risk groups (Fazel et al, 2017). Although offence related variables are key areas for further exploration, they are dependent upon data being available (Fazel et al, 2017; Phillips et al, 2018). However, it is worth noting that an explanation for less prevalence of offence-related variables may be that suicide risk among people on probation is significantly reduced when clinical and sociodemographic risk factors were accounted for (Haglund et al, 2014).

Strengths and weaknesses of evidence included

Key weaknesses in the evidence incorporated in this review is that not all risk factors were investigated across all studies and predictor and outcome variables were all operationalised differently. For example, Cook & Borrill (2013) utilised staff judgement of suicide risk as the outcome group. Opinion could vary amongst probation practitioners, however research based on the precise setting of probation supervision in the UK was an important addition to the review and risk factors identified by probation practitioners were consistent with existing research. Some studies solely explored risks associated with suicidal ideation (Candarelli et al, 2014; Yu & Sung, 2015a; 2015b), however results were deemed appropriate as suicidal ideation is often the first step towards suicide. There was even variance in operationalisation of completed suicide (Haglund et al, 2014; Phillips et al, 2018; Pratt et al, 2006). Haglund et al (2014) explored suicides that led to an episode of inpatient care, Pratt et al (2007) measured suicide as confirmed by death certificate or coroner's inquest, Phillips et al (2018) used information probation records that were 'apparent on the basis of information received'. Furthermore, Haglund (2014) included unnatural deaths with undetermined intent, Phillips et al (2018) included self-inflicted deaths and Pratt et al (2007) included an open verdict at coroner's inquest. However, analysis was conducted based on the availability of evidence that was available.

Data collection varied across studies, with some research obtained retrospectively by patient self-report (Candarelli et al, 2014; McCullumsmith et al, 2013; Yu & Sung, 2015a; 2015b) or by mental health professionals (Brooker et al, 2021; Gunter et al, 2011). Data from surveys and self-report may suffer from underreporting due to social desirability bias, recall bias and inaccurate symptom recording and not all papers utilised structured measures to assess risk factors or suicide risk (Yu & Sung, 2015a; 2015b). In addition, some cross-sectional papers can only deduce correlational analyses, and prove difficult to establish temporal causal relationships (Candarelli et al, 2014; Cook & Borrill, 2013; McCullumsmith et al, 2013). Finally, some papers relied on volunteers to partake in the study. Reliance on volunteers may have also resulted in advertent sampling of individuals who were resilient and healthy (Candarelli et al, 2014; Gunter et al, 2011; Yu & Sung, 2015a; 2015b).

Small sample sizes at times posed difficulties in further analyses, as lack of statistical power also meant some possibly key factors could not be considered (Candarelli et al, 2014; Haglund et al, 2014; Phillips et al, 2019; Pratt et al, 2006). It is important to note, however, that many studies did include sufficient sample sizes and incorporated validated instruments (Brooker et al, 2021; Candarelli et al, 2014; Cook & Borrill, 2013 Gunter et al, 2011; Haglund et al, 2014; Phillips et al, 2018; Pratt et al, 2006). Despite these limitations, the review provides an updated understanding of an explanation for risk factors for suicide amongst people on probation that provide some explanation into the level of suicide observed. Furthermore, this review is the first of its time to identify risk factors relevant to the assessment of suicide risk amongst supervised individuals in the community who have offended.

The systematic review had stringent inclusion and exclusion criteria to ensure studies included were relevant to the topic of research, in that samples included were adults supervised on probation. However, criticism of the systematic review could be posed in relation to its exclusion of qualitative research. The rationale to exclude qualitative research was due to difficulties synthesising data. Such heterogeneity in data collection and analysis can make it challenging to derive clear, consistent results, and qualitative research findings would typically only generate one hit from the paper they were derived from, and hence not be included in final analysis that encompassed risk factors with three hits or more. The rationale for including papers with three hits or more in analysis was to identify risk factors that were prevalent across research papers and hence could arguably hold most relevance for practitioners in the field. Risk factors that appear in multiple studies indicate more consistent evidence, of which strengthens the reliability of findings and indicates the association between the risk factor and outcome is not random or isolated (Henderson et al, 2010). Furthermore, qualitative research derives narrative data, therefore the researcher could not operationalise objective and measurable

outcomes from comparative data to determine whether a risk factor was present or absent. However, as a result of qualitative research exclusion, key risk factors pertinent to probation supervision (i.e. missed appointments and breaches; Borrill et al, 2017) were not incorporated into analysis.

A further criticism of the review is the inclusion of international studies derived from countries with varying probation service models, resources and legal frameworks that differentiate from context in the United Kingdom (UK). Hence, these studies may have reported varying risk factors due to differences in how probation systems operate, including; intensity of supervision, mental health provision and the availability of post release support (Hamai et al, 2005). These differences are likely to influence suicide rates and risk factors, of which complicate the ability to generalise findings to the UK context (Bolton et al, 2015). In addition, stigma regarding mental health, and risk assessment can vary significantly between countries (Esqueda, 2010; Schmidt et al, 2019). There is likely to be varying cultural norms regarding helpseeking behaviours and hence differences in societal support systems and healthcare access may also affect suicide risk (Reynders et al, 2015). Furthermore, it is likely that participants in international literature will experience different stressors or protective factors compared to individuals in the UK (Chu et al, 2010). Although some risk factors may be deemed universal, such as mental health difficulties (Chu et al, 2010), the relative importance of these may differ. International studies might highlight risk factors that are less relevant to UK, or conversely, overlook key risk factors pertinent to the population of interest. Despite these shortcomings, inclusion of international papers enabled findings to draw on a wider range of data, potentially improving the overall robustness of findings to identify common risk factors that are applicable across different contexts. However, it is important to maintain a critical lens when applying the results to the UK context. Generalising findings without careful consideration of contextual differences could lead to inappropriate policy recommendations or interventions. Although applying findings from countries with different cultural attitudes toward mental health and suicide could obscure the unique factors influencing suicide risk in UK probation

populations, inclusion of these studies was deemed appropriate due to scant research in the field.

Another criticism of the systematic review could be that there were various subgroups included in findings (i.e. men, women, individuals serving community sentences and recently released individuals). Combining men and women in the systematic review may obscure important gender-specific risk factors (Thompson & Light, 2010). In addition, recently released individuals experience unique stressors, such as; unstable housing and difficulties with transition from custody, of which is likely to contribute to increased risk (Pratt et al, 2010), however may vary comparative to individuals who remained in the community. Overall, the inclusion of diverse sub-groups may have obscured key differences in suicide risk factors and make it difficult to delineate which factors are most relevant for specific populations. This could dilute the strength of evidence related to any one sub-group, leading to overgeneralisation of findings, where the unique needs of one group may be overshadowed by the larger group's trends. However, inclusion of sub-groups was deemed appropriate due to scant research in the field.

Although a criterion of the review was to exclude self-inflicted deaths that were not documented as suicide, this proved difficult due to paucity of research in the field. It is of note the only three papers that considered completed suicide were not strictly suicide only outcome groups. Although Phillips (2018) used the term 'suicide' as their outcome, they acknowledged how self-inflicted deaths were included in the data. However, as acknowledged throughout the thesis, data regarding suicide deaths is incorporated within self-inflicted deaths, and at times difficult to disentangle. Despite this, the findings do not discern what proportion of these deaths were suicide or an accidental drug death. However, Phillips (2018) was included due to its relevance to the population of interest, scarcity of research in the field and because suicide was identified as the outcome. In addition, Pratt (2006) included cases with an 'open verdict', although cite this is most conventionally defined as suicide (Pratt, 2006). Although the paper excluded 'accidental deaths', this still poses difficulties, as there is insufficient evidence to conclude how the death came about. Furthermore, Haglund et al (2014) included certain suicide and unnatural death with undetermined intent in their definition of suicide. However, it is pertinent to hold in mind that only 38% of self-inflicted deaths amongst offenders in the community accounted for suicide (Office of National Statistics, 2023b), and therefore these findings should be interpreted with caution regarding their applicability to suicide specifically. Furthermore, we know that the majority of self-inflicted deaths amongst individuals being supervised in the community are a result of drug overdose deaths at 49% (Office of National Statistics, 2023b), and therefore targeted intervention regarding substance misuse and harm reduction could significantly help to safeguard this population.

Consideration of findings in the wider context of their relationship to practice, theory and the population of interest

Individuals on probation demonstrate a higher risk of suicide compared to the general population (Sirdfield et al, 2020). The review highlights the significance of various risk factors, indicating that individuals on probation do not experience suicide risk in isolation, but as part of a complex interaction of personal and environmental factors that should be monitored over time. For younger people on probation, while suicide attempts may be more frequent, completed suicides tend to occur more in older age groups. This suggests the need for age-specific strategies: for younger probationers, addressing impulsivity and emotional dysregulation may reduce attempts (Mai et al, 2021), while older probationers may need more support in coping with chronic stressors such as substance misuse or long-term psychological distress (Courtney & Maschi, 2012).

The findings provide critical information for practitioners working with people on probation. The identification of specific sociodemographic, clinical and criminogenic variables linked to suicide risk can help practitioners hold in mind vulnerabilities for suicidality across an individual's probation supervision, and also key areas for intervention. The findings highlight how support with education, employment and addressing accommodation issues are equally vital to support people on probation in building their life in the community and may act as a protective factor against risk of suicide (Mclean, 2020). However, this will likely to require liaison with third party sectors. Moreover, the high prevalence of associated clinical variables demonstrates how mental health services need to be integrated into probation supervision. Probation officers may require training to identify signs of mental health deterioration, and have clear referral pathways so individuals can access appropriate care. Within these services, regular screening for depression, anxiety and other psychiatric disorders could support development of appropriate intervention pathways (Bolton et al, 2015). The findings also underscore the necessity of integrating substance use intervention within probation services, and furthermore, given that a history of victimisation, particularly childhood abuse, was associated with suicide risk, it is important probation officers have an awareness of trauma informed care and appropriate intervention pathways (McAnallen & McGinnis, 2021). Finally, criminogenic variables such as offense type did not demonstrate significance, but temporal factors like recent release from custody were strongly associated with suicide risk, particularly within the first few months post-release. This finding emphasizes the critical need for targeted post-release support, including mental health services and reintegration programs. Early intervention immediately after release and through the gate services could significantly reduce suicide risk during this vulnerable period (MacInnes et al, 2020).

Theory

Interpersonal Theory of Suicide (ITS; Joiner, 2005)

According to the ITS (Joiner, 2005), suicidal behaviour arises from the following: perceived burdensomeness and thwarted belonging, coupled with an acquired capability for suicide. The elevated risk for women in probation settings could indicate perhaps they experience higher levels of thwarted belongingness in these environments, whereby perhaps they feel they are not meeting societal expectations of which could lead to feelings of exclusion or social disconnection (Mendoza, 2023). A sense of thwarted belonginess could be further demonstrated by the association with suicidal outcomes and accommodation instability; of which could perpetuate social isolation or displacement (Calati et al, 2018). Furthermore, criminogenic variables such as release from custody may heighten the risk of suicide due to difficulties with disconnection and social reintegration, hence possibly perpetuating thwarted belongness (Nazem, 2013). Finally, perceived burdensomeness has been found as a significant mediator of victimisation and suicidal ideation (Leslie et al, 2024).

The Integrated Motivational-Volitional model (IMV Model; O'Connor et al, 2011) The Integrated Motivational-Volitional model (IMV Model; O'Connor et al, 2011) outlines a pathway from suicidal thoughts (motivational phase) to suicidal behaviour (volitional phase), highlighting the role of defeat, humiliation, entrapment and access to means in suicide progression. The robust association between depressive symptoms, anxiety and suicidal behaviour could correspond to the motivational phase; whereby emotional distress and feelings of entrapment may accompany depression and anxiety, as demonstrated in previous research (Siddaway et al, 2015). Depression and anxiety could also exacerbate perceptions of defeat or entrapment within a probation system (Phillips et al, 2019). In addition, substance use disorder and psychiatric treatment were consistently found to increase suicide risk. In the IMV model, these variables might increase volitional factors, for example; access to means and impulsivity (O'Connor et al, 2011). Criminogenic variables, such as violent history, while not consistently associated with suicide risk, could still function as volitional factors by contributing to physical pain sensitivity and fearlessness about death (O'Connor et al, 2011).

The Three-Step Theory (3ST; Klonsky et al, 2015)

The Three-Step Theory (Klonsky & May, 2015) posits that suicidal ideation results from escalating pain and hopelessness, with progression to suicidal behaviour depending on connectedness and capability. Psychological distress and previous

victimisation were identified as strong correlates of suicidal ideation, of which have both been associated with feelings of pain and hopelessness (Ballard et al, 2022; Coker et al, 2002). Furthermore, victimisation and could contribute to an acquired capability for suicide by desensitising individuals to pain and reducing the fear of death (Coker et al, 2002). This aligns with 3ST's assertion that an individual's capacity to attempt suicide must increase for suicidal ideation to translate into action.

Implications

Each year probation practitioners are faced with thousands of individuals who have offended and are at increased risk of suicide across the country (Yu & Sung, 2015a). Therefore, its critical for probation practitioners to be effective gatekeepers, and be trained to recognise people on probation with risk factors for suicide with appropriate interventions for non-clinical professionals (Yu & Sung, 2015a). Training for probation practitioners could increase understanding of risk factors, provide information regarding referrals to substance misuse and mental health professionals and through-the-gate resettlement services. However, responsibility should not lie on probation practitioners alone. The National Probation Service should encourage mental health partnership for assessment, intervention and consultation. Furthermore, at-risk probationers could be identified through a case management system to promote increased availability to resources and services (Guydish, 2011; Yu & Sung, 2015a).

Healthcare is fundamental regarding suicide prevention. It is well documented that individuals on probation have increased physical and mental health needs comparative to the general population (Brooker et al, 2012). However, it is reported that engagement with health services for people who have offended is incommensurate in relation to their likely level of need. Inadequate healthcare provision for people on probation could be a contributing factor to increased suicide risk amongst this population (Brooker et al, 2012; Phillips et al, 2018). It is proposed that beyond mental health partnership, primary care services can also play an

integral role (Candarelli et al, 2014). Primary care professionals can support psychiatric treatment and provide clinical intervention to reduce suicide risk (Candarelli et al, 2014; Cunningham, 2009; James et al 2004). Furthermore, current or previous probation status could indicate a need for additional mental health or consideration of assessment for risk of harm to self (Candarelli et al, 2014). However, in light of people on probation can often facing barriers in accessing healthcare (Brooker et al, 2012; 2017), they may require further support.

Probation supervision requirements illicit an effective mechanism for screening and early intervention (McCullumsmith et al, 2013). However, there is need for clarification and further discussion regarding the roles and responsibility of probation practitioners regarding the limits of duty of care and assessing and managing non-criminogenic needs like suicide risk (Cook & Borill, 2013). Although probation supervision is often focused on monitoring risk and violations of license or order conditions (Seiter & West, 2003; Solomon et al, 2008), probation is paramount to help people adhere to these conditions so they can desist from offending behaviour (Candarelli et al, 2014). Threats of homelessness, lack of employment and being socially isolated are significant life stressors that seemingly impact not only reoffending, but suicide risk (Yu & Sung, 2015a), and are amenable to change through stabilisation support within supervision.

Although the majority of individuals who experience suicidal ideation will not attempt or complete suicide, addressing suicidal ideation is a clear initiative to prevent suicidal outcomes (Yu & Sung, 2015a). If individuals with specific mental disorders, such as; depression, anxiety, substance use disorders and ADHD are identified and referred for psychiatric treatment, this could help reduce suicide risk. The results in this review highlight risk factors that should be held in mind when assessing suicide risk in probation settings, however alone it is not enough. It is paramount that follow-up is completed with those who have expressed suicidal ideation or disclosed a suicide attempt (Sabbatine, 2007; Sorenson & Vittes, 2008; Yu & Sung, 2015a). Probation practitioners require support to feel confident to monitor, enquire and discuss concerns around suicide risk, and may benefit from efficient preventative screening tools of which have been validated among forensic populations (Perry et al, 2010).

Gaps in research identified from results of the review

The review outlines various gaps in research. Firstly, there are risk factors that demonstrated association with a suicide outcome in all papers they were utilised, however the majority of papers did not utilise the risk factor as a variable. Regarding sociodemographic variables, residential instability received hits in all papers whereby the risk factor was utilised (Cook & Borrill, 2013; McCullumsith et al, 2013; Yu & Sung, 2015a), however the risk factor was not used as a variable in 70% of papers. The same proportions apply to the following clinical variables; anxiety (Brooker et al, 2019; Candarelli, 2014; Gunter et al, 2011), psychological distress (Brooker et al, 2019; Yu & Sung, 2015b; Yu & Sung, 2015a) and previous victimisation (Cook & Borrill, 2013; Gunter et al, 2011; McCullumsmith et al, 2013). Any other psychiatric disorder received hits in all papers that utilised it as a variable (Brooker et al, 2019; Candarelli, 2014; Gunter et al, 2011; Haglund et al, 2014), however was not utilised in 60% of papers. This highlights gaps in research whereby key risk factors have been arguably overlooked. Given their relevance, more research on these variables is warranted to understand their potential roles in suicide risk. More notably, selfharm only featured in two studies (Cook & Borrill, 2013; Haglund et al, 2014), despite its repeated association with suicidal outcomes (Knipe et al, 2022) and theory that denotes self-harm can habituate fear and pain regarding self-inflicted violence (Klonsky et al, 2015). Finally, it is proposed there are distinct differences between those experience suicidal ideation and individuals who act on these thoughts and attempt suicide. This has been demonstrated in research regarding custodial settings and are applicable to probation settings (Brooker et al, 2021; Favril & O'Connor, 2019; Favril et al., 2020a; Favril et al., 2020b), however the vast majority of studies in the review did not conduct separate analysis for ideation and attempt.

While depressive symptoms, anxiety, psychiatric disorders, and substance misuse were consistently identified as significant risk factors, studies that investigated completed suicides lacked detailed data on clinical variables (Phillips et al, 2018; Pratt et al, 2006; Haglund et al, 2014), therefore more in-depth research on clinical factors in completed suicides is needed to draw more robust conclusions. Furthermore, the review highlights that the first 12 months after release from custody present heightened suicide risk (Haglund et al, 2014; Pratt et al, 2007; Phillips et al, 2018). It is likely factors such as substance misuse and mental illness play critical roles (Bland et al, 1998; Fox et al, 2005), however, further research could be beneficial to explore how these factors interact post-release and exacerbate suicide risk. While substance misuse is a well-established risk factor, the specific mechanisms through which it influences suicide risk, particularly in the probation population, are less explored. Finally, there is sparse analysis regarding offencerelated variables, despite consistent findings from prison-based research indicating that violent offending is associated with higher suicide risk (Cook & borrill, 2013; Fazel et al, 2008; Slade, 2019). Further research would be beneficial to understand how criminogenic factors interact with clinical and sociodemographic risk factors in probation populations.

Recommendations for future research

The paucity of research regarding suicide risk in probation highlights the need for further research to establish suicide rates and related risk factors in probation populations and could incorporate comparison with alterative relevant vulnerable groups such as the prison population or community psychiatric population (Cook & Borrill, 2013). Although it is important to not underestimate suicide risk, it would be of benefit for future studies to look solely at completed suicide as opposed to also incorporating self-inflicted deaths. This would enable the relationship between suicide and associated risk factors to be more rigorously established. Attention should also be further paid to unique characteristics and risk features of individuals who die by drug-related deaths, so appropriate support can be obtained to reduce risk of death (Slade et al, 2024). Research could also examine points of access to healthcare and consider how probation practitioners can assist in addressing the mental healthcare of people on probation (Candarelli et al, 2014). In addition, research to identify effective interventions in suicide prevention among people on probation could be of benefit, alongside the role of psychiatric treatment, risk assessment and initiatives that support transition and reintegration into the community following prison release (Haglund et al, 2014). Furthermore, offence related variables were often not captured and outcome variables were all operationalised differently, which poses difficulties directly comparing findings from studies. However, given the severity of the research topic, perhaps government agreed guidelines need to be considered for what constitutes suicidal outcomes in research.

Research exploring the perspectives of people on probation and contributing factors for suicidal tendencies could be beneficial to inform suicide prevention. Specifically, to consider independent variables influencing the progression from suicidal ideation to suicide attempt. Given the wide pool of risk factors, this could differentiate individuals most likely to engage in a suicide attempt and could delineate individuals most in need of suicide prevention resources. It is proposed there are distinct differences between those experience suicidal ideation and individuals who act on these thoughts and attempt suicide. This has been demonstrated in research regarding custodial settings and are applicable to probation settings (Brooker et al, 2021; Favril & O'Connor, 2019; Favril et al., 2020a; Favril et al., 2020b), however the vast majority of studies in the review did not conduct separate analysis for ideation and attempt. A study that utilised the ideation-action model would be of benefit in identifying those at highest risk for intervention in probation service and could encompass relevant risk factors identified in this review.

Conclusion

The review has provided an up-to-date synthesis on research of risk factors associated with suicidal outcomes amongst individuals under community supervision

and has encompassed a comprehensive characterisation of associated sociodemographic, clinical and criminogenic variables. The findings of the review have potential to update good practice and promote staffs' knowledge and confidence regarding risk factors relevant to the assessment of suicide risk and provide indication of need for empirically supported individualised suicide prevention programmes (Cook & Borill, 2013; McCullumsmith et al, 2013). However, probation do not have surplus resources to manage these problems. Therefore, responsibility should be shared amongst probation, prison and community services to facilitate integrated, quality resettlement support and care for those on probation (Pratt et al, 2006).

The review indicates that effective and efficient ways to assess suicidality is needed for individuals on probation. Supervision requirements provide an opportunity to identify, signpost and facilitate interventions to this vulnerable group who are evidently at increased risk of suicide. Probation practitioners require training to manage and effectively communicate suicide risk concerns; of which could significantly reduce suicide rates amongst the probation population. Finally, future research regarding suicide risk in probation should be prioritised to ensure individuals on probation receive the attention they desperately need and deserve. Therefore, policies can be implemented that aim to reduce suicide rates amongst the probation populations, and ambitions set out by the National Probation Service and Ministry of Justice can be met (Department of Health and Social Care, 2012; National Probation Service, 2019; Phillips et al, 2018). Chapter Three: Risk factors for suicidal ideation and suicide attempt amongst men on probation

Abstract

Objective: To explore sociodemographic, criminological and clinical differences between men on probation who have; attempted suicide, experienced solely suicidal ideation and have not experienced suicidal thoughts or behaviour, and to develop a tool that could identify risk-based vulnerabilities for suicide and indicate individuals who may require a suicide assessment.

Methods: A 39-item Offender Assessment System (OASys) collated data on 314 men who had received a mental health assessment whilst under probation supervision. The mental health assessment determined outcome groups of suicidal ideation, suicide attempt and no history of suicidal thoughts or behaviour and OASys provided sociodemographic, clinical and criminogenic independent variables.

Results: There were significant differences regarding binge drinking or excessive alcohol use, illicit substance misuse, mental health conditions, adverse experience of childhood and increased distress scores associated with suicide attempt and ideation when compared to controls. White ethnicity and risk of self-harm were also significantly associated with suicide attempt when compared to controls. Risk of self-harm and a community order were the only variables significantly associated with suicide attempt when compared to to suicidal ideation. Results indicated that a 6-factor tool, with a cut-off score of 3 or more, could identify a suicide attempt in 82% of cases. Independent variables within the tool included binge drinking or excessive alcohol use, adverse experience of childhood, mental health conditions, illicit substance misuse, risk of self-harm and significant levels of distress. A simple summation tool was developed to inform probation risk assessment and identify vulnerabilities for suicide.

Conclusions: This study supports the use of risk factors in identifying men on probation who may be at increased risk of a suicide attempt. However, as the study is retrospective in nature, the validity of the regression tool should be treated with caution. The regression tool should be utilised to identify risk-based vulnerabilities to suicidality and indicate individuals who may require a suicide assessment. The tool can be used at the beginning of the care pathway to permit consideration of multiple vulnerabilities on an individual's potential risk of suicide over time.

Background

Individuals under community probation supervision demonstrate a suicide rate approximately two times of those serving custodial sentence, and 8.7 times that of the general population (HM Inspectorate of Probation, 2021). The severity of suicide risk in probation can be demonstrated further by The Ministry of Justice's annual report, that reported an increase of self-inflicted deaths by 18% from 2020-2021, accounting for 38% of all deaths of individuals who have offended and are supervised in the community (Ministry of Justice, 2021). Furthermore, Webb et al (2012) reported that 20 percent of suicides completed over a 12-month period by individuals under the Criminal Justice System were under probation supervision, and a latter study reported that 13% of suicides within the general population were serving a community sentence (King et al, 2015). However, suicide risk amongst individuals on probation remains greatly under researched, and arguably neglected (Mackenzie et al, 2017; Phillips et al, 2018; Skinner & Farrington, 2020).

The systematic review provided an overview of a wide pool of risk factors for suicide amongst the probation population within a scarce pool of literature, and demonstrated the need for further research within the field. Chapter Two also elicited how suicide attempt and ideation are often not explored within one study, of which promotes difficulties comparing findings and identifying individuals most at risk of a suicide attempt. Not all individuals who experience suicidal ideation will go onto attempt suicide; so how can we identify those most at risk?

Ideation to action framework

Research suggests that suicide risk factors are often associated with ideation, however less prevalent when identifying those at greatest risk of enacting on these ideations (Favril & O'Connor, 2019; Favril et al, 2020c). The ideation-to-action framework is a key development in a growing body of literature which denotes the progression of suicidal ideation, and the development from ideation to suicide attempts, are separate phenomena with distinct associations and explanations (Klonksy et al, 2016). The distinction is paramount; as approximately 71% of adults who experience suicidal ideation do not progress to a suicide attempt (Nock et al, 2008). This curates a common challenge to ascertain who is at highest risk of a suicide attempt, as ideation prevalence rates are high within the offending population, particularly those with mental health difficulties (Favril & O'Connor, 2019; Jenkins et al, 2005). Therefore, it is crucial to distinguish factors that pose an individual at risk of attempting suicide compared to solely suicidal ideation. This would be clinically relevant to improve risk assessment, identify individuals who may require a suicide assessment and tailor preventative intervention within this vulnerable population (Favril et al, 2020c).

There has been growing recognition of factors associated with ideation and enaction distinctly within the general population and recently custodial samples (Favril et al, 2020b), however research is limited within the offender population and to our knowledge this would be the first study of its kind to distinguish these differences within a probation sample. Findings can inform best practice regarding risk factors of relevance to assessing risk of suicide for individuals under community supervision, help identify individuals who may have vulnerabilities for suicidality, and supports the National Probation Service strategy (2019-2022) to improve the understanding and awareness of suicide risk (National Probation Service, 2019).

The current study

The aim of the study is to identify sociodemographic, criminogenic and clinical differences between men on probation who have; attempted suicide, experienced solely suicidal ideation and have not experienced suicidal thoughts or behaviour to identify individuals most at risk of a suicide attempt. The rationale to compare all groups is to account for the shared variance between suicide attempt and suicidal ideation (Favril et al, 2020c). Suicidal ideation is often the first stage of a subsequent suicide attempt, and therefore paramount to consider within risk assessment.

However, suicide attempts rarely occur without suicidal ideation, and variables associated with ideation can often masquerade as being associated with attempts (Favril et al, 2019; Klonksy et al, 2016). In conducting separate analysis, the independent contribution of suicide attempt risk factors can be more thoroughly established (Favril & O'Connor, 2019).

The second aim of the study was to develop a regression tool of risk factors identified as associated with a suicide attempt to improve the ability to identify riskbased vulnerabilities for suicide. It is proposed the tool can be used at the beginning of the care pathway to permit consideration of the compound effect of multiple vulnerabilities on an individual's potential risk of suicide.

Methodology

The sample consisted of 344 men supervised by London Community Rehabilitation Company (CRC); a privatised probation provider that worked with the National Probation Service. All participants were referred by their probation practitioner to mental health partnership worker St Andrew's Healthcare. People with mental health needs have been identified at increased risk of suicide within the probation population, and therefore the sample was deemed appropriate to identify individuals most at risk. All of the sample completed a mental health assessment with either a qualified, trainee or assistant psychologist, whereby suicide risk was assessed, and an Offender Assessment System (OASys) assessment completed by their probation practitioner that comprised independent variables. All assessments completed within 12 months prior to study commencement were analysed to identify participants.

To promote the rigour of results and their utility within the probation setting, participants were excluded from the study if their experience of suicidal ideation or attempt and occurred five years prior to data collection. Participants were also excluded from the study if they reported experiencing recent suicidal ideation (i.e.

within five years), however reported a historical suicide attempt (i.e. post five years). This was to ensure groups were mutually exclusive and promote validity of risk factors relevant for risk assessment. Participants were excluded from the study if there was not consent for their data to be utilised for research purposes, and if the suicide assessment had not been completed.

Ethics

Ethical approval was granted from St Andrew's Healthcare, MTC Novo (Probation Provider) and the University of Nottingham (Appendix F). All participants had provided consent for their data to be utilised for research purposes, and ethical approval was granted with the proviso that all data is anonymised so that all participants were not identifiable.

Measures

Outcome variable

The outcome variables are; suicidal ideation, suicide attempt; both occurring within five years prior to data collection, and no history of suicidal ideation or behaviour. Previous ideation-to-action research with general and custodial populations have considered lifetime history of suicidal ideation and attempts, however this design limits understanding regarding the temporal nature of these relationships (Favril & O'Connor, 2019). However, consistent with recent ideation-to-action publications in general and custodial populations (Favril et al, 2019; Wetherall et al, 2021), outcome groups were allocated based on questions similar to the British National Psychiatric Morbidity Survey (Jenkins et al, 2005), as routinely assessed and documented within St Andrew's Healthcare mental health assessment.

The British National Psychiatric Morbidity Survey consists of the following question; 'Have you ever thought of taking your own life, even though you would not actually do it?' and regardless to the answer, participants are also asked 'Have you ever made an attempt to take your life?'. Although these questions were not explicitly stipulated within the assessment, all participants were asked whether they had experienced suicidal ideation or a suicide attempt. Both questions were coded yes/no, and categorised participants in three mutually exclusive groups; participants without any suicidal history (i.e. control group), participants who have experienced suicidal ideation but never attempted suicide (i.e. ideation group) and participants who have acted on suicidal ideation and attempted suicide (i.e. attempt group). Follow-up questions clarify when ideation or attempt occurred.

Independent variables

OASys is a case management system used by probation to assess risk of harm and offence-related needs. It is completed on all offenders under probation supervision, other than individuals sentenced only with a community payback order (Cook & Borrill, 2013). OASys includes sociodemographic (i.e. age and ethnicity) and offending data (i.e. offence type and order type). In addition, probation probationers score individuals on specific questions, often inputted as a binary outcome of yes or no (i.e. 'are drugs currently used?), or scored between 0; no problems, 1; some problems, or 2; significant problems (i.e. experience of childhood). The tool obtains data regarding a range of variables, for example; mental health, relationships and substance misuse, and probation practitioners provide detailed evidence to support the rating score of each item. As per themes outlined in the systematic review, independent variables are grouped into sociodemographic (i.e. age), criminogenic (i.e. offence type), and clinical variables (i.e. the presence of mental health conditions).

Analysis

The analytical sample comprised of 314 men on probation with complete data on suicidal outcomes. Although data is not available to identify how many men are on probation supervision in London, as of March 2024 there were 145,377 men being supervised by probation in the community in England and Wales (Ministry of Justice

and HMPPS, 2024). Therefore, this sample is only representative of less than 1% of this wider population, hence findings should be interpreted with caution. 8 individuals (2%) were excluded from the study as responses on suicidal outcomes were missing, 21 participants (6%) were excluded as the reported experience of suicidal ideation or attempt did not occur within five years before data collection, and 1 participant (0.2%) was removed due to a missing OASys report. However, statistically significant differences were not noted between excluded and included participants. There was complete OASys data for all participants included in analysis.

Bivariate analyses compared 1. controls (N = 101) with individuals who experience suicidal ideation (N = 102), 2. controls (N = 101) with individuals who attempted suicide (N=111) and 3. individuals who experienced suicidal ideation (N=102) with those who experienced a suicide attempt (N=111). As some variables may be protective in nature, two-tail statistics were applied using non-parametric statistics for nominal data for each group. Therefore, a chi-squared analysis was conducted that utilised cross-tabulations to identify positive associations between variables and the high-risk group of either ideation or attempt. Continuous variables (i.e. age, multiple deprivation score, Kessler-6 distress score and alcohol audit score) did not demonstrate a normal distribution, and therefore a Mann Whitney-U test analysis was utilised. Continuous variables were also analysed as dichotomous variables, whereby a cut-off point was determined through assessment of distribution via a histogram. The rationale for additional analysis is to increase the applicability of the regression tool to be utilised as a means of identifying vulnerabilities to suicidality, and hence identify individuals who may require a suicide assessment. It is envisioned this would be utilised at the beginning of the care pathway to allow consideration of the compound effect of multiple vulnerabilities on an individual's potential risk of suicide.

A full OASys assessment was provided for each participant, of which consisted of 39 variables. Due to multiple testing and the number of chi-squared test carried out, a Bonferroni correction was utilised to adjust probability values due to the increased

likelihood of a type 1 error when conducting multiple statistical tests (Sedgwick, 2012). Therefore, only those associations reaching 99.9% confidence limit (p<0.001, two tailed) were noted and selected to be utilised in a binary logistic regression as independent variables. However, when bivariate analyses had fewer associations at p<.001, discretion was utilised to consider whether association had occurred by chance. For example, if a risk factor only demonstrated p<0.05 significance within control vs ideation analyses, however demonstrated p<0.001 significance within control vs attempt analysis, the variable was considered for secondary analysis. A missing values analysis indicated variables had less than 2% missing values for at least one item. Therefore, listwise deletion was utilised to manage missing cases for all variables and analyses (Favril et al, 2020c).

Regression tool development

Binary logistic regression is a multivariate statistical method whereby the expected values of the outcome variable; suicide attempt (1) or control (0), are identified based on values derived from independent variables, otherwise known as risk factors. The regression provides measures of strength of associations between the outcome and independent variables, and the enter method was utilised whereby all variables that demonstrated significance at <.001 level were entered into the tool (Frank & Harrell, 2015). A simple summation score was calculated on the sum of risk factors present for each individual and a cut-off score was established for the tool which provided the best separation of the two groups (i.e. individuals who did not experience suicidal ideation or attempt, and those who did attempt suicide). The efficacy of utilising a tool of independent variables to a population sample of men on probation to decipher between two groups within the sample (i.e. control and attempt group) can be determined through comparison of the actual observed outcome to the predicted categorisation of the same population based on the number, or score, of independent variables present in each case that are associated with the outcome variable (attempt or control). This can be presented with a

classification table (see Table 3) and contains measures that can describe the performance of the regression tool.

<u>Table 3:</u> Contingency classification table for predictive studies (amended from Leventhal, 1988)

Observed Incidences	Predicted Incidences								
	Control	Attempt	Actual Total						
	(Low risk)	(High risk)	Observed						
Control (Low risk)	(A)	(C)	(A + C)						
Attempt (High risk)	(B)	(D)	(B + D)						
Predicted total	(A + B)	(C + D)	Total N						

Leventhal (1988) proposed calculating performance characteristics of the regression tool as follows:

- Incidence of suicide attempt = (B + D)/N
- High Risk for suicide attempt = (C + D)/N
- Positive accuracy of tool = D/(C+D)
- Negative accuracy tool = A/(A+B)
- Risk Ratio (RR) = D/ (C + D) / B/ (B + A)
- Sensitivity = D/ (B+D)
- Specificity = A/ (A+C)

Results

Of the 314 participants whose data were included in the analysis, just over half of participants were of White ethnicity (56.2%). Participants age ranged from 19-69 ($\bar{x}36$, IQR=28, 46), and index of multiple deprivation scores generated from postcodes ranged from 1-10 ($\bar{x}4$, IQR= 2, 5), with lower scores indicating higher deprivation levels. Therefore, the majority of participants resided in more deprived areas (65.5%) and were aged between 19-39 (57.6%). Just over half participants were convicted of a non-violent index offence (56.4%), serving post-sentence supervision or a suspended sentence order (56.1%) as opposed to solely a community order, and 79.9% were identified at medium risk of harm instead of low.

The prevalence of suicidal ideation and attempt was 32.5% (N=102) (95% CI 24.7-29.5) and 35.4% (N=111) (95% CI 36.1-46.7) respectively. Of the 314 included participants, 32.2% (95% CI 24.5 – 29.2) were controls and therefore had no history of suicidal ideation or attempt. Further details on respondents' characteristics are presented in Table 4, stratified by outcome group (controls, ideation and attempt)

		Control group N (%)	Ideation group N (%)	Attempt group N (%)	Full Sample
		101 (32.2%)	102 (32.5%)	111 (35.4%)	314 (100%)
Age	19-39	63 (34.8%)	50 (27.6%)	68 (37.6%)	181 (57.6%)
	40 and above	38 (28.6%)	52 (39.1%)	43 (32.3%)	133 (42.4%)
	Average age	34 (18.3)	38 (18.5)	35 (13.8)	36 (28 <i>,</i> 46)
Ethnicity	White ethnicity	45 (25.6%)	57 (32.4%)	74 (42%)	176 (56.2%)
	Other than white ethnicity	55 (40.1%)	45 (32.8%)	37 (27%)	137 (43.8%)
Deprivation	Least deprived	39 (36.4%)	32 (29.9%)	36 (33.6%)	107 (34.5%)
	Most deprived	61 (30%)	69 (34%)	73 (36%)	203 (65.5%)
	Average score	4 (3)	4 (3)	3.5 (3)	4 (2, 5)
Offence Category	Non-Violence	60 (33.7%)	54 (30.3%)	64 (36%)	178 (56.7%)
	Violence	41 (30.1%)	48 (35.3%)	47 (34.6%)	136 (43.4%)
Order Type	Suspended Sentence or Post Sentence Supervision	59 (33.7%)	65 (37.1%)	51 (29.1%)	175 (55.7%)
	Community Order	42 (30.2%)	37 (26.6%)	60 (43.2%)	139 (44.3%)
Risk Of Harm	Low	18 (28.6%)	25 (39.7%)	20 (31.7%)	63 (20.1%)
	Medium	83 (33.1%)	77 (30.7%)	91 (36.3%)	251 (79.9%)

<u>Table 4:</u> Demographic variables stratified by outcome group*

*Values listed as N (%) for categorical variables and Median (IQR) for continuous

variables

Bivariate analyses

Control vs Ideation

Table 5 outlines bivariate analyses of variables and their association with suicidal ideation compared to the control group.

Sociodemographic variables

There were not significant differences regarding any sociodemographic variables between participants who reported suicidal ideation (n = 102, 50.2%) with those who reported no history of suicidal ideation or attempt (n = 101, 49.75%). 42% of individuals aged 40 and above were in the control group, and 58% of individuals within the ideation group respectively X^2 (1, N = 203) = 3.231, p = .055). A higher proportion of individuals with white ethnicity were in the ideation group (56%) compared to the control group (44%).

No significant differences were found in deprivation scores, with 53% of those habiting 'Most deprived' areas within the ideation group compared to 47% of the control group. 58% of individuals with no fixed address/unsuitable accommodation were in the ideation group compared to 42% within the control group X^2 (1, N = 203) = 3.231, p = .072).

Education level was not associated with suicidal ideation, with 57% of individuals with no educational or vocational qualifications beyond GCSE level in the ideation group, and 43% in the control group respectively. Similarly, there was not a significant relationship between source of income and problematic relationships with close family members or partner.

Criminogenic variables

There was not a significant relationship between control and ideation groups regarding any criminogenic variables. 54% of individuals that committed a violent offence were in the ideation group, compared to 46% of the control group. 47% of

participants on a community order were in the ideation group compared to 53% of the control group. Finally, a higher proportion of participants were identified at medium risk within the control group (52%), however, individuals who demonstrated pro criminal attitudes were mostly in the ideation group (54%).

Clinical variables

Participants within the ideation group were significantly more likely to have a mental health condition compared to controls X^2 (1, N = 203) = 12.92, p = <.001), and this was the only variable to meet the Bonferroni correction. A Mann Whitney-U test revealed controls had significantly lower distress scores (Z=-2.954, p=.003) and alcohol audit scores (Z=-2.70, p=.005) compared to the ideation group.

Three variables met significance at the .05 level in comparing differences between the control and ideation group. Participants who had experienced suicidal ideation were significantly more likely to have demonstrated binge drinking or excessive alcohol in the previous six months X^2 (1, N = 203) = 4.36, p = .037), use illicit substances (1, N = 203) = 5.28, p = .022), and have adverse childhood experiences X^2 (1, N = 203) = 5.36, p = .021).

60% of individuals with a physical condition were in the ideation group compared to 40% of the control group X^2 (1, N = 203) = 3.23, p = .072). Similarly, 60% of participants identified at risk of self-harm comprised the ideation group compared to 39% within the control group. Finally, there was not a significant relationship between control and ideation groups regarding current/pending psychiatric treatment.

	Catagori	Control (N = 101)		Ideation (N=102)		Total N	Chi Square Statistic	Drobobility
Variable	Category	Ν	%	Ν	%	- Total N	Value / Z score	
Age	19-39	63	56	50	44	113	3.67	.055
	40 and above	38	42	52	58	90		
	Mean rank		96		107	203	-1.23	.219
Ethnicity (White ethnicity)	No	55	55	45	45	100	2.39	.122
	Yes	45	44	57	56	102		
Deprivation	Least deprived	39	54	32	45	71	1.18	.278
	Most deprived	61	47	69	53	130		
	Mean rank		105		94	199	-1.49	.137
No Fixed Address or unsuitable	No	66	55	54	45	120	3.23	.072
accommodation	Yes	35	42	48	58	83		
Has educational or vocational	No	30	43	40	57	70	2.03	.154
	Yes	71	53	62	46	133		
Source of income (Employed/self-	No	81	50	81	50	162	.019	.889
employed	Yes	20	49	21	51	41		
Problematic relationship with close	No	57	52	52	53	109	.607	.436
family members	Yes	44	47	50	53	94		
Problematic relationship with	No	75	47	84	52	159	1.96	.162
partner	Yes	26	59	18	40	44		
Offence Category (Violence)	No	60	53	54	47	114	.861	.353
	Yes	41	46	48	54	89		
Pro criminal attitudes	No	54	54	46	46	100	1.42	.233

Table 5: Bivariate analyses results comparing suicidal ideation with controls

	Yes	47	46	56	54	103		
Order Type (Community order)	No	59	48	65	52	124	.602	.438
	Yes	42	53	37	47	79		
Risk of Harm (Medium)	No	18	42	25	58	43	1.36	.244
	Yes	83	52	77	48	160		
Binge drinking or excessive use of alcohol in last six months*	No	77	55	64	45	141	4.36	.037
	Yes	24	39	38	61	62		
Alcohol audit score**	No	77	56	60	44	137	6.04	.014
(Harmful use/possible dependency)*	Yes	21	37	36	63	57		
	Mean rank		86		108	194	-2.79	.005
Drugs used currently*	No	80	55	66	45	146	5.29	.022
	Yes	21	37	36	63	57		
Any mental health conditions***	No	47	67	23	33	70	12.92	<.001
	Yes	54	40	79	59	133		
Current/pending psychiatric	No	81	50	82	50	163	.001	.972
treatment	Yes	20	50	20	50	40		
Kessler-6 distress score**	No	52	53	47	48	99	.594	.441
(Significant distress)	Yes	49	47	47	52	104		
	Mean rank		89		114	203	-2.954	.003
Adverse experience of childhood*	No	58	58	42	42	100	5.36	.021
	Yes	43	42	60	58	102		
Risk of serious self-harm	No	90	51	85	47	175	1.42	.233
	Yes	11	39	17	60	28		
Any physical conditions	No	77	54	66	46	143	3.23	.072
	Yes	24	40	36	60	60		

+ Key: P = <.001***, P=<.01**, P = <.05 *

Controls vs Attempt

Table 6 outlines bivariate analyses of variables and their association with suicide attempt compared to the control group.

Sociodemographic variables

There was not a significant difference regarding the majority of sociodemographic variables between participants who reported a suicide attempt (N=111, 52.4%) with those who reported no history of suicide attempt, or suicidal ideation (N = 101, 47.6%). However, there were significantly more individuals with white ethnicity in the attempt group compared to the control group X^2 (1, N = 212) = 10.04, p = .002), although this did not meet the Bonferroni correction.

There were no significant differences regarding deprivation scores, despite 55% of those habiting 'Most deprived' areas belonging to the attempt group compared to 46% within the control group. 59% of individuals with no fixed address/unsuitable accommodation were in the attempt group compared to 41% of the control group.

Education level was not associated with the control group with 58% of individuals with no educational or vocational qualifications above GCSE level within the attempt group, compared to 42% within the control group. 61% of individuals who were employed/self-employed were within the control group, and 39% within the attempt group. Finally, there was not a significant relationship between control and attempt group regarding problematic relationships partner, however problematic relationships with close family members met significance at the .05 level X² (1, N = 212) = 4.76, p = .029).

Criminogenic variables

There was not a significant relationship between control and attempt groups regarding criminogenic variables of violent offending or risk of harm. 59% of participants serving a community order were in the attempt group compared to 41% within the control group X^2 (1, N = 212) = 3.29, p = .070). Finally, 59% of participants who demonstrated pro criminal attitudes were within the attempt group compared to 41% within the ideation group, however this was only significant at the .05 level X^2 (1, N = 212) = 4.07, p = .044).

Clinical variables

Six out of nine clinical variables met significance within the Bonferroni correction. Participants in the attempt group were significantly more likely than controls to demonstrate binge drinking or excessive alcohol use X² (1, N = 212) = 11.38 p = <.001), use illicit substances X² (1, N = 212) = 13.04 p = <.001), have mental health conditions X² (1, N = 212) = 27.86 p = <.001), pose risk of serious harm to themselves X² (1, N = 212) = 42.71 p = <.001) and have an adverse experience of childhood X² (1, N = 212) = 10.58 p = <.001). A Mann Whitney-U test demonstrated controls had significantly lower distress scores (Z=-3.62, p <.001), and alcohol audit scores (Z=2.67, p<.007) compared to the attempt group.

One clinical variable met significance at the .05 level in comparing differences between the control and attempt group. Individuals in the attempt group were more likely to have current/pending psychiatric treatment compared to controls X^2 (1, N = 212) = 5.54, p = .019). The only clinical variable to not demonstrate any significance was physical conditions, with 55% of individuals with a physical condition in the attempt group compared to 44% of the control group.

Mariahla	Catagon	Control (N = 101)		Attempt (N = 111)		Tatal N	Chi Square Statistic	Drobobility
Variable	Category	Ν	%	Ν	%		Value/Z-Score	Probability
Age	19-39	63	48	68	51	131	.028	.867
	40 and above	38	47	43	53	81		
	Mean rank	106		106		212	053	.958
Ethnicity (White ethnicity)**	No	55	60	37	40	92	10.04	.002
	Yes	45	38	74	62	119		
Deprivation	Least deprived	39	52	36	48	75	.809	.369
	Most deprived	61	46	73	55	134		
	Mean rank	113		98		209	-1.889	.059
No Fixed Address or	No	66	52	61	48	127	2.38	.123
unsuitable accommodation	Yes	35	41	50	59	85		
Has educational or vocational	No	30	42	31	58	71	1.24	.265
level	Yes	71	50	70	50	141		
Source of income	No	81	45	98	55	179	2.63	.105
(Employed/self-employed)	Yes	20	61	13	39	33		
Problematic relationship with	No	57	55	46	45	103	4.76	.029
close family members	Yes	44	40	65	60	109		
Problematic relationship with	No	75	50	76	50	151	.865	.352
partner	Yes	26	43	35	57	61		
Offence Category (Violence)	No	60	48	54	52	124	.067	.796

Table 6: Bivariate analyses results comparing suicide attempt with controls

	Yes	41	47	47	53	88		
Pro criminal attitudes*	No	54	55	44	45	98	4.07	.044
	Yes	47	41	67	59	114		
Order Type (Community	No	59	54	51	46	110	3.29	.070
Order)	Yes	42	41	60	59	102		
Risk of Harm	Low	18	47	20	53	38	.001	.970
	Medium	83	48	91	52	174		
Binge drinking or excessive use of alcohol in last six	No	77	56	60	44	137	11.38	<.001
months***	Yes	24	32	51	68	75		
Alcohol audit score **	No	77	54	66	46	143	6.46	.011
(Hazardous use/possible	Yes	21	34	40	66	61		
dependency)*	Mean rank	91		113		204	-2.674	.007
Drugs used currently***	No	80	56	62	44	142	13.03	<.001
	Yes	21	30	49	70	70		
Any mental health	No	47	76	15	24	62	27.86	<.001
conditions***	Yes	54	36	96	64	150		
Current/pending psychiatric	No	81	52	73	47	154	5.54	.019
treatment*	Yes	20	34	38	66	58		
Kessler-6 distress score***	No	52	58	38	42	90	6.44	.011
(Significant distress)*	Yes	49	40	73	60	122		
	Mean rank	91		121		212	-3.623	<.001
Adverse experience of	No	58	60	39	40	97	10.59	<.001
childhood***	Yes	43	37	72	63	115		
Risk of serious self-harm**	No	90	63	52	37	142	42.70	<.001
	Yes	11	33	59	84	70		
Any physical conditions	No	77	49	80	51	157	.478	.490

Yes 24 44 31 56 55

+ Key: P = <.001***, P=<.01**, P = <.05*
Ideation vs Attempt

Table 7 outlines bivariate analyses of variables and their association with suicidal ideation compared to the attempt group.

Sociodemographic variables

There was not a significant difference regarding sociodemographic variables between participants who reported suicidal ideation only (N=102, 47.8%) with those who reported a suicide attempt (N = 111, 52.1%). 55% of individuals aged 40 and above were within the ideation group, and 45% within the attempt group respectively X² (1, N = 212) = 3.22, p = .073). Likewise, a higher proportion of individuals with 'White ethnicity' were in the attempt group (57%), compared to the ideation group (44%).

There were no significant differences in deprivation scores, with 49% of those habiting 'Most deprived' areas within the ideation group compared to 53% of the attempt group. 49% of individuals with no fixed address/unsuitable accommodation were in the ideation group compared to 51% of the attempt group.

Education level was not associated with the ideation group with 49% of individuals with no educational or vocational qualifications beyond GCSE level in the ideation group, and 53% in the attempt group respectively. 62 % of individuals in the ideation group were employed/self-employed, compared to 38% within the attempt group X^2 (1, N = 212) = 3.12, p = .077). Finally, there was not a significant difference between control and ideation group regarding problematic relationships with close family members, however participants in the attempt group were more likely to have a problematic relationship with their partner compared to the ideation group at the .05 significance level X^2 (1, N = 212) = 5.48, p = .019).

Criminogenic variables

There was not a significant difference between ideation and attempt groups regarding criminogenic variables of violent offending or pro criminal attitudes. 54 % of medium risk participants were in the attempt group, compared to 46% within the ideation group. However, 62% of participants serving a community order were in the attempt group compared to 38% within the ideation group, of which demonstrated significance at the 0.01 level (1, N = 212) = 6.76, p = .009).

Clinical variables

Risk of serious harm to self was the only variable to demonstrate a significant difference between the ideation and attempt group X² (1, N = 213) = 30.83 p = <.001) that met the Bonferroni correction. Current/pending psychiatric treatment differed between ideation and attempt groups at the 0.05 level X² (1, N = 213) = 5.74 p = .017). Although 57% of participants with significant distress were in the attempt group, compared to 43% in the ideation group, this association did not meet significance X² (1, N = 213) = 3.11 p = .078). Similarly, although 55% of participants with mental health conditions comprised the attempt group compared to 45% of the ideation group, this did not meet significance X² (1, N = 213) = 2.96 p = .085). Therefore, there was not a statistically significant relationship between ideation and attempt groups regarding additional clinical variables of binge drinking or excessive alcohol use, use of illicit drugs, physical health conditions and adverse experience of childhood.

		Ideati	on (N=102)	Atten	npt (N=111)		Chi Square	
Variable	Category	Ν	%	Ν	%	Total N	Statistic Value/Z-Score	Probability
Age	19-39	63	56	68	58	118	3.22	.073
	40 and above	52	55	43	45	95		
	Mean rank		113		100	209	-1.58	.115
Ethnicity (White ethnicity)	No	45	55	37	45	82	2.61	.106
	Yes	57	44	74	57	131		
Deprivation	Least deprived	32	47	36	53	68	.043	.835
	Most deprived	69	49	73	51	142		
	Mean rank		106		103	208	343	.732
No Fixed Address or unsuitable	No	54	47	61	53	115	.087	.768
accommodation	Yes	48	49	50	51	98		
Has educational or vocational	No	40	49	41	51	81	.117	.732
qualifications above GCSE level	Yes	62	47	70	53	132		
Source of income (Employed/self-	No	81	45	98	55	179	3.122	.077
employed)	Yes	21	62	13	38	34		
Problematic relationship with close	No	52	53	46	47	98	1.95	.163
family members	Yes	50	44	65	57	115		
Problematic relationship with	No	84	53	76	48	160	5.48	.019
partner*	Yes	18	34	35	66	53		
Offence Category (Violence)	No	54	46	64	54	118	.479	.489

<u>Table 7:</u> Bivariate analyses results comparing suicidal ideation with suicide attempt.

	Yes	48	50	47	50	95		
Pro criminal attitudes	No	46	51	44	49	90	.649	.420
	Yes	56	46	67	55	123		
Order Type (Community Order)**	No	65	56	51	44	116	6.78	.009
	Yes	37	38	60	62	97		
Risk of Harm (Medium)	No	25	56	20	44	45	1.34	.246
	Yes	77	46	91	54	168		
Binge drinking or excessive use of	No	64	52	60	48	124	1.65	.199
alcohol in last six months	Yes	38	43	41	57	80		
Alcohol audit score	No	60	48	66	52	126	.001	.972
(Hazardous/possible dependency)	Yes	36	47	40	53	76		
	Mean rank	101		101		202	093	.926
Drugs used currently	No	66	52	62	48	128	1.74	.188
	Yes	36	42	49	58	85		
Any mental health conditions	No	23	60	15	40	38	2.96	.085
	Yes	79	45	96	55	175		
Current/pending psychiatric	No	82	53	73	47	155	5.74	.017
treatment*	Yes	20	34	38	66	58		
Kessler-6 distress score	No	47	55	38	45	85	3.11	.078
(Significant distress)	Yes	55	43	73	57	128		
	Mean rank		104		109	213	640	.522
Adverse experience of childhood	No	42	52	39	48	132	.823	.364
	Yes	60	45	72	55	132		
Risk of serious self-harm***	No	85	62	52	38	137	30.83	<.001
	Yes	17	22	59	78	76		
Any physical conditions	No	66	45	80	55	146	1.34	.247

Yes **+ Key**: P = <.001***, P=<.01**, P = <.05* 31 46 67

36

Multivariate analyses

Control v ideation

Bivariate analysis demonstrated one association significant with suicidal ideation at the <.001 level (presence of mental health condition), and two associations significant at the <.01 level (alcohol audit score and Kessler-6 distress score). However, variables identified as significant at the .05 level (i.e. binge drinking or excessive use of alcohol, illicit substance misuse, adverse experience of childhood) were significant within the control vs attempt bivariate analysis at the <.001 significance level. Therefore, we can deduce with increased confidence that significance did not occur by chance, and including variables significant at the .05 level increased the overall strength of the regression by 4%. Hence, these six significant variables remained in the binary logistic regression analysis via SPSS. Variables did not demonstrate collinearity and therefore were all included in the regression.

The six variables included were binge drinking or excessive use of alcohol in the last 6 months, alcohol audit score, experience of childhood, mental health conditions, illicit substance misuse and Kessler-6 distress score. The results of the logistic regression on the six independent variables are outlined in Table 8. Including alcohol audit score reduced the total sample size for the regression by 9 participants due to missing data. However, 194 participants exceeds the recommended minimum number of 50 subjects for a regression, and further strengthened the overall classification of the model by 3%.

<u>Table 8:</u> Results of logistic regression on six independent variables comparing controls with ideation

Binary logistic regression	(N= 194):	Variables in	the Equation –	Step 1.
----------------------------	-----------	--------------	----------------	---------

Risk Factor	В	S.E.	Wald	df	Sig.	Ехр	Lower	Upper
Variable						(B)		
Binge drinking or	.209	.395	.278	1	.598	1.232	.568	2.674
excessive use of								
alcohol in the last								
six months								
Adverse	.546	.322	2.881	1	.090	1.762	.919	3.243
experience of								
childhood								
Mental health	.852	.338	6.371	1	.014	1.072	1.210	4.543
conditions								
Illicit substance	.563	.352	2.553	1	.110	1.756	.880	3.503
misuse								
Kessler-6 distress	.070	.028	6.054	1	.014	1.072	1.014	1.134
score								
Alcohol audit	.036	.024	2.299	1	.129	1.037	.989	1.087
score								

Binary logistic regression indicates that mental health conditions (Wald = 6.371, p=.014) and Kessler-6 distress score (Wald = 6.054, p=.014) are significant independent variables of suicidal ideation at the .05 level. The odds ratio (OR) for mental health conditions is 1.072 (95% CI) and 1.072 (95% CI) for Kessler 6 distress score. The additional four independent variables of binge drinking or excessive alcohol use, adverse experience of childhood, illicit substance misuse and alcohol audit score did not remain significant.

The six-factor model correctly classified the outcome in 68% of cases (see Table 9). More specifically, the model correctly specified 64 of the 96 (66.7% specificity) who experienced suicidal ideation and was sensitive to 68 of the 98 (69.4%) who did not experience suicidal ideation. However, one in three (33.3%) of participants within the ideation group were classified incorrectly, resulting in 32 false positives. Similarly, 30 participants in the control group were incorrectly classified (30.6%), resulting in 30 false negatives.

		Predicted incidence	S
Observed	Control (Low	Ideation (High	Actual total
incidences	Risk)	Risk)	
Control	68 (69.4%)	30 (30.6%)	98
Ideation	32 (33.3%)	64 (66.7%)	96
Predicted total	100	94	194

<u>Table 9</u>: Accuracy of logistic regression 6-factor model in classifying individuals who experienced suicidal ideation (N=194)*

*68% correct classification

Control v attempt

Table 10 illustrates variables that demonstrated significant associations (p<.001) with the attempt group compared to the control group, and hence were entered for binary logistic regression analysis via SPSS. All variables met the Bonferroni correction in bivariate analysis and did not demonstrate collinearity within the regression model.

The six variables included were binge drinking or excessive use of alcohol in the last 6 months, experience of childhood, mental health conditions, illicit substance misuse, risk of self-harm and Kessler-6 distress score. The Kessler-6 distress score was categorised as low and significant distress to increase the applicability of the model being utilised as a model in probation practice to possibly identify individuals at risk

of a suicide attempt. The results of the logistic regression on the six independent variables are outlined in Table 10.

<u>Table 10:</u> *Results of logistic regression on six independent variables comparing controls with attempt*

Binary logistic regression (N= 212): Variables in the Equation – Step 1.

Risk Factor	В	S.E.	Wald	df	Sig.	Exp (B)	95% CI f	or
Variable							Exp(B)	
							Lower	Upper
Binge drinking	.761	.359	4.506	1	.034	2.141	1.060	4.323
or excessive								
use of alcohol								
in the last six								
months								
Adverse	.470	.348	1.825	1	.177	1.599	.809	3.160
experience of								
childhood								
Mental health	1.373	.394	12.159	1	<.001	3.949	1.825	8.646
conditions								
Illicit	.811	.361	5.056	1	.025	2.250	1.110	4.563
substance								
misuse								
Risk of self-	1.707	.399	18.348	1	<.001	5.513	2.254	12.039
harm								
Kessler-6	.494	.347	2.031	1	.154	1.639	.831	3.234
distress score								
(Significant								
distress)								

Binary logistic regression indicates that binge drinking or excessive use of alcohol (Wald = 4.506, p=.034) and illicit substance misuse (Wald = 5.056, p=.025) were significant independent variables of suicide attempt at the .05 level. The odds ratio (OR) for binge drinking or excessive alcohol use is 2.141 (95% CI 1.060-4.323) and for illicit substance misuse is 2.250 (95% CI 1.110-4.563). Whereas, risk of self-harm (Wald = 18.348, p=<.001) and mental health conditions (Wald = 12.159, p=<.001) were significant independent variables of suicide attempt that met the Bonferroni correction. The odds ratio for risk of self-harm is 5.513 (95% CI 2.524-12.039) and for mental health conditions is 3.949 (95% CI 1.925-8.546). The additional two independent variables of Kessler-6 distress score and adverse experience of childhood did not remain significant in the regression.

The six-factor model correctly classified the correct outcome in 77.4% of cases (See Table 11). More specifically, the model correctly specified 88 of the 111 (79.3% specificity) who attempted suicide and was sensitive to 76 of the 101 (75.2%) who did not experience a suicide attempt. However, one in five (20.7%) of participants within the attempt group were incorrectly classified, resulting in 23 false positives. Similarly, 24.7% participants in the control group were classified incorrectly resulting in 25 false negatives. If alcohol audit score and ethnicity were included in the model, the correct classification of cases is reduced from 79.3% to 76.8%.

		Predicted incidence	S
Observed	Control (Low	Ideation (High	Actual total
incidences	Risk)	Risk)	
Control	76 (75.2%)	25 (24.7%)	101
Attempt	23 (20.7%)	88 (79.3%)	111
Predicted total	99	113	212

<u>Table 11</u> : Accuracy of logistic regression 6-factor model in classifying participants who attempted suicide (N=212)*

77.4% correct classification*

Tool to identify vulnerabilities to suicidality

To develop a tool that could identify risk based vulnerabilities to suicidality and indicate individuals that may require a suicide assessment, a simple summation technique was implemented whereby the number of risk factors are totalled for each participant, with a minimum score of 0 and a maximum score of 6. Therefore, each risk factor was assigned a score of 1 if present and 0 if absent. The effectiveness of the tool was subsequently tested to determine whether scores could discriminate between individuals who did not experience suicidal thoughts or behaviour (low risk) versus individuals who did attempt suicide (high risk). The simple summation scores replaced the original data and a total score was developed for each participant. Figure 4 illustrates the total tool score summed for each participant derived from the amount of risk factors present. The totals were then compared in relation to outcome (control or attempt) to establish an effective cut-off point score to distinguish between the two groups. The established cut of score was 3 or more. <u>Figure 4:</u> Tool scores of the number of risk factors present in those individuals who experienced a suicide attempt compared to individuals who had not attempted suicide (N=212).



This 6-factor tool (with a cut-off score of 3 or more) was found to correctly identify 76.4% of cases. For low-risk participants (who did not experience suicidal thoughts or behaviour), 70.3% were correctly classified and correctly specified and 29.7% were false positives (incorrectly classified). For high-risk individuals (who attempted suicide), the tool was sensitive to 82% of cases and 18% were false negatives (incorrectly classified). Overall, 23.5% of individuals were incorrectly classified, therefore approximately one in five individuals were incorrectly classified, as demonstrated in Table 12. <u>Table 12</u> Classification table demonstrating the accuracy of a six-risk factor tool with a cut-off score of 3 or more to classify individuals who attempted suicide $(N=212)^*$

		Predicted incidenc	es
Observed	Control (Low	Ideation (High	Actual total
incidences	Risk)	Risk)	
Control	71 (70.3%)	30 (29.7%)	101
Attempt	20 (18%)	91 (82%)	111
Predicted total	91	121	212

*76.4% correct classification of (a) binge drinking or excessive alcohol use, (b) adverse experience of childhood, (c) mental health conditions, (d) illicit substance misuse, (e) risk of self-harm and (d) Kessler-6 distress score (significant distress), compared to those who did not attempt suicide.

From Table 12 the performance of the six-variable tool was determined following instructions outlined within the methods section for calculating the operating characteristics of the tool

- Incidence of suicide attempt = (B + D)/N = 52.4%
- High Risk for suicide attempt = (C + D)/N = 57.1%
- Positive accuracy of 6-factor tool = D/ (C + D) = 75.2%
- Negative accuracy of 6-Factor tool = A/ (A + B) = 78%
- Risk Ratio (RR) = D/ (C + D) / B/ (B + A). = 3.42
- Sensitivity = D/ (B+D) = 82%
- Specificity = A/ (A+C) = 70.3%

The performance statistics could be improved by weighting risk factors, for example, a strong risk factor scores 3, a medium risk factor scores 2, and a weak risk factor

remains at score 1. A broader range of scores could increase the ability to decipher between the two groups (control or attempt), and increase the specificity of the tool. However, the current tool fulfils the majority of reasonable criteria (sensitivity = 60%, positive accuracy = 25% and specificity = 90%) as outlined by Levennthal (1988; p.156). The risk ratio indicates that the high-risk group are 3.42 times more likely to attempt suicide compared to the low-risk group. Although these findings strengthen the validity of the tool, it is imperative the tool is used at the beginning of the care pathway to permit consideration of the compound effect of multiple vulnerabilities on an individual's potential risk of suicide, as opposed to being used as a tool to predict suicide; as per NICE guidelines (NICE, 2022).

Ideation vs attempt

Bivariate analysis demonstrated only one association significant at the <.001 level (risk of serious self-harm), and one association significant at the <.01 level (order type – community order). However, when these variables were utilised in the regression model in conjunction with variables significant at the <.01 level within control vs attempt analysis, the strongest model to identify an individual who had attempted suicide was found. As variables identified at .05 significance did not meet Bonferroni correction in other analyses, they were not included in the regression model, as we could not deduce with confidence this did not occur by chance.

The nine variables included (see Table 13) were binge drinking or excessive use of alcohol in the last 6 months, experience of childhood, mental health conditions, illicit substance misuse, risk of self-harm, alcohol audit score and Kessler-6 distress score. Additional variables of order type (community order) were added due to its significance at the 0.01 level, and ethnicity group was added due to its significance at the 0.01 level within control vs attempt, and its insignificance in control vs ideation bivariate analysis. These additional two variables strengthened the strength of the model's ability to identify attempt cases by 9%, and overall strength by 2%. The Kessler-6 distress score and alcohol audit score were categorised as dichotomous variables to increase the applicability of the model being used as a model in probation to identify individuals at risk of a suicide attempt. The categorisation was low and significant distress, and low risk and hazardous alcohol use/possible dependency.

<u>Table 13:</u> *Results of logistic regression on nine independent variables comparing*

ideation with attempt

Risk Factor Variable	В	S.E.	Wald	df	Sig.	Exp (B)	95% CI 1	for
							Exp(B)	
							Lower	Upper
Binge drinking or	.140	.363	.148	1	.701	1.150	.564	2.342
excessive use of								
alcohol in the last								
six months								
Adverse experience	.027	.337	.337	1	.937	.974	.503	1.883
of childhood								
Mental health	.479	.416	1.327	1	.249	1.615	.715	3.648
conditions								
Illicit substance	.429	.331	1.681	1	.195	1.535	.803	2.935
misuse								
Risk of self-harm	1.721	.363	22.459	1	<.001	5.535	2.744	11.398
Kessler 6 distress	.391	.328	1.426	1	.232	1.479	.778	2.811
score (Significant								
distress)								
Alcohol audit score	.399	.370	1.163	1	.281	.671	.325	1.386
(Hazardous/possible								
dependency)								
Ethnicity (White)	.297	.333	.797	1	.372	1.346	.701	2.583
Order type	.840	.326	6.625	1	.010	2.317	1.222	4.393
(Community Order)								

Binary logistic regression (N= 202): Variables in the Equation – Step 1.

Binary logistic regression indicates that Order Type (Community) (Wald = 6.625, p=.010) was significant at the .05 level. The odds ratio (OR) for Order Type (Community) is 2.317 (95% Cl 1.22-4.393). Whereas, risk of self-harm remained

significant at the <.001 level. The odds ratio (OR) for risk of self-harm was 5.535 (95% CI 2.744-11.398).

The nine-factor model correctly classified the outcome in 69.8% of cases (See Table 14). More specifically, the model correctly specified 71 of the 106 (67% specificity) who attempted suicide and was sensitive to 70 of the 96 (73%) who experienced suicidal ideation but did not progress onto a suicide attempt. However, 33% of participants within the attempt group were classified incorrectly, resulting in 35 false positives. Similarly, 27% participants in the ideation group were incorrectly classified resulting in 26 false negatives, as demonstrated in Table 14.

<u>Table 14</u>: Accuracy of logistic regression nine-factor model in classifying participants who attempted suicide compared to suicidal ideation $(N=202)^*$

		Predicted incidenc	es
Observed	Control (Low	Ideation (High	Actual total
incidences	Risk)	Risk)	
Ideation	70 (73%)	26 (27%)	96
Attempt	101	101	212
Predicted total	101	101	212

*69.8% correct classification

Discussion

The study analysed OASys data from 314 male participants to explore sociodemographic, criminological and clinical differences between men on probation who have; attempted suicide, experienced solely suicidal ideation and have not experienced suicidal thoughts or behaviour, and to develop a tool that could identify risk-based vulnerabilities to suicide. Results outlined a six-factor tool that can be utilised as a simple summation tool for probation professionals to identify individuals who may possess vulnerabilities for suicide and require further assessment. In addition, the tool can be used at the beginning of the care pathway to monitor the effect of multiple vulnerabilities on an individual's potential risk of suicide. The 6factor tool (with a cut-off score of 3 or more) correctly identified 70.3% of low-risk participants (controls, who did not experience suicidal ideation or suicide attempt) and 82% of high-risk participants (who attempted suicide). Overall, 23.5% of individuals were incorrectly classified, therefore approximately one in five individuals were incorrectly classified.

The study found the following 6 risk factors could distinguish those who attempt suicide from those who did not report suicidal ideation nor suicide attempt. The first two risk factors accounted for a vast proportion of the power, and therefore are important vulnerabilities to consider. The remaining risk factors are listed in descending power.

- Risk of self-harm
- Mental health conditions
- Illicit substance misuse
- Binge drinking
- Adverse experience of childhood
- Kessler-6 distress score >13 (significant distress)

Overall, these variables were the only risk factors that met the Bonferroni adjustment for significance when comparing controls and individuals who had attempted suicide. The tool indicates if an individual has 3 or more of the above 6 risk factors, then they may be 80% more at risk. Interestingly, these were the only variables to demonstrate significance when comparing controls with individuals who experienced suicidal ideation, albeit only at 0.05 significance. This finding perhaps indicates when these risk factors are more prevalent, they increase the likelihood of transcending from suicidal ideation to suicide attempt. However, this contrasts previous research that indicates risk factors for suicide can often be more associated with suicidal ideation as opposed to attempt (Favril & O'Connor, 2019; Favril et al, 2020c).

Risk of serious harm to self demonstrated the most power in the tool, and was the only variable to meet Bonferroni significance when comparing ideation and attempt groups. This indicates risk of self-harm as a pertinent risk factor for transcending from suicidal thoughts to suicide attempt. The presence of mental health conditions was the only variable in the tool to meet Bonferroni significance when comparing control and ideation groups, hence further illustrating its pertinence as a risk factor and highlighting the importance of mental health intervention to reduce suicidal ideation before it transcends to an attempt.

A simple summation tool was developed with a scoring system of 1 for each risk factor present (see Table 15). This tool can be used to identify vulnerabilities to suicidality and indicate to practitioners individuals who may require a suicide assessment and can be used throughout supervision sessions to assess the compound effect of multiple vulnerabilities on an individual's potential risk of suicide over time.

Risk factor variable	Score 1 if present
Minimum score: 0	
Maximum score: 6	
Risk of serious harm to self	
Mental health conditions	
Current illicit substance	
Binge drinking within last 6 months	
Adverse experience of childhood	
Kessler-6 distress score >13	
Total	

Table 15 Risk factor tool for men on probation at increased risk of suicide

The results compliment findings outlined within the systematic review; whereby clinical risk factors demonstrated strong association with a suicide attempt. Specifically, psychiatric disorder, illicit substance misuse, psychological distress and childhood abuse were identified as risk factors for suicide amongst all papers that utilised these variables (Brooker et al, 2021; Candarelli et al, 2014; Cook & Borrill et al, 2013; Gunter et al, 2011; Haglund et al, 2014; McCullumsmith et al, 2013; Yu & Sung, 2015a; 2015b), and this study further supports these findings. White ethnicity also demonstrated significance with suicide attempt at the 0.01 level, of which compliments systematic review findings (Cook & Borrill, 2013; Gunter et al, 2011; McCullumsmith et al, 2013; Phillips et al, 2018). Conversely, psychiatric treatment only demonstrated significance at the 0.05 level when comparing controls with attempt and ideation versus attempt group. This could be a result of low prevalence of individuals identified as taking psychiatric treatment within the sample as a whole, which was only 24%. Furthermore, alcohol misuse was not a prevalent risk factor within the systematic review, however this variable was captured less across studies. Despite this, alcohol dependence has been identified as a risk factor for individuals who attempted suicide in community corrections (McCullumsmith et al, 2013) and associated with probation staff's judgements regarding suicide risk (Cook & Borril, 2013).

Consideration of findings in the wider context of their relationship to practice, theory and the population of interest

Clinical variables feature heavily as risk factors for suicidal outcomes. This reinforces the well documented link between mental health and suicide risk, particularly in CJS populations (Webb et al, 2011) and further compounds the need for integrated mental health services within probation, whereby individuals could access specialist interventions and risk of harm to self could be more thoroughly assessed (Graney et al, 2020). Another key finding is the association between binge drinking, illicit substance use and suicidal behaviour. Substance and alcohol misuse can function as a form of coping (Najavitis et al, 2017), however can impair wellbeing and judgement and increase the likelihood of suicide attempts (Galway et al, 2015). For probation practice, this highlights the need for effective alcohol and substance misuse intervention and harm reduction programmes integrated within the probation service.

The findings also underscore the role of adverse childhood experiences as a significant factor contributing to suicidal ideation and attempts, aligning with a wealth of research that demonstrates the lasting effects of early trauma on adult mental health (McKay et al, 2020). This is particularly relevant to people on probation, whereby many of whom come from backgrounds marked by abuse, neglect and family dysfunction (Kim et al, 2016). The findings further highlight how probation services need to be trauma-informed; ensuring that interventions not only address immediate risks of current behaviours, but also consider the long-term impact of childhood adversity. Finally, in light of the Kessler-6 distress and alcohol audit score being associated with suicidal behaviour; these are practical tools that could be integrated into routine probation assessments, alongside the six-factor tool that could be used to identify vulnerabilities to suicide that could be assessed over time. However, it is imperative the tool is used at the beginning of the care pathway to permit consideration of the compound effect of multiple vulnerabilities on an individual's potential risk of suicide, as opposed to being used as a tool to predict suicide; as per NICE guidelines (NICE, 2022)

Theory

Integrated Motivational-Volitional Model of Suicide (IMV Model; O'Connor et al, 2011)

The IMV model (O'Connor et al, 2011) views suicide as progressing through three key phases: pre-motivational, motivational, and volitional. The pre-motivational phase involves background vulnerability factors, such as adverse childhood experiences and mental health issues; both of which were significantly associated with suicidal ideation and attempts in this study. The motivational phase focuses on the

emergence of suicidal thoughts where coping skills and interpersonal stressors can become critical. Although not formally measured, the findings indicate that those experiencing high distress were more likely to exhibit suicidal outcomes; and hence may not possess coping skills to regulate distress (Panos et al, 2013). Finally, in the volitional phase, individuals move from ideation to behaviour. This transition is guided by moderators such as impulsivity, access to means, and prior self-harm. Although access to means was not captured in the study, risk of harm to self was significantly associated with suicide attempts, as was binge drinking and substance misuse; of which has been associated with impulsivity (Moeller & Dougherty, 2002).

Interpersonal Theory of Suicide (ITS; Joiner, 2005).

The ITS (Joiner; 2005) proposes that two key experiences; thwarted belongingness and perceived burdensomeness contribute to the desire for suicide, while the capability for suicide enables attempts, such as; habituation to pain and fearlessness about death. The study's findings of significant associations between adverse childhood experiences, substance use, and suicidal outcomes may reflect these concepts. Specifically, adverse childhood experiences have been associated with thwarted belonginess and perceived burdensomeness (Bhargav & Swords, 2022). Whereas, the increased risk of suicide attempts in individuals with binge drinking, substance misuse and self-harm histories could align with the concept of acquired capability; which posits that exposure to painful or provocative experiences lowers the fear of death, thereby increasing the likelihood of a suicide attempt (Baer et al, 2019; Hyum et al, 2015). Finally, problematic relationships and homelessness could exacerbate feelings of social disconnection; thwarted belongingness, and has been associated with individuals viewing themselves as a burden to society or loved ones (Chu et al, 2017).

Three-Step Theory of Suicide (3ST; Klonksy et al, 2015).

Three-Step Theory of Suicide (Klonksy et al, 2015) posits that suicide develops through three steps: pain and hopelessness, connectedness, and capability for

suicide. The first step involves experiencing psychological pain and hopelessness, a concept supported by the study's findings linking distress (measured by Kessler-6 scores) and mental health conditions to both ideation and attempts (Conejero et al, 2018). The second step of connectedness asserts that suicidal individuals will not attempt suicide if they retain a sense of meaningful connection to others (Klonsky, 2015). While this study did not directly measure connectedness, it did identify significant associations between problematic relationships and suicidal outcomes, suggesting that disrupted or dysfunctional connections may play a role in the suicidal pathway (Siddaway et al, 2015). The final step, involving capability for suicide, was supported by the finding that individuals at risk of self-harm or with a history of substance use were more likely to attempt suicide. Both self-harm and substance use can desensitize individuals to pain and increase their capability for enacting suicidal behaviours (Baer et al, 2019) consistent with 3ST.

Limitations

Although female gender has been identified as a risk factor for suicide within the systematic review, regrettably data on women was not obtained for the study due to a small number of women engaged in the service, and therefore lack of statistical power. Another limitation of the study is that suicidal outcomes were examined during a five-year period. This therefore limits assertions about the temporarily of observed associations (Favril et al, 2020c). However, as this is the first study to our knowledge to identify significant differences between those who think about suicide, and those who act on those thoughts amongst those serving a probation order, the findings can form a basis for future prospective research that can precisely report the sequence of every independent variable and outcome (Favril et al, 2020c).

Outcome variables were reliant on self-report data, of which may be susceptible to social desirability and recall bias, and suicidal outcomes were determined by a singleitem assessment. Although this design is frequently utilised in custodial studies (Jenkins et al, 2005), and similar ideation-action research (Wetherall et al, 2021), the approach could bias rates of suicidal outcomes as a result of misclassification (Favril

& O'Connor, 2019). The majority of independent variables were also assessed by binary outcomes, as opposed to psychometrically validated scales, and may be subjective to probation practitioners' judgement and limits regarding what participants may wish to disclose. Finally, these findings may not be generalisable for men on probation who are not engaged with a mental health service, are high risk of harm to others, or who die by suicide; as differences have been demonstrated between nonfatal and fatal suicide attempts (Favril et al, 2020b).

As the study only included men who are already receiving mental health support and are categorised as low or medium risk, the study fails to incorporate key groups; such as high-risk individuals, those not receiving mental health support and women. This denotes a sampling bias, whereby the findings are not generalisable to the broader population of men on probation. Furthermore, men who are high risk are likely to have different, more pervasive stressors and vulnerabilities that could increase suicide risk (Scott et al, 2022). Regrettably, this could not be captured in the study as the service was based within Community Rehabilitation Companies, of which supervised low-medium risk offenders. Therefore, the results may underestimate the overall prevalence of suicidal ideation and attempts within the probation population, and implications recommended from the findings are not comprehensive in addressing the suicide prevention needs of all men on probation, particularly those with more complex or severe needs. In addition, individuals in need of mental health support, and not receiving it, are likely to be at considerable risk for suicide (Tang et al, 2022), however they were not captured in the study. As a result, the findings could overlook critical risk factors associated with suicide in the probation population. Furthermore, there could be confounding effects of only including men who are receiving mental health support; as these individuals may be receiving interventions that could reduce their suicide risk. Therefore, it is imperative that findings from the study are held within the context that this support is being received, and may not reflect the experiences of those without such support.

Implications for practice and future research

A large prospective study examining suicide in probation that utilises the ideation-toaction model would be beneficial to identify interventions in probation services to reduce suicide rates (Brooker et al, 2021). The study should obtain key clinical variables outlined within the study and systematic review, such as; illicit substance misuse, psychiatric diagnosis and self-harm risk. As self-harm was scarcely utilised as a variable in previous studies regarding suicide risk in probation settings, conflated with its strong association with suicide attempt in this study, it is highly recommended further research is completed regarding this association. It is also recommended the Kessler-6 measure of distress is reintroduced to OASys assessments due to its significant association with suicide attempt.

It would be beneficial for suicide attempts to be formally recorded on probation records so this data can be easily obtained, and risk management protocols can be adhered to. This would also enable further verification of a suicide attempt beyond self-report. It is recommended the proposed tool could be validated on a larger sample, and perhaps compare individuals on probation who are; high risk of harm to others, not engaged with a mental health service, and women, to ascertain whether further differences exist. Finally, trends elicited in this study should be considered for further research, such as; psychiatric medication and relationships with partner and family members. Results indicate that being a community order significantly differentiated individuals who thought about suicide with those who attempted suicide, albeit at .01 level, and therefore further research should incorporate these individuals. Finally, alcohol use should be utilised as an independent variable where possible.

Conclusion

This study supports the use of risk factors to identify vulnerabilities to suicidality. However, as the study is retrospective in nature, the validity of the regression tool should be treated with caution. The tool can be utilised as a means of identifying risk-based vulnerabilities for suicide and ascertaining individuals who may require a suicide assessment. It is recommended to be used at the beginning of the care

pathway, to permit consideration of the compound effect of multiple vulnerabilities on an individual's potential suicide risk. However, the applicability of the 6-factor tool for men on probation who are high risk of harm to others, not engaged with a mental health service, and indeed, women, may be in question regarding its reliability and validity. Despite this, the tool can translate directly into practice as it utilises variables routinely assessed by probation, and to our knowledge this is the first study to identify differences between those who experience suicidal ideation and a suicide attempt amongst those serving a probation order. **Chapter Four:** Assessment, formulation and intervention of suicide risk for a man on probation: A single case study.

<u>Abstract</u>

Objectives: The Case Study sought whether Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT; Beck & Beck, 2020) and Dialectical Behavioural Therapy (DBT; Linehan, 2014) informed intervention was effective in reducing suicidal ideation for a male on probation, and whether the proposed suicide tool identified in Chapter Three identified proposed vulnerabilities for suicidality

Methods: This case study formed part of recommended treatment for Client X; a 19year-old man of White British ethnicity who has an established diagnosis of depression and bulimia (World Health Organisation, 2019). Client X was serving a Community Order for possession of a bladed article and Class B drugs, and was referred to a mental health partnership service for assessment and intervention. The intervention was guided by referral information, assessment and formulation, and Client X engaged in 12 intervention sessions that incorporated Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT; Beck & Beck, 2020) and Dialectical Behaviour Therapy (DBT; Linehan, 2014) skills.

Results: Client X engaged well and demonstrated progress throughout intervention. However, progress was somewhat hindered by physical health difficulties. Therefore, although post-intervention assessment demonstrated improvement in targeted problem areas, the case study posits wider considerations regarding holistic care beyond psychological intervention.

Conclusions: Although outcomes are helpful for the field of suicide prevention, there is still much work to be completed regarding, treatment evaluation and research to reconceptualise suicide prevention treatment specifically for individuals on probation.

Ethical considerations

The case study is an account of an assessment, formulation and treatment delivered for a person on probation who was referred to a mental health partnership service assessment and intervention. Although the intervention has been compiled as a case study to fulfil the of the Forensic Psychology Doctorate, it fulfilled the client's recommended treatment pathway. The work was discussed with the client's Probation Practitioner, Psychology team members at the service, and supervised by a Forensic Psychologist throughout. The client provided informed consent for the intervention to be utilised as a case study. Please see Appendix G for Client X's consent form.

Note to the reader

Assessment, formulation, and intervention were completed by the author. The following sources of information were corroborated to inform the case study: the author's clinical notes and written reports, consultation with the Probation Practitioner and clinical supervision.

The client will be referred to as Client X throughout the case study to maintain confidentiality.

Background

Person on Probation

Client X is a 19-year-old man of White British ethnicity who has an established diagnosis of depression and bulimia (World Health Organisation, 2019). The index offence (IO) was Client X's first conviction. Client X was convicted for possession of an article with a blade or point in a public place and possession of Class B drugs, and received a Community Order of 18 months. Offender Assessment System (OASys) reports indicate that Client X was purchasing illicit substances before being apprehended by the police.

Client X disclosed a suicide attempt via means of overdose at age 16, a history of self-harm intermittently since age 15 and reported experiencing fleeting thoughts of suicidal ideation twice a week at the time of assessment. He disclosed suffering with bulimia for approximately three years, and being prescribed medication for depression; of which he reported non-compliance with for three months at the time of referral. Client X previously engaged with Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAHMS) at age 15, following the onset of the eating disorder, however had not received any other prior psychological intervention. Finally, Client X experienced ongoing physical health concerns regarding his stomach and digestion.

Referral process

The service is a third sector mental health partnership service that was commissioned by Community Rehabilitation Companies (CRC) to provide psychological assessment and intervention for adults supervised by probation. Client X provided consent to be referred to the service for assessment and intervention after he presented with elevated levels of distress, as indicated by the Kessler Psychological Distress Scale (K6; Kessler et al, 2002).

An initial qualitative interview assessment was completed to identify presenting problems and develop a formulation and intervention plan. The aim of intervention was to formulate Client X's experience of suicidal ideation, anxiety and depression with exploratory focus on emotional dysregulation as a potential contributory factor. The second aim was change oriented to incorporate skills practice to manage and reduce the presence of identified presenting problems and therefore overall risk of a subsequent attempt.

The case study permits consideration of whether the intervention utilised for Client X could be considered for the wider probation population in light of suicide prevention intervention. Furthermore, in light of the thesis as a whole, consideration was permitted to risk factors that were present with Client X, and whether the proposed tool developed in the previous chapter would successfully identify vulnerabilities for suicidality. Beyond risk factors, the case study posits consideration regarding the lived experience of a person on probation who has attempted suicide in relation to existing ideation-action theories.

Therefore, the following questions were proposed:

- Is Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT; Beck & Beck, 2020) and Dialectical Behavioural Therapy (DBT; Linehan, 2014) informed intervention effective in reducing suicidal ideation for a male on probation?
- 2. Would proposed suicide tool successfully identify vulnerabilities for suicidality?
- 3. How does the lived experience of a person on probation who has attempted suicide complement existing ideation-action theories?

Suicidal ideation within the probation population: prevalence and definition

The following section aims to provide an overview of the definition and prevalence of suicidal ideation within the probation population. Research regarding theory of suicidal ideation is limited when considering individuals on probation, however of benefit to consider in light of possible functions that could inform formulation and subsequently intervention planning. Treatment of suicide risk for individuals on probation will contribute to intervention and formulation, and therefore is outlined in Section 3 alongside evidence-based research and intervention utilised for Client X. There is a lack of universally accepted consistent definition for suicidal ideation (SI), of which can evoke challenges for clinicians and researchers, as suicidal ideation is operationalised differently, causing difficulties in comparing findings. For example, some SI definitions encompass suicide planning, however others identify planning as a separate stage. Despite this, SI appears to occur in a 'waxing and waning manner' (p2; Harmer et al, 2023), therefore the characteristics and extent of characteristics may oscillate, and it is imperative SI is conceptualised for its heterogenous nature. For the purpose of the case study, SI was operationalised as any suicidal ideas or thoughts, of which encompassed a scope of preoccupations, wishes or contemplations with suicide and death (Harmer et al, 2023), as discussed and agreed with Client X.

As demonstrated throughout the thesis, studies repeatedly demonstrate how individuals on probation demonstrate increased risk of suicide death (Sattar, 2003). However, when we consider SI specifically, Pluck & Brooker (2014) found that 30% of individuals on probation reported experiencing suicidal ideation at a point in their life. Furthermore, a seminal study regarding suicide of individuals on probation reported that approximately a third experience suicidal ideation (Akehurst et al, 1995). However, it has been found that there is a small percentage of individuals in custody who disclose suicidal ideation to professionals (Slade et al, 2014), and therefore this finding is likely an underestimate.

The three-step theory (3ST) is an ideation-action theory of suicide (Klonsky et al, 2015). Step 1 indicates that pain, typically psychological, combined with hopelessness causes suicidal ideation. When life is aversive, painful or miserable, this can encourage a desire to evade life. Furthermore, if an individual feels hopeless that pain can be alleviated with effort or time, focus may begin to shift onto attempting suicide (Klonsky et al, 2018). Specifically, step 2 of the model indicates that ideation

intensifies when pain surpasses feelings of connection, meaning or purpose. The final step proposes that ideation transcends into action once capacity is gained to attempt suicide. This could include dispositional contributors, such as; low fear of death, acquired contributors, such as; habituating to fear and pain involved in selfinflicted violence, and finally, practical contributors, such as access to lethal means (Klonsky et al, 2018).

Regarding the probation population, the presence of SI has been found to reflect feelings of hopelessness (Chin & Holden, 2013), maladjustment and life stressors (Fizpatrick et al, 2007; Yu & Sung, 2015a). In addition, individuals who experience SI often demonstrate illicit substance misuse, high unemployment rates, depression and a history of suicide attempts (Yu & Sung, 2015a; 2015b). Although insight regarding correlates of suicide informs suicide understanding and prevention, it is important to understand personal motivations for suicidal ideation or attempts when tailoring intervention for an individual (Klonsky et al, 2018). If we can identify the motivation for an attempt, or the function of SI, we can explore alternative solutions that may reduce overall suicide risk. Beyond the individual, such knowledge may help inform the development of suicide intervention and prevention programmes.

Assessment, analysis and formulation

A review was conducted of Client X's OASys report and consultation was conducted with their probation practitioner to familiarise the author with Client X's background and possible problems that could contribute to the function of suicidal ideation, offending behaviour and mental health difficulties.

Qualitative clinical interview, file review and intervention sessions were utilised to obtain precise details and history of Client X's suicide risk; including any previous attempts, experience of suicidal ideation and self-harm. Subsequently, assessment

measures and qualitative clinical interview were completed to collate relevant information to inform formulation and intervention plan.

Beck Anxiety Inventory (BAI; Beck et al., 1988)

The BAI consists of 21 items that measure anxiety severity. Each item is rated, using a 4-point scale: 0 (not at all) to 3 (severely) (Beck et al, 1988). The total raw-score sum across all 21 items indicates severity of anxiety, ranging from 0 to 63. The BAI has been widely used in forensic, clinical, non-clinical populations, and has high internal consistency reliability demonstrated (α =.92; Beck et al, 1988) and good test re-test reliability (ICC = .75; Beck et al, 1988) with a sample of outpatients. Furthermore, the tool has good content validity with generalised anxiety disorder (.85) and significantly correlated with other measures of anxiety, such as; The Hamilton Anxiety Rating Scale – Revised (.51; Riskind et al 1987) with a clinical sample.

Client X scored 22, of which indicates the presence of moderate anxiety at the time of assessment. Specifically, Client X reported feeling severely affected by the following item: fear of the worst happening, and moderately bothered by the following items; numbness or tingling, wobbliness in legs, feeling dizzy or lightheaded, feeling faint/lightheaded and face flushed. Therefore, catastrophising and managing physical symptoms were considered key areas to address within the intervention plan.

Beck Depression Inventory-II (Beck et al, 1996)

The BDI-II consists of 21 items on a 4-point scale from 0 (symptom absent) to 3 (severe symptoms), and includes symptoms regarding the DSM-IV criteria for major depression (Beck et al, 1996). The total raw-score sum across all 21 items ranges from 0 to 63 with higher scores indicate greater symptom severity. BDI-II internal consistency has been reported at α .92 and test-retest at .82 amongst a sample of outpatients (Beck et al, 1988). With respect to convergent validity of the BDI-II, it is reported to be positively related to the Hamilton Psychiatric Rating Scale for

Depression (r =.71; Steer et al, 1987) of which has been positively associated to depression (Trajković et al, 2011).

Client X scored 44, of which indicated the presence of severe depression at the time of assessment. Specifically, Client X reported experiencing feelings of pessimism, loss of pleasure, self-dislike, loss of interest, loss of energy, changes in appetite, tiredness or fatigue and suicidal thoughts. Major depressive disorders are a common comorbid diagnosis in patients with eating disorders (Becker et al, 2014), and therefore could partially explain elevated scoring.

CORE-34 Clinical Outcome Measure (CORE-OM; Evans et al, 2002)

The CORE-OM is a global measure of distress to assess therapeutic outcomes (Evans et al, 2002). Client X responded to 34 questions regarding how they have been feeling over the last week, using a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (not at all) to 5 (most of the time). The items incorporate the following dimensions: subjective well-being, problems/symptoms, life functioning, and risk/harm, producing an overall score called the global distress score. Internal consistency has been reported at α = .94 amongst a clinical sample and the tool has demonstrated good convergent validity ranging from .63-.85 (Evans et al, 2002).

Client X's global distress score was 2.08, of which was above average comparative with a male clinical sample (Core System Group, 2002). Client X reported experiencing distress specifically in relation to problems (i.e. symptoms), subjective well-being and risk to self. Thus, specifically reporting distress in relation his experience of anxiety and depression, feeling overwhelmed and pessimistic regarding the future. In addition, the scale indicated that Client X experienced thoughts such as 'it would be better if I were dead' and had experienced thoughts of hurting himself.

Depression, Hopelessness and Suicide Scale (DHS; Mills & Kroner, 2004)

The DHS was developed to screen for the presence of depression, hopelessness, and indicators of risk for suicide (Mills & Kroner, 2000). It is a 39-item instrument that requires true or false responses, with greater scores indicating a increased likelihood of the presence of measured concepts. Internal consistency is reported as good (α =.90) amongst a prison sample (Mills & Kroner, 2000) and the scale has demonstrated to be strongly related to the Beck Depression Inventory (.71; Beck et al, 1988) and Beck Hopelessness Scale (.63; Beck et al, 1974) amongst an offender sample. Furthermore, the tool has demonstrated a significant correlation with the Beck Hopelessness Scale (Beck et al, 1974) regarding suicide criteria amongst an offender sample (.21). and significant correlations with prior self-harm and suicide attempts (Mills & Kroner, 2000).

Client X scored 15 for the depression scale and 6 for hopelessness, with are above average when comparing with male offender means (Mills & Kroner, 2000). Therefore, Client X reported thoughts and feelings associated with failure, sadness and disappointment, a lack of energy, difficulties sleeping and loss of appetite. As Client X had elevated scores on all scales, this demonstrates a preoccupation with bodily aches and pains and physical symptoms (Mills & Kroner, 2000). However, these symptoms can be related to physical illness that reflect symptoms consistent with depression (Mills & Kroner, 2004), of which Client X reported. Client X also demonstrated being distrustful of others and expressed a low opinion of self. Regarding suicide indicators, Client X scored 1 for Cognitive Suicide Indictors (i.e. cognitive permissiveness of suicide as an option; Mills, 2004), 4 for Historical Suicide Indicators, and 1 for Current Ideation Indicator. This included, but was not limited to; 'I have had serious thoughts of suicide in the past, 'my situation is hopeless' and 'I have intentionally hurt myself'.

Formulation

In Client X's OASys it indicated that Client X reported carrying a knife for his own protection, as he often felt unsafe when alone and outside. This indicates that his threat response may be overactive, and therefore a CBT formulation was used.
Furthermore, from initial qualitative interview it was hypothesised that suicidal ideation may have been utilised as a form of coping. Therefore, a CBT formulation assisted in understanding the association between thoughts, feelings and behaviours of interest.

Formulations comprised of the 5 P's model (Weerasekera, 1996) and a longitudinal CBT case formulation (Beck, 1979) that enabled a cross-sectional component to consider thoughts, feelings, behaviours and physical sensations. See Appendix H and I. This felt appropriate due to physical sensations featuring heavily on Client X's psychometric scoring. Furthermore, use of the longitudinal formulation assisted in permitting attention to links associated with underlying beliefs, and patterns of thinking and behaving (Beck, 1979).

Presenting problem

The problematic behaviour of interest was identified as the presence of suicidal ideation, anxiety and depression. Client X disclosed a single suicide attempt at age 16, self-harm via means of cutting six months prior to assessment and fleeting thoughts of suicidal ideation occurring twice a week. Therefore, he could be at risk of harm to self (Baca-Garcia et al, 2011). He identified the onset of self-harm and suicidal ideation occurring at a similar time to the onset of his eating disorder at 15 years old. In addition, Client X carried a knife and was arrested for possession of a bladed article and possession of Class B drugs. It is proposed therefore that lack of emotional regulation skills may have increased reliance on maladaptive coping mechanisms.

Predisposing factors

Client X reported a turbulent relationship with his father throughout his childhood. He disclosed being the victim of physical abuse and witnessed domestic violence against his mother; both perpetrated by his father. He disclosed witnessing his father use crack cocaine at age 6, and recalled vivid memories of finding his father unconscious and feeling fearful and panicked he had died. These experiences may have promoted feelings of being under threat, unprotected, and hence disrupted attachment security (Bowlby, 2012). As Client X lacked stable early caregivers, he may have found it difficult to learn and develop healthy coping strategies to manage his emotions. Furthermore, exposure to likely overdose and violence at a young age may have promoted normalisation of these means as a form of coping.

Client X described often trying to impress his dad to gain his approval, however often felt let down, 'not good enough' and as though his mum did not intervene. It is hypothesised this may have perpetuated a lack of a sense of being cared for, validated and protected may have prevented Client X developing a positive view of himself or a capacity to understand and manage his emotions. Hence, possibly experiencing emotions as overwhelming and resorting to maladaptive coping strategies such as suicidal ideation and self-harm. Furthermore, as he was distrustful of his caregiver and felt unsafe in the family home, this could have contributed to beliefs that he cannot rely on others for support.

Client X frequently truanted from school and misused substances in early adolescence. This may have developed as a result of him feeling uncontained with a lack of boundaries and possibly safety. Client X's use of substances could have also resulted in an increased exposure to contexts in which he might have to resort to violence, and hence increased reliance on the need for a physical weapon; as seen in the context of the IO. Furthermore, truanting from school was understood as a means of escapism to isolate himself as a form of protection.

Precipitating events

Client X reported being bullied at the start of secondary school regarding his weight, and identified this as a contributory factor of the onset of his eating disorder. This experience may have perpetuated feelings of low self-esteem and worthlessness, and is likely to have further contributed to the presence of self-harm, suicidal ideation and suicide attempt via overdose of which occurred at a similar time (Brausch & Gutierrez, 2009). A recent meta-analysis found victimisation from bullying increases the odds of suicidal ideation and behaviour by approximately 2-4 (Holt at el, 2015). Subsequently, Client X reported self-harming to relieve distress and self-punish, and this may have provided an opportunity to externalise his emotions towards himself as the perceived cause of distress and habituated fear and pain regarding self-inflicted violence (Klonsky et al, 2015). Furthermore, Client X reported experiencing rumination and catastrophising thoughts, and identified how suicidal ideation provided comfort he could escape from pain (Klonksy et al, 2016).

Client X reported hiding his emotions to protect his mother, not eating and exercising excessively, and self-harming routinely prior to the suicide attempt. He also experienced stressors from bullying and failing academically and feelings of hopelessness. At this time, Client X reported feeling unsafe and uncared for and was self-isolating and truanting school; and therefore, likely felt a lack of connection with others. Joiner et al's (2005) interpersonal theory identified thwarted belongingness and perceived burdensomeness as interacting to promote desire for suicide, and the role of hopelessness is well documented within the suicide pathway (Abramson et al, 1989; Klonsky et al, 2016).

Client X disclosed being robbed at knife point approximately six months prior to the IO, and reported a subsequent increase in suicidal ideation and self-harm. Client X reported experiencing emotional and psychological pain following being violently mugged of which curated feelings that felt intolerable to manage. Therefore, perhaps pain was viewed as inescapable whereby suicide presented as an option to alleviate distress (Klonsky et al, 2016). This can be understood as attentional fixation (Wenzel et al, 2009), whereby an individual experiences difficulties problem-solve problems that cause deep emotional pain. He reported feeling overwhelmed and depressed, and had thoughts such as 'I am a burden' and 'people would be happier without me'. These thoughts reflect feelings of hopelessness, and may indicate a consequence of a lack of problem solving and beliefs activated related to negative expectations (Matthews, 2013).

Client X shared distressing memories of bystanders onlooking and not intervening to help during the mugging, and it appears this event increased anxiety, low mood, suicidal ideation and resorted in him using a knife for protection. It is hypothesised this experience, conflated with adverse early life experiences, may have promoted feelings of helplessness and cemented the belief that he cannot rely on others for his own protection (Fowler et al, 2013). Consequently, Client X reported feeling hypervigilant and unsafe when alone and outside, and therefore possession of a knife perhaps supported him to feel 'in control' of his own safety. Finally, Client X reported core beliefs such as: 'I will never not be depressed' and rules for living such as; 'I can never trust anyone, no one will protect me'. These cognitive processes appeared to further trigger suicidal ideation.

Perpetuating factors

Client X reported feeling unsafe without external protection, whether that be from a weapon or primary care givers. As Client A reported not carrying a weapon, he appeared to have further adopted physical isolation as a further coping mechanism to soothe a sense of feeling a lack of control and being unprotected by others. However, isolation may have prevented adaptive ways of coping and strengthened the core belief that the world is unsafe.

Client X presented as ambivalent regarding his need for medication and altering his cannabis use. Cannabis use can exacerbate symptoms of anxiety and depression, yet also be used as a form of self-medication (Wallis et al, 2022), of which Client X identified with the latter. Therefore, he presented as unmotivated to alter his cannabis use. However, cannabis smoking has been found to increase the risk of suicide ideation and attempt in young people aged 11 – 21 years (Fresán et al, 2022), and medication alongside CBT is recommended when anxiety and depression scores are severe (National Institute for Health Care and Excellence, 2011). Therefore, psychoeducation on cannabis use and medication compliance was considered in intervention planning.

As Client X identified experiencing comfort when considering suicidal ideation as a 'way out', it is proposed that perhaps suicidal ideation was utilised as a coping mechanism. Suicidal ideation, and expressive acts of suicide, could have functioned as communicating distress, although it appeared to provide Client X an opportunity to escape life stressors and avoid dealing with difficult circumstances (Mathew & Nanoo, 2013). However, reliance on suicidal ideation as a means to cope can prevent opportunities to learn adaptive ways of coping and address areas in life that may be contributing to low mood and hopelessness.

Protective factors

Client X reported a supportive relationship with his mum, of which helps him 'think more clearly'. At the time of intervention, he engaged well with his probation practitioner, and presented as motivated to address mental health difficulties. He reported not actively self-harming throughout intervention, nor did he plan a suicide attempt. Client X is also a young adult at 19, and prompt access to psychological services following the onset of depressive symptoms can promote more effective treatment outcomes (Davey & McGorry, 2019).

Intervention

Theoretical background to treatment and links with formulation

Intervention to manage suicide risk recommends a collaborative, non-judgemental approach to develop a strong therapeutic rapport and collaboratively developing an intervention plan (Jobes, 2006). Therefore, it felt important to identify Client X's treatment goals, of which are surmised below:

- 1. Reduce anxiety
- 2. Improve mood
- 3. Reduce suicidal thoughts

Suicidal thoughts and behaviours have been reported as difficult to treat, with a lack

of gold-standard treatment (Harmer et al, 2023). Hence, few evaluation studies exist, let alone for community-based programmes for male offenders. Despite this, some interventions have demonstrated some evidence in reducing suicidal thoughts and behaviours.

Dialectical behaviour therapy (DBT; Linehan, 1993) is a multimodal treatment that was originally developed for individuals with self-harm and suicidal behaviours, and incorporates behavioural and acceptance-based strategies (Klonsky et al, 2016). DBT draws attention to how self-harm and suicide are perceived as a means of coping with emotional suffering through means of escapism, and over time can become an automatic response (University College London, 2023). Therefore, suicidal behaviour can be understood as a problem-solving technique to alleviate negative emotional arousal, and indicates low capacity for emotional regulation and distress tolerance (University College London, 2023). Client X reported feeling overwhelmed during his experience of suicide attempt and self-harm, and DBT aims to improve capacity for self-regulation and tolerance of distress.

Cognitive-Behavioural Therapy (Beck & Beck, 2020) is recommended to explore suicide as resulting from an individual's sense of hopelessness and dysfunctional automatic thoughts (Klonsky et al, 2015). Therefore, suicide is also identified as a problem-solving solution. In the instance of Client X, this is to escape pain. It is proposed to address hopelessness and challenge the belief that the client's situation cannot improve, through introducing evidence that challenges their core beliefs. Furthermore, attention can be paid to thought patterns that exacerbate distress and reduce capacity for more rational decision making and skills can be incorporated for self-soothing to reduce attentional fixation and physiological arousal (University College London, 2023). This enables attention to be shifted to decrease the intensity of distressing emotions and hence reduce the likelihood of suicidal behaviour. The intervention aimed to explore automatic thoughts and regulation difficulties that may underlie core beliefs such as 'I will never not be depressed', 'No one will protect me' and 'the world is unsafe'. Emotion regulation techniques, such as; identifying

and disrupting negative thoughts were incorporated with the use of homework and worksheets. The intervention therefore conceptualised carrying a weapon, isolation and suicidal ideation as a learnt behaviour and maladaptive coping mechanisms for Client X. Furthermore, intervention considered the relationship between thoughts, feelings and behaviour and how to regulate overwhelming emotions (University College London, 2023).

In conclusion, under close supervision and discussion with Client X, it was decided a CBT informed treatment that incorporated DBT skills would be suitable to address Client X's treatment goals. The intervention permitted exploration of alternative coping skills to manage triggering events and reduce the presence of anxiety, low mood and suicidal ideation as a hypothesised coping mechanism.

Intervention overview

Client X attended 15 sessions; three of which were pre and post assessment sessions. Each session was facilitated by the author and was one hour in duration. The intervention was tailored to the goals of Client X, and incorporated CBT and DBT techniques with a focus on emotional regulation. The aim was to manage difficult emotions triggered by distressing situations, and increase awareness of thoughts, feelings and behaviours associated with feelings of anxiety, depression and suicidality. The intervention also incorporated CBT and DBT based skills to help Client X learn ways of coping with triggers to tolerate anxiety and depression and reduce reliance on maladaptive coping mechanisms, such as; self-harm and suicidal ideation. Due to the time frame of the intervention, it felt appropriate to utilise DBT informed work that incorporated skills that are both acceptance and change-focused (Koerner, 2013), as opposed to comprehensive DBT.

Unfortunately, research regarding the treatment of men on probation with increased suicide risk is limited (Sirdfield et al, 2020). However, aforementioned research regarding treatment efficacy for suicide risk in general population was consulted.

Beyond this, the below resources were utilised to develop intervention alongside discussions with Client X regarding what he found helpful.

- Formulation: Collaborative formulation helped Client X to reflect on factors that have increased his vulnerability and make sense of thoughts, feelings and behaviours associated with presenting problems.
- Psychology Tools (Psychology Tools, 2020). The resource was utilised for worksheets to manage presenting problems, for example; to identify triggers, thought challenging exercises and psychoeducation regarding pros and cons of cannabis use and medication compliance.
- 3) Specific dialectical behaviour therapy (DBT) techniques for working with people who self-harm or are suicidal (University College London, 2023). The resource was helpful to identify CBT and DBT informed techniques that have demonstrated relevance and efficacy for reducing suicidal ideation.
- 4) Mental health partnership Living Skilfully Group intervention: Resources were adapted from the STAH group intervention to incorporate relevant DBT skills.
- 5) Supervision: Supervision with a qualified forensic psychologist was held on a weekly basis throughout the facilitation of therapy. Supervision session assisted development of the intervention structure, and therapeutic content and process were reflected upon.

Intervention did not follow strict modules, although was integrative in its approach. Therefore, approaches overlapped and were often informed by what Client X brought to the session, and some aspects featured more heavily throughout intervention. For example, CBT formulation to identify thoughts, feelings and behaviours associated with relevant triggers were often explored, and then appropriate skills were considered in relation to how Client X could have responded differently. Furthermore, we reflected on Client X's experience of suicidal ideation and instances leading to the IO and suicide attempt. This helped to increase insight and understanding regarding the function of both suicidal ideation and offending behaviour, and permitted consideration of how to reduce risk of future perpetration and suicide attempt. Each intervention component is briefly outlined below, and examples of materials utilised are attached in labelled appendices.

- Psychoeducation: Psychoeducation regarding suicidal ideation, depression and anxiety, such as; what they are, and cycles that can perpetuate their presence. This also included information regarding the stress response, the bio-psycho-social model, and pros and cons of cannabis use and medication compliance.
- 2. CBT: Incorporation of CBT enabled opportunities to challenge hopeless automatic negative thoughts regarding demonstrated core belief that the world is unsafe and address personalised goals. CBT incorporated identifying triggers, cognitive distortions, current coping mechanisms, and indicators that Client X may be at increased suicide risk. CBT incorporated techniques to manage feelings of hopelessness with the aim to improve problem solving to prevent reliance on maladaptive coping mechanisms.
- 3. DBT: DBT was incorporated as alternative coping mechanisms, such as; mindfulness and distress tolerance skills.
- Signposting: As Client X had physical health difficulties, and was not accessing his prescription for anti-depressants, his GP was contacted to initiate a repeat prescription of psychotropic medication and access an eating disorder specialist. See Appendix J.

Therapeutic process

To develop trust within the therapeutic relationship, it is proposed the therapist should enquire regarding what led the client to feel like suicide was the only option with the purpose of gaining understanding (University College London, 2023). Client X was forthcoming regarding discussing suicidal ideation, however at times lacked some insight regarding triggers of the onset of the suicide attempt. I considered whether there was some resistance to discuss these in detail, and therefore did not push Client X to reflect on this incident if he presented as resistant. Although discussing suicide has been found to not increase suicide risk, and can even reduce suicidal ideation (Dazzi et al, 2014), I was mindful this could be re-traumatising or distressing in nature. I believe my hesitation may have been compounded by Client X's young age, and perhaps that I viewed him as vulnerable and was mindful of his general sense of feeling unprotected. Therefore, perhaps I felt a need to protect Client X. However, I further reflected on whether this was helpful within supervision, and how this could perpetuate his view of helplessness.

Results

Client X demonstrated steady progress across intervention, and reported qualitative improvements in treatment goals. In light of pre and post intervention improvements, some changes are illustrated via statistical change in pre and post assessment measures. Whereas, other improvements are based on observation, or inferred from his self-report, presentation and attitude.

Psychometrics

Pre and post psychometrics demonstrate improvements in wellbeing and functioning that could be attributed to psychological intervention. As section 2 outlines details regarding psychometric assessment measures, hence forth will discuss findings and interpretation of these measures. See Table 16 for comparative psychometric results pre and post intervention.

Client X's score on the BAI and BD-II decreased post-intervention, of which indicates a reduction in severity of anxiety and depression symptoms. However, the change in scores pre and post intervention were not significant in relation to the reliable change index (Beck et al, 1996; Beck et al, 1998). It is proposed Client X gained skills to better regulate symptoms of anxiety and depression, and furthermore managed triggers in a more adaptive manner to reduce the onset and degree of the presence of symptoms. It is of note that although Client X's BDI-II scores indicate an improvement, the score still indicates the presence of severe depression. However, it is proposed this could be indicative of Client X's eating disorder and ongoing physical health difficulties, of which were not directly targeted in intervention.

Despite this, results indicated Client X was more hopeful regarding his future and experienced less feelings of self-loathing and worthlessness.

Client X's score on the DHS demonstrate a reduction in depression, hopelessness and suicidal ideation and cognitive indicators. However, scores still demonstrated elevated depression and hopelessness scores. It is of note, however, as outlined with the BDI-II, that some symptoms may reflect symptoms of physical illness and eating disorder. Despite this, Client X's answers reflected he felt more hopeful for the future, denied suicide as an option for the future, and agreed his life was worth living. Therefore, despite depression and hopelessness scores being elevated, hopelessness scales had the most significant improvement. Furthermore, the critical item checklists encompass historical suicide indicators, and therefore would not demonstrate change over time.

Finally, Core-34 indicates a reduction in risk to self and others, and less distress related to subjective functioning, symptoms and wellbeing. Specifically, there was the most reduction in the symptom and risk sub-scales, however these did not demonstrate statistically significant change within reliable change index (Evans et al, 2002). Despite this, Client X reported feeling less despairing, less panicked and more able to complete important tasks. In addition, scoring indicated a reduction in thoughts associated with self-harm and suicidal ideation.

Observations

Observations by the author were only completed once a week during intervention, of which demonstrates a limitation of the case study. However, his PP reported that Client X presented with improvements in mood, a reduction in anxiety and increased compliance with unpaid work. Client X's post treatment feedback indicate he was highly satisfied with the intervention, and he reported progress in his ability to manage emotions, deal with problems and confidence to use skills acquired in intervention. See Appendix K. Client X self-reported a reduction in incidents of suicidal ideation and self-harm, as supported by psychometric scoring

		Pre-Intervention		Post intervention	
Psychometric	Subscale	Score/ Percen tile	Interpretation	Score/ Percentile	Interpretation
Beck Anxiety		22	Modorato	15	Mild
Inventory		22	Moderate	15	IVIIIU
Beck					
Depression		44	Severe	30	Severe
Inventory					
Depression	Depression	15	Above average	10	Above average
Hopelessness	Hopelessness	6	Above average	4	Above average
Suicide Scale	Cognitive	1		0	
	Historical	4		4	
	Ideation	1		0	
CORE-34	Well-being (W)	2	Below average	1.5	Below average
	Problems or	2.4		2	Dela
	Symptoms (P)	2.4	Above average	2	Below average
	Functioning (F)	1.8	Below average	1.2	Below average
	Risk (R)	2.3	Above average	1.3	Below average
	All items	2.08	Above average	1.5	Below average

<u>Table 16</u>: Comparative Pre and Post Psychometric Assessment Results

Discussion

Overall, Client X demonstrated a reduction in anxiety, depression, and suicidal ideation, of which was reflected in psychometric scoring, presentation and selfreport more broadly. Therefore, although there is a lack of gold-standard treatment for suicide prevention (Harmer, 2023), let alone within the probation population, results are promising for the efficacy of CBT and DBT informed intervention for reducing suicidal ideation amongst the probation population. However, it is imperative each case is formulated individually to compose an intervention plan. Results are also supportive of utilising CBT and DBT informed intervention to improve emotional regulation amongst the probation population, which in turn could reduce reliance on maladaptive coping mechanisms of self-harm and the presence of suicidal ideation also as a symptom of depression.

The case study illustrates how intervention reduced feelings of hopelessness and the presence of suicidal ideation, of which there is an established significant relationship found in forensic and general population samples (Chin & Holden, 2013; Yu & Sung, 2015a). Therefore, it is proposed hopelessness is an important feature to consider when formulating the presence of suicidal ideation or associated risk behaviours. Furthermore, life stressors have demonstrated association with the presence of suicidal ideation (Fitzpatrick et al, 2007), and in this instance encouraged suicidal ideation to transcend into a suicide attempt. Therefore, emotional regulation intervention can further assist to help manage associated stressors and hence reduce the likelihood of suicidal thoughts or behaviours as a form of coping.

The case study could be improved by utilising a formal measurement regarding the incidence of suicidal ideation, or perhaps using a formal psychometric such as the Beck Suicide Scale (Beck et al, 1988). Not only would this have supported intervention to gain further insight into the severity and frequency of suicidal ideation, but it would have promoted more rigorous results in determining whether

intervention was successful in reducing the frequency of suicidal ideation and would have enabled formal tracking of self-harm and suicidal thoughts or behaviours.

The findings from the case study support the three-step theory (3ST) of ideationaction, whereby Client X associated feelings of psychological pain and hopelessness with feelings of suicidal ideation (Klonksy et al, 2015). Furthermore, when discussing his previous suicide attempt, he identified how pain experienced felt somewhat insurmountable and the prospect of taking his own life appeared as a solution for pain to be alleviated. It is of note at the time of the attempt, Client X was highly isolated, not attending school, and reported a lack of meaning and purpose, of which further supports the theory regarding sense of thwarted belongingness and perceived burdensomeness. Client X also engaged in self-harm via means of cutting, of which could have habituated his fear and pain regarding self-inflicted violence, and was able to acquire means to attempt suicide through acquiring medication to attempt to overdose (Klonksy et al, 2015).

The previous thesis chapter developed a proposed tool to identify vulnerabilities for suicidality. If we were to apply the tool to Client X, he would be identified at increased risk of a suicide attempt as he scored above 3. This further supports the validity of the tool, as we know Client X attempted suicide prior to intervention. However, further validity and reliability of the tool should be tested on a larger probation sample. See Table 17 for Client X's completed tool that utilised data from his OASys assessment, however ideally the tool should be utilised throughout supervision to consider the compound effect of multiple vulnerabilities on an individual's potential risk of suicide.

Table 17: Client X's completed proposed regression tool

Risk factor variable	Score 1 if present
Minimum score: 0	
Maximum score: 6	
Risk of serious harm to self	0
Mental health conditions	1
Current illicit substance	1
Binge drinking within last 6 months	0
Adverse experience of childhood	1
Kessler-6 distress score >13	1
Total	4

The use of the tool within the case study highlights subjectivity within the OASys assessment process. For example, his OASys indicates there are no problems regarding concerns of risk of serious harm to self. Although this may reflect Client X's presentation at the time of assessment, he has a historical suicide attempt, previous self-harm and current suicidal ideation. Therefore, one could argue perhaps 'risk of harm to self' should be indicated as present. However, this further illustrates the flexibility of the tool, and its importance of being utilised in real-time by probation practitioners. Either way, the tool may demonstrate effectiveness in identifying vulnerabilities to suicidality, of which has been demonstrated in this case study.

As with any single case study, the findings from this case may not be representative for other individuals on probation and therefore cannot account for variability demonstrated in larger populations. Client X's specific diagnoses (i.e. depression and bulimia), his demographic background (19 year old White British male), and his single, non-violent offence create a narrow context that may not apply to others with different profiles. Client X served a community order, which is a relatively less restrictive punishment compared to being on license. This context could positively influence the effectiveness of the intervention by reducing stressors associated with license conditions and prison environment that could exacerbate suicidal ideation (Scott et al, 2022). Furthermore, Client X is only 19 years old and only has been convicted of one offence, and therefore is likely not to reflect the experiences of those with more complex criminal histories, repeat offences, or violent crimes and additional mental health conditions. These factors could significantly affect the individual's mental health, risk of suicidal ideation and responsiveness to intervention (Webb et al, 2013). Finally, Client X being white British may limit relevance of findings for individuals from different ethnic or cultural backgrounds; as there will likely be difference in how individuals experience mental health, access support and respond to interventions (Hamai et al, 2005).

Consideration of findings in the wider context of their relationship to practice, theory and the population of interest

Client X's outcomes underscore potential effectiveness of targeted psychological interventions within probation settings, and further strengthen the argument made throughout the thesis regarding the value of embedded psychological services within probation to reduce suicidal outcomes. Effective mental health care not only reduces distress for the individual, but may also reduce the likelihood of reoffending or engaging in harmful behaviours, supporting wider goals of probation services (Lamberti, 2016). Furthermore, Client X's report of feeling able to manage his emotions and problems more effectively could indicate a growing sense of empowerment. This is a critical outcome for probation clients, who often feel disempowered by the CJS (Larson Sawin & Zehr, 2016). Although there was a lack of statistically significant changes, the reductions in symptoms of anxiety, depression and hopelessness, alongside Client X's self-report and observed improvements reflect meaningful progress. However, the persistent presence of severe depression, as reflected in Client X's psychometric scoring, highlights a challenge of working with clients who have complex overlapping issues, such as; mental health disorders, eating disorders and physical health problems in the case of Client X. Therefore, it is crucial to recognise that although psychological interventions can address certain

aspects of distress, underlying health conditions may require further specialised treatment. Therefore, liaison with healthcare practitioners is imperative, alongside a holistic approach to intervention and supervision. People on probation face unique barriers to accessing and engaging with healthcare services (Brooker et al, 2020), and therefore may require additional support accessing these services.

Theory

The Integrated Motivational-Volitional Model (IMV; O'Connor et al, 2011) The IMV (O'Connor et al, 2011) posits that suicidal behaviour emerges from motivational factors such as defeat, humiliation and entrapment and volitional factors that increase capacity and opportunity to act on suicidal thoughts. The results indicate improvements in emotional regulation skills, which could be a crucial motivational factor to regulate feelings of defeat, humiliation and entrapment (Barton et al, 2023). Furthermore, reduction in anxiety symptoms could help reduce ruminative processes (Abdollahi et al, 2019), another key motivational factor, and skills generally may help to reduce impulsivity, a key volitional factor (Aguilar-Yamuza et al, 2024). Client X's reported feeling better equip to manage distressing emotions, of which may enhance his ability to not utilise suicidal ideation as a coping mechanism, or act on these thoughts. The intervention more broadly indicates how building hope and self-worth can reduce incidence of suicidal ideation while also providing coping and problem-solving skills; of which can target factors identified in the IMV model (O'Connor et al, 2011).

Interpersonal Theory of Suicide (ITS; Joiner, 2005).

The Interpersonal Theory of Suicide (Joiner, 2005) posits that suicidal behaviour results from the interaction of three core components: perceived burdensomeness, thwarted belongingness, and acquired capability for suicide. Client X's reported feelings of hope and decreased suicidal ideation could indicate a reduction in perceived burdensomeness, as demonstrated in previous research (Umphrey et al, 2020). While the increase in compliance with unpaid work might indicate greater

engagement with social structure and support systems, reducing the issue of thwarted belongingness. These findings underscore the importance of interventions addressing social connectedness and demonstrate how feelings of belonging can be particularly helpful to mitigate risk (You et al, 2010). Facilitating community engagement and enhancing supportive relationships may help to reduce risk of suicide by directly targeting components of the ITS theory (Joiner, 2005).

Three-Step Theory (3ST; Klonsky et al, 2015).

The 3ST (Klonsky et al, 2015) posits that suicidal behaviour is influenced by a sequence of cognitive and emotional processes involving pain, perceived inability to cope, and the capability to enact suicidal behaviour. The observed decrease in anxiety and suicidal ideation could suggest a reduction in emotional pain and distress (Conejero et al, 2018), which aligns with the first step of the 3ST. Client X's reported progress in managing emotions indicates an increased ability to cope with emotional distress, reflecting movement towards the second step of the theory. Furthermore, the reduction in despair and panic could indicate developing capacity to handle distressing situations without resorting to self-harm or suicidal actions (Neacsui et al, 2017). This underscores the importance of enhancing coping skills to interrupt the potential progression towards suicidal behaviour. Such strategies can help clients articulate their pain and develop constructive coping mechanisms to mitigate risks and promote better outcomes.

Future directions

Psychological intervention tends to focus on therapy as a core factor of intervention, such as skills practice. This has high efficacy in improving outcomes amongst individuals, including the probation population, and individuals who experience increased suicide risk (D'Anci et al, 2019), and therefore is pertinent to consider when an individual is at increased risk of suicide. However, the case study also proposes that attention should be paid to the context whereby distress arises. This is particularly pertinent when we consider the presence of risk factors, such as deprivation and physical health problems. Although management of symptoms is

important to improve client's self-efficacy in managing their distress, we must not ignore deep-rooted problems that may contribute to distress. Specifically, perhaps we should refrain from locating an issue within the client, or pathologizing what could be a likely consequence of a series of deleterious influences in their life and promote holistic care.

It is proposed significant differences were not found in psychometric results due to the presence of eating disorder, physical sickness and time restrictions of the intervention. Therefore, additional support was encouraged to further assist improvements in mental well-being and life satisfaction. The author liaised with Client X's GP regarding a referral to a gastroenterologist specialist to help alleviate physical sickness and an eating disorder specialist. Efforts were also made to consider what could improve Client X's connectedness with his friends, family and local community beyond intervention. This involved collaborative planning of how Client X could spend more time out of isolation in a way that felt safe, and attain small goals as set with his probation practitioner. Furthermore, his probation practitioner was supported through consultation to finalise a collaborative safety plan with Client X to inform risk management post intervention.

Conclusion

The case study utilised CBT and DBT informed intervention to develop a personcentred intervention for Client X. Results indicated improvements in levels of anxiety, depression, and suicidal ideation. Overall, the outcomes are promising for the use of CBT and DBT when treating the presence of suicidal ideation with the probation population. However, it is proposed that the context by which suicidality arises should also be considered beyond the implementation of skills practice. For example, Client X experienced physical health difficulties and an eating disorder. Not only did this limit therapeutic gains that could be made in intervention, but it highlights the importance of holistic care beyond treatment of a problem identified within the intervention. The nature of work completed in this setting of a third-partner service embedded within probation is limited in the duration of time that can be spent working with an individual. This is unsurprising given the high prevalence of mental health difficulties in the probation population, and subsequent demand on services (Brooker et al, 2012). However, further intervention that is able to address more deep-seated difficulties may be beneficial to further improve treatment outcomes, and identification of such may require specialist consultation from psychology professionals.

Despite positive outcomes of the case study regarding the treatment of suicide risk in the probation population, there is still much work to be done in understanding the aetiology of suicide risk amongst this population and how it can best be treated within intervention. Therefore, not only is there scarce research regarding suicide risk in the probation population, but also in light of interventions. It is highly recommended that further evaluation and research is completed to support this high-risk group for suicide. Despite this, positive results of incorporating CBT and DBT informed work suggest this could be an area for further clinical practice and research, however results should be considered with caution when considering its reliability for a wider population as cases should be formulated individually **Chapter Five:** The use of the Depression Hopelessness and Suicide Screening Form with Forensic Populations: A Psychometric Critique

Abstract

Aim: The Depression, Hopelessness and Suicide Screening Form (DHS) was developed to screen large numbers for depression and hopelessness, whilst gathering information regarding risk factors for suicide. Although the DHS has been widely utilised, there is a lack of existing critique to assess its utility with forensic populations.

Method: Critique of the DHS, specifically in relation to its reliability and validity properties when utilised with forensic samples.

Results: Psychometric properties of the DHS are satisfactory when utilised with forensic populations. Although, the tool should be utilised with caution in light of outlined limitations that must be addressed in practice. Specifically, the tool was developed with a custodial sample and therefore may hold limitations for community settings. Furthermore, key information is missing from the DHS manual, which leaves scope for misinterpretation of findings.

Conclusions: The DHS should be utilised in conjunction with alternative data sources, such as clinical judgement and behavioural observation. Further research is needed to ascertain psychometric properties of the DHS in forensic settings beyond the prison environment.

Background

Comprehensive suicide prevention policy requires appropriate screening and assessment, of which necessitates understanding of relevant risk factors and a systematic, dependable method to measure identified risk factors (Mills & Kroner, 2005; Mills & Kroner, 2008). However, suicide is more than an isolated, static event purely related to other static factors (Mills & Kroner, 2008). Therefore, research must consider the process whereby individuals make the decision to complete suicide, of which may incorporate personal variables that could indicate changes in risk of harm to self. Hopelessness and depression are two well-known process variables associated with suicide and associated with overall psychological or emotional distress (Mills & Kroner, 2005).

The association of depression with suicide-related ideation and behaviours is well established, and it is estimated that roughly 50% of individuals who die by suicide have a diagnosis of depression (Hawton et al, 2013). Depression is a major psychological problem among prison populations (Birmingham, 2004; Majekodunmi et al, 2017) and is often associated with an increase in risk of suicide and self-harm (Gunter et al, 2011). The prevalence of depression amongst individuals who have offended and are supervised in the community has also been demonstrated, whereby 77% of clients on probation and parole were positively screened for a psychiatric disorder, with depression being the most frequent diagnosis (Draine & Solomon, 2000; Solomon et al, 2002).

Hopelessness has been defined as "a system of negative expectancies concerning (one)self and (their) future life" (Beck et al, 1974, p. 861), and is prevalent in suicide risk assessment (Dieserud et al., 2001; Kroner et al, 2011). Hopelessness has also been found to predict suicidal behaviour in custodial settings (Pratt & Foster, 2020) and also related to parasuicide (Lohner & Konrad, 2007). Amongst a sample of 203 prison inmates, Holden et al (1989) reported hopelessness predicted previous suicidal behaviour; of which has been replicated in a subsequent study (Ivanoff & Jang, 1991). Hopelessness has also been found to be associated with parasuicide

even when depression and social desirability are controlled for (Cole, 1988). However, minimal research has investigated the association between hopelessness and suicide in adult probation samples (Mackenzie, 2015).

Given the high prevalence of suicide among individuals who have offended, conflated with depression and hopelessness being commonly cited risk factors for suicidal ideation and behaviours (Ribero et al, 2018); screening for hopelessness, depression and suicide indicators is imperative in high-risk populations (Mills & Kroner, 2008). While suicide prevention is complex given its multitude of interacting factors (Holden et al, 1989), screening for suicide risk is a central component of suicide prevention strategy (Zalsman et al, 2016). Due to often an insufficient clinical resource, screening tools enable identification of those at highest risk and in need of intervention with mental health professionals and suicide prevention initiatives (Mills & Kroner, 2008)

The Depression Hopelessness Suicide Screening Form (DHS; Mills & Kroner, 2004) was developed to screen large numbers for depression and hopelessness, whilst gathering information regarding risk factors for suicide, for example; family history of suicide, previous suicide attempt, depression diagnosis and the presence of suicidal ideation. The DHS can be utilised to measure hopelessness and depression as a function of relative endorsement to normative samples (Mills & Kroner, 2003). Secondly, items of the Critical Item Checklist can be utilised to identify individuals who are currently experiencing suicidal ideation and have previously attempted suicide. Thirdly, the DHS can be utilised as a gauge of generalised emotional and mental distress with use of appropriate cut-off scores. Finally, the likelihood that a person is experiencing suicidal ideation can be estimated by combining the suicide historical indicators and current levels of depression and hopelessness (Mills & Kroner, 2003).

The DHS has been widely utilised in forensic settings, however to our knowledge there is not a psychometric critique that explores its properties; specifically, validity

and reliability, when utilised in forensic settings. The review aims to fill this knowledge gap through critiquing the DHS. Initially, an overview of the tool will be outlined. Subsequently, the tools psychometric properties will be examined. The overall focus of the critique is to explore utility of the tool with forensic population, and consider practical implications, limitations and proposed further research for the field.

Depression, Hopelessness and Suicide (DHS) Screening Form

The DHS was developed in a medium-security prison in Ontario Canada, with participants who were consecutive admissions to the prison (Mills & Kroner, 2004). Two samples (N = 90, Sample 1; N = 108, Sample 2) were utilised in the development and final item selection of the psychometric items (Mills & Kroner, 2005). Originally, the tool included a Depression scale (30 items), a Hopelessness scale (19 items), and a Critical Item checklist (12 items) that measures cognitive suicide indicators, historical suicide indicators and suicidal ideation (Kroner et al, 2011)

Items within the depression scale considered domains pertinent to depressed affect and depression, such as; disappointment, fatigue, sadness and sleep disturbance. The Hopelessness scale incorporated domains pertinent to feelings of hopelessness, such as; helplessness, feelings of being overwhelmed and pessimistic about the future. Both scales were balanced so each domain is measured with positively and negatively keyed items.

Cognitive suicide indicators refer to cognitive permissiveness of suicide as an option and historical indicators refer to prior history of serious suicidal ideation, self-harm and suicide attempt (Mills & Kroner, 2003). The checklist comprised clinically relevant items to intent of suicide and previously suicidal behaviour based on risk factors identified in reviews when the scale was developed (Mills & Kroner, 2005). See Table 18. The user manual outlines discretion of the test administrator to decipher an appropriate response to individuals who endorse one or more of the critical items, dependent upon need and available resources (Mills & Kroner, 2003). Depression and hopelessness item scales were scrutinised regarding their scale correlation, scale internal consistency, level of item endorsement and comparative strength of each item's association with its domain scale versus the other domain scale (Mills & Kroner, 2005). Analysis of the data from both samples resulted in seven items being deleted. Only items demonstrating the smallest potential for final incorporation were deleted before considering the items performance amongst the second sample. (Mills & Kroner, 2005). This process determined a 25-item depression scale and 16-item hopelessness scale, whereas the critical item list did not change (Mills & Kroner, 2003). Final item selection was directed by psychometric principles already outlined, although also included face validity of the item of the measured construct. For example, although 'I feel my situation is hopeless' demonstrated low endorsement level and poor item-total scale, face validity was viewed as strong and therefore the item remained. Exceptions alike this item were few, and the majority of items included in the final scale were consent on the strength of their psychometric properties. Therefore, the final DHS included a 39item scale (Mills & Kroner, 2004). See Appendix L.

Table 18: Critical Item Checklist

ltem number	Item
4	I have been diagnosed as being depressed by a psychiatrist or psychologist
	in the past
8	I have close friends or family members who have killed themselves
12	Suicide is not an option for me
16	I have had serious thoughts of suicide in the past
20	I have intentionally hurt myself
24	If circumstances get too bad, suicide is always an option
28	In the past my suicidal thoughts have led to a suicide attempt
32	I have attempted suicide more than once in the past
34	I have attempted suicide in the past two years
36	I have recently had thoughts of hurting myself
38	Life is not worth living
39	I have a plan to hurt myself

Authors	Ν	Age	Population and location	Gender	DHS a
Mills & Kroner (2003)	394	Not reported	Federal Offender Sample, Canada	Male	Depression .87 Hopelessness .76 DHS Total .90
Mills & Kroner (2003)	90	Not reported	Provincial Offender Sample, Canada	Male	Depression .86 Hopelessness .80 DHS total .91
Mills & Kroner (2004)	272	x 36.5, range 19-66	Inmates of a Canadian medium-security prison	Male	Depression .87 Hopelessness .75
Mills & Kroner (2005)	131	⊼ 35.3, range 19 − 56	Inmates of a Canadian medium-security prison	Male	
Mills & Kroner (2005)	101	⊼ 37.1, range 19 − 66	Inmates of a Canadian medium-security prison	Male	
Mills & Kroner (2008)	422	x 37 (SD=11)	Inmates of a Canadian medium-security prison	Male	Depression .87 Hopelessness .76 DHS total .90
Mills & Kroner (2008)	138	x 38 (SD=10.8)	Federally sentenced volunteers, Canada	Male	Depression .88 Hopelessness .83 DHS total .92

Table 19: Demographic information and reported alpha reliabilities from studies utilising the DHS

Kroner et al (2011)	98	x 37.5 (SD = 10.9)	Canadian federal offenders on release	Female	Depression .90 Hopelessness .90 DHS Total .94
Mills & Kroner (2010)	100	x 27.7, range 20-67	Federally sentenced offenders incarcerated in Ontario and Quebec	Female	Depression .90 Hopelessness .90
Mills & Kroner (2010)	122	x 34.9, range 19-63	Federally sentenced offenders in Prairie, Ontario and Atlantic Region	Female	Depression .72 Hopelessness .72
Martin et al (2014)	4196	Not reported	Canadian prison	93.6% male	
Kroner et al (2011)	136	x 38 (SD=11)	Inmates of a medium security prison in Ontario region	Male	
Hemmati et al (2004)	119	x 37.0, range 20-60	Medium security federal institution	Male	

Mandracchia & Smith (2014)	399	x 34.94, range 19- 69	Prison inmates incarcerated in Mississippi	Male	
Mitchell et al (2018)	142	x 37.37 (SD = 13.7)	Psychiatric inpatient unit, Texas	55.6% Male	Depression .90 Hopelessness.90
Pereira et al (2010)	73	x 44.89, range 25- 71	Canadian minimum security correctional institution	Male	
Martin (2017)	13,281	x 35.5, range 18 - 85	Canadian prisons	93.9% male	

Normative data

Normative data is pertinent to consider when assessing the suitability of a measure for a particular population or individuals (Kline, 2013). Normative data for the DHS was obtained from a male offender sample (N=422) and a mixed gender student sample (N=85) in Canada. The manual provides the range, means and standard deviations to assist interpreting scores, along with percentile ranks. However, data is not separated into age groups or gender, and other descriptive data are not clearly specified in the manual. Mental health symptoms and rates of psychiatric diagnosis typically vary between females and males (Kroner et al, 2011). Specifically, it has been found women demonstrate higher rates of depression than men and higher rates of comorbidity in forensic samples (Kroner et al, 2011; Sirdfield et al, 2009). In light of different affect levels between women and men who have offended, femalederived norms and the inclusion of specific gender cut-off scores would be beneficial within guidelines for interpreting results; particularly as a single cut-off score for both genders may result in over classification or under classification of the target construct or domain (Kroner et al, 2011)

Kroner et al (N = 93, 2011) attempted to respond to this criticism through development of cut off scores of the DHS among female federal offenders on community release. Female means of depression and hopelessness scales are often higher (Mills & Kroner, 2004; 2005) comparative to male offender data (Mills & Kroner, 2004; 2005), hence indicating DHS scores for women will be greater than male counterparts (Kroner et al, 2011). Including specific cut off scores for women enables closely related normative samples to be utilised for proper clinical interpretation (Kroner et al, 2011). However, the women offender sample resided in the community and cut off scores have not been embedded into a new manual for the DHS. Furthermore, a minimum sample size of 500 is recommended to reduce standard error in normative data (Kline, 2013), however; this standard was not met across any of the samples. Finally, the authors indicated potential for the DHS to be utilised in forensic and non-forensic settings. The tool was developed in a forensic setting; however, this was in a Canadian medium security prison, and therefore its generalisability to forensic settings beyond this is in question and should be used with caution.

Reliability

Reliability denotes whether an assessment measures what it intends to measure consistently. Internal reliability refers to the degree of the assessment's consistency, such as; whether items in a subscale or scale assesses the intended construct. Whereas, test-retest reliability considers whether measurement scores are consistent when the assessment is measured at two distinct points in time (Field, 2005; Schamborg et al, 2015).

Internal consistency

Acceptable internal reliability, measured by an alpha coefficient, can range between.60 - .70, whereas good internal reliability is considered as .70 or above (Cortina, 1993; Schamborg et al, 2015). See Table 19. Alpha coefficients regarding normative data of the DHS, including the forensic and non-forensic population, were all above .90 for DHS total (Mills & Kroner, 2003). Whereas, subscales of depression were at least (a = .86) for each population. However, subscales of hopelessness were slightly lower for the federal offender sample (a=.76) compared to the provincial offender sample (.80) and student sample (.84) (Mills & Kroner, 2003). Despite this, alpha coefficients demonstrated good internal reliability for all scales and subscales for the normative data of DHS. In an additional study completed after production of the manual, internal consistency was reported as good amongst male offenders at a medium security prison (N=422; Mills & Kroner, 2008), with internal consistencies were .90 for DHS total and .87 and .76 for depression and hopelessness subscales respectively. Similar internal consistencies were reported amongst their second sample of 138 male offender volunteers at a medium security prison (Mills & Kroner, 2008).

Mills & Kroner (2010) reported excellent internal reliabilities for depression (.90) and hopelessness (.90) subscales among a sample of 100 federally sentenced women

who were incarcerated for a period of time in Canada. Their second sample consisted of 112 federally sentenced women who had been initially admitted to federal custody, of which reported good alpha coefficients for depression (.72) and hopelessness (.72). Although they did not report internal consistency alphas for DHS total for each sample, this demonstrates similar internal consistencies to alternative depression measures with women who have offended (Kroner et al, 2011; Salisbury & Van Voorhis, 2009). Kroner et al (2011) conducted an additional study with 98 Canadian federal women who have offended on community release and reported excellent internal consistency for depression (.90), hopelessness (.90) subscales and DHS total (.94). Whereas, a study with 142 psychiatric inpatients demonstrated excellent internal consistency for hopelessness and depression (KR-20 =.90; Mitchell et al, 2018). Although these internal consistencies are high, the DHS was not developed with psychiatric patients, and therefore consistencies should be interpreted with caution.

Test re-test

Test re-test reliability is typically measured by deciphering correlations between an individual's scores across different administrations (Field et al, 2005). A time period of at least three months is recommended between administration to decrease the likelihood of the same answers being recalled and restated. It is recommended the correlation between first and second administration should be r=.80 as a minimum (Kline, 2013). However, test re-test reliability is not reported within the DHS manual, demonstrating a limitation of the tool. Test-retest reliability assessment is fundamental when developing psychometric tools to help ensure variation in measurement scores is due to replicable differences between people irrespective of user profile, context or time (Kline, 2013). Lack of data limits our understanding of how dependable the DHS is for wider research and clinical practice. Kroner et al (2011) determined adequate stability regarding test-retest reliability for both the depression (.80), hopelessness (.86) scales and DHS total (.87), yet within a range that could change over time. However, this was only demonstrated amongst a subsample of 38 federally incarcerated women and they repeated the DHS after 2

weeks, which arguably is too close in proximity and limits generalisability to other samples.

<u>Validity</u>

Validity denotes the accuracy of a tool in measuring the desired construct, of which can be assessed in different ways, as outlined below.

Face validity

Face validity concerns whether a measure accurately appears to assess the intended construct (Field, 2005; Schamborg et al, 2015). Through reviewing the instructions and items of the DHS, it is evident the tool measures constructs of relevance to depression, hopelessness and suicidality. High face validity is perceived as desirable when considering psychometric assessments, as this may increase likelihood of the respondent completing the measure accurately (Kline, 2013). However, psychometrics with high face validity are susceptible to social desirability responding (Furnham, 1986). Individuals intent on completing suicide may not wish to be identified as 'at risk' to avoid suicide prevention intervention (Kroner et al, 2011). Correria (2000) reported concern regarding reliance of face valid instruments in the prison environment due to the propensity of individuals to demonstrate malingering and manipulation when completing the tool. For example, individuals may wish to demonstrate improvement following intervention and measured constructs may be perceived as undesirable or an unacceptable feeling. Furthermore, individuals may lack insight, or minimise of deny their difficulties. However, endorsement rates of Critical Item Checklist items suggest participants accurately self-reported prior incidents of suicidal behaviour (Mills & Kroner, 2008).

In further support of face validity of the tool, the measure has similar items to those identified in Beck Depression Inventory-II (BDI-II) (Beck et al, 1996) and Beck Hopelessness Scale (BHS; Beck et al, 1974); of which are popularly utilised measures of depression and hopelessness. However, there are some noted differences between DHS and relevant structured measures. The BDI-II resulted in elevated

scores of depression in custodial samples (Boothby & Durham, 1999), of which has been explained by its endorsement of items referring to feelings of punishment or experiencing guilt; factors often associated with incarceration (Mills & Kroner, 2006). The DHS attempted to overcome these drawbacks and accurately measure depression as a construct whilst accounting for the distinctive characteristics of the sample (Mills & Kroner, 2006) and hence avoided measuring domains reasonably associated with the prison environment; such as guilt and changes in sexual interest (Kroner et al, 2011). However, arguably the measure could have benefitted with including specific items concerning the prison setting (Gould et al, 2017); as particular custody situations and experience may increase suicidal behaviour.

Concurrent validity

Concurrent validity refers to whether a measure is related to other assessments that measure the same construct (Field, 2005). The DHS manual (Mills & Kroner, 2003) provides support regarding concurrent validity of the DHS by demonstrating significant relationships between DHS scales and the BDI-II and BHS, including indicators obtained from the Critical Item Checklist; of which have been replicated in female offender samples (Mills et al 2010; Kroner et al, 2011). DHS scales have demonstrated strong correlations with the underlining factors of the Depression scale of the Basic Personality Inventory (BPI; Jackson, 1989; Mills & Kroner, 2004). Table 20 displays reported correlations between DHS scores and alternative assessments of depression and hopelessness. The reported correlations support the notion that the DHS utilises a similar conceptualisation of depression and hopelessness comparative with other measures.

DHS scales have also been reported as significantly associated to institutional file information pertaining to history of depression, previous suicide attempts, self-harm and psychiatric and psychological intervention (Mills & Kroner, 2004). Depression is a primary and secondary rationale for psychiatric or psychological intervention. For example, symptoms of depression or symptoms associated with other mental illnesses. Therefore, the relationship of DHS scales with these alternative measures

supports evidence regarding the concurrent validity of the DHS (Mills & Kroner, 2008).
Author	DHS scale	Outcome	Correlation
Mills & Kroner (2004)	DHS Depression	BDI-II	.77
		BPI depression	.65
	DHS Hopelessness	BHS	.70
		BPI Hopelessness	.66
	CIA Historical	BDI-II	.27
		BHS	.17
	CIA - Cognitive	BDI-II	.32
		BHS	.22
	CIA - Ideation	BDI-II	.29
		BHS	.21
	DHS total	Prior self-harm	.18
		Prior suicide attempt	.13
		History of depression	.33
		History of psychiatric intervention	.41
		History of psychological intervention	.22
		Recent psychiatric/psychological	.29
		intervention	
		History of suicide attempt	.24
Mills & Kroner (2005)	DHS Depression	Holden Psychological Screening	.70
		Inventory (HPSI) depression	
		HPSI Psychache	.70
	CIA - Historical	Psychache	.35

Table 20: Correlations between DHS scores and alternative measures of depression and hopelessness

Mills & Kroner (2006)	DHS Depression	BDI-II	.77
	DHS Hopelessness	BHS	.70
Mills & Kroner (2008)	DHS Depression	BDI	.83
	DHS Hopelessness	BHS	.65
Mills (2010)	DHS Depression	BDI	.77
		Brief symptom inventory (BSI)	.78
		depression	
	DHS Hopelessness	BHS	.81
		Brief symptom inventory (BSI)	.73
		depression	
Kroner et al (2011)	DHS Depression	BDI	.74
		Profile of Mood States (Depression-	.67
		Dejection)	
		BSI depression	.76
	DHS Hopelessness	BHS	.76
	DHS total	BDI	.76
		BHS	.73
	CIA - Ideation	BSI (Brief Symptom intention items)	.47
		BDI-II	.53
		BSI (Beck Suicide)	.80
		Previous suicide attempt	.32
	CIA - Cognitive	BSI (Brief Symptom intention)	.35
		BDI-II	.56

		BSI (Beck Suicide)	.69
		Previous suicide attempt	.29
	CIA - Historical	BSI (Brief Symptom intention)	.37
		BDI-II	.41
		BSI (Beck Suicide)	.45
		Previous suicide attempt	.62
Hemmati et al (2004)	DHS Depression	General mood	60
		Stress tolerance	50
		Adaptability	57
	DHS Hopelessness	General mood	51
		Stress tolerance	41
		Adaptability	43
	DHS Total	General mood	61
		Stress tolerance	50
		Adaptability	.61

Predictive validity

Predictive validity denotes the likelihood a measure predicts an outcome of the same construct in the future (Field, 2005). Sensitivity and specificity values are not provided within the manual, indicating lack of certainty regarding the likelihood of false negatives and false positives it could generate (Gould et al, 2017). Furthermore, the DHS 12 'critical items' denotes all items as 'equally' critical, of which could produce unnecessary false negatives (Gould et al, 2017; Martin et al, 2014). However, Mills & Kroner (2005) utilised the DHS with 101 male offenders to predict generalised psychological distress (Mills & Kroner, 2005) and found the measure was very accurate (AUC; Area Under the Curve >.90) and correctly classified 96% of the sample with a cut-off score of 10. Kroner et al (2011) also conducted studies within female correctional samples and found the DHS Depression scale with a cut off score of 5 yielded a .90 sensitivity rate, therefore demonstrating robust ability to identify those with mild depression and a .64 specificity rate. The DHS Hopelessness scale with a cut off score of 3 had a sensitivity rate of .69 and specificity of .80 in predicting hopelessness. Although depression scale is promising in detecting mild depression, the scale likely incorporates content regarding more severe forms of depression of which could reduce specificity of the scale (Kroner et al, 2011).

The DHS has been found to improve prediction of suicidal ideation in male offenders, of which has been replicated successfully on subsequent samples (Mandracchia & Smith, 2014; Martin et al 2004; Pereira et al, 2010; Mills & Kroner, 2008; Mills & Kroner, 2005b). Mills & Kroner (2008) reported the DHS total demonstrated AUC .801 in predicting recent ideation, and similar rates were demonstrated in all subscales. Therefore, all measures predicted ideation well, although historical indicator item had the largest AUC. However, this analysis is dependent upon individuals who were honest in their answers pertaining to questions regarding current suicidal ideation, and therefore is a cautious estimate (Mills & Kroner, 2008). Although it is pertinent to bear in mind these predictions illustrate the interactive nature of variables pertaining to suicide risk as opposed to precise likelihood estimates. DHS critical items have demonstrated high sensitivity in prediction of self-

harm comparative to results of preceding prospective validations regarding prison screening tools (Martin et al, 2014), and has also performed well in comparison with interview and file review when ascertaining individuals who have offended and have a history of self-harm and suicide attempts (Mills & Kroner, 2008).

Content validity

Content validity refers to the extent a measure assesses all aspects of the determined construct (Hayes et al, 1995; Schamborg et al, 2015). Although depression is a formalised diagnosis and therefore arguably a well-defined construct, hopelessness and suicidality are perhaps more nuanced concepts, and therefore it is difficult to confidently deduce whether the DHS incorporates every facet of these or not. Although the DHS appears similar in content to other well-validated and popular measures of depression and hopelessness, the DHS critical checklist items do not incorporate all items recommended for a self-harm screening checklist (Dixon-Gordon et al, 2012; Martin et al, 2014), and arguably miss key aspects of suicidality. For example, access to means, physical pain sensitivity, impulsivity, fearlessness about death, burdensomeness and coping are not considered; all of which have been identified as key aspects in the suicide pathway (O'Connor & Kirtley, 2018). However, the tool captures suicidal plans and sense of future, and some level of brevity is anticipated given its nature as a screening tool.

Construct validity

Construct validity denotes the degree an assessment measures what it is intended to measure (Schamborg et al, 2015). Construct validity can be further subdivided into convergent and discriminant validity (Hayes et al, 1995; Schamborg et al, 2015). Convergent validity denotes whether associated constructs are intended to be associated, whereas, discriminant validity measures whether unrelated constructs are not associated (Hayes et al, 1995; Schamborg et al, 2015). Based on the normative data for the DHS, a confirmatory factor analysis was conducted and a two-factor structure was a better fit to data than a single factor solution, hence supporting discriminant validity amongst the scales and interpretation of the

purported constructs of depression and hopelessness (Mills & Kroner, 2003). Construct validity of DHS has been supported further with women offender samples and further clarify normative interpretive ranges of the scales (Mills et al, 2010; Kroner et al, 2011).

Results outlined in Table 20 further support the convergent validity and the a priori structure of component scales of depression, hopelessness and suicide risk factors with associated alternative measures (Mills & Kroner, 2004). As previously highlighted, DHS scales have demonstrated high correlation with measures of depressed effect and hopelessness derived from Jackson's (1989) BPI (Mills & Kroner, 2004) and have demonstrated high correlation between the DHS depression scale and the BDI-II and the DHS Hopelessness scale and BHS (Mills et al, 2004; Kroner et al, 2011; Mills & Kroner, 2008). Furthermore, the DHS demonstrated stronger association to alternative assessments of negative affect as opposed to denial as a test taking style (Mills & Kroner, 2004; Mills & Kroner, 2008). Hemmati et al (2004) also reported a negative and moderate association between the DHS and assessments of general positive mood (i.e. optimism and happiness), stress tolerance and adaptability (i.e. flexibility and problem solving) as indicated by the Bar On-Emotional Quotient (Bar-On, 1997), hence further supporting discriminant validity of the tool (Mills & Kroner, 2008).

Critical items have shown convergent and discriminant correlations among associated items from alternative scales. The DHS cognitive indicator and ideation items had strong correlations with Brief Symptom Inventory (BSI) intention items (Jackson, 1989), BDI (Beck et al, 1996) and Beck Scale for Suicide Ideation (BSS; Beck & Steer, 1991I; Kroner et al, 2011) Whereas, the DHS historical suicide indicators demonstrated stronger associations with historical suicide attempt item as opposed to intention items in the Brief Symptom Inventory and Beck scales (Kroner et al, 2011). Taken together, this demonstrates some evidence of the item construct validity regarding DHS critical items.

Practical applications

Self-report measures such as the DHS hold advantages that standardised scoring promotes more objective results, and use of the screening tool is less resource and time intensive. Research indicates the DHS is a valuable tool in the assessment of suicide indicators, and use of screening tools enables large numbers of people to be screened for possible suicide indicators and psychological distress; of which the DHS has demonstrated excellent prediction of. Resource limitations often result in screening components of effective suicide prevention protocol being overlooked; however, this brief self-report instrument demonstrates potential to identify individuals at increased risk of harm to self of which could be utilised in the intake process (Mills & Kroner, 2005). However, the DHS was not developed as a substitution regarding a comprehensive assessment of hopelessness, depression, or risk of harm to self (Mills & Kroner, 2004), whereas its value was purported to assist the screening of individuals for these intended constructs. The tool should be part of a more comprehensive risk of harm to self assessment alongside collateral file information, interview and observation for best outcomes. Although, it is important to consider the tool was standardised for prison populations whereby more extensive file information and observation opportunities are likely to be available, and therefore clinical judgement should be exercised in circumstances where this is not the case.

Discussion

The psychometric critique provides support for the validity and reliability of the DHS with forensic populations. The DHS can be used to screen for depression, hopelessness and indicators of suicide and has even demonstrated prediction for suicidal ideation (Mandracchia & Smith, 2014; Mills & Kroner, 2008; Mills & Kroner, 2005; Pereira et al, 2010) and distress (Mills & Kroner, 2005). There is good evidence for internal reliability of the DHS, however test re-test reliability is not included in the manual. One study reported on the test re-test reliability of the DHS (Kroner et al, 2011), however this was demonstrated with a subsample of 38 federally incarcerated women and the DHS was repeated after 2 weeks, which is too close in

proximity and an inadequate sample size (Kline, 2013). Test re-test reliability of the DHS should be investigated over at least a three month period (Kline, 2013). There is research that demonstrates the expected relationships with related construct and the DHS has demonstrated some utility in predicting relevant outcomes, however research has often utilised suicidal outcomes as the criterion variable, and therefore predictive validity must be considered with caution. A prospective study would be beneficial to advance our understanding of the DHS utility in predicting depression, hopelessness and suicidality in a forensic context. This could incorporate determining DHS scores to screen individuals 'at risk' and ascertaining whether interventions developed to reduce intended constructs results in a reduction in scoring.

Limitations of the tool should be held in mind, such as the nature of normative samples. Individuals in prison are a vulnerable population for suicide, but generalisation of findings to alternative forensic populations outside of North America are required to confirm moderating effect (Mills & Kroner, 2008). In consideration of alternative forensic contexts, this may perhaps require inclusion of items that were removed due to their relation to the prison environment. The review supports validity of DHS scales with female offenders; however, identification of depression, hopelessness and endorsement of critical factors appear to differ for female and male offenders and females may require different normative ranges compared to male counterparts (Kroner et al, 2011). This should be included in the DHS manual alongside interpretation and guidelines for female offenders. Limitations of self-report should also be held in mind, such as social desirability bias. Although the DHS has indicated inmates responded honestly regarding their reporting of prior suicide indicators (Mills & Kroner, 2005) and the DHS has demonstrated a weak relationship with the scale of Denial (a measure of test taking style) within the Basic Personality Inventory (Jackson, 1989), verification of internal states such as depression and hopelessness is harder to deduce. It is recommended perhaps a social desirability tool, could be utilised alongside aforementioned collateral information, for example, the Paulhus Deception Scale (PDS; Paulhus,

1998). However, within literature pertaining to the use of DHS in forensic settings, this does not appear to be considered.

This psychometric review of the DHS incorporates studies with incarcerated populations, and therefore psychometric properties of the DHS scale may not accurately reflect how the scale may perform in the probation settings. The review had to work on the basis of evidence that was available, however this presents a limitation in light of the overall aim of the thesis exploring suicide risk in the probation population. Firstly, probation populations experience different environmental and psychological stressors compared to prison populations, whereby individuals in prison experience confinement, isolation and institutionalisation (Crewe & levnins, 2019) which are unique stressors that may not be as applicable to individuals on probation. Psychological constructs like hopelessness may be particularly heightened in prison environments due to the nature of the confined environment (Palmer & Connelly, 2005), and the construct may manifest differently in probation populations. In addition, the psychometric properties of the DHS may be context specific, particularly as it has only been validated in one probation context (Kroner et al, 2011), of which included individuals who had recently been released from custody. Therefore, there is risk of inappropriate or skewed conclusions regarding how effectively the DHS scale measures these constructs in people on probation. Furthermore, the review was heavily centred on Canadian prison populations. People on probation in other jurisdictions are likely to have different social and legal experiences and access to support services (Hamai et al, 2005). As a result, the psychometric findings from North American incarcerated populations might not apply to people on probation from other regions; limiting the generalisability of the scale across different contexts. Overall, the scale may be more reliable in prison settings, rendering the DHS scale's reliability and application in probation settings uncertain.

Consideration of findings in the wider context of their relationship to practice, theory and the population of interest The DHS's normative data is derived from both male offenders and a mixed-gender student sample, yet it lacks granularity in age and gender distinctions, which is crucial for accurate interpretation of findings. Research indicates that mental health symptoms, particularly depression and comorbidity rates can differ markedly between genders (Kroner et al, 2011). Given that women in forensic settings often display higher rates of depression (Mills & Kroner, 2004; 2005), establishing femalespecific norms and cut-off scores could refine accuracy of the tool. The absence of these norms might lead to misclassification of results, either by underestimating or overestimating the severity of their conditions.

The DHS demonstrates strong internal reliability across its scales, making it a robust tool for measuring depression and hopelessness. However, the test re-test reliability has not been adequately established, which poses a challenge for its application in clinical settings. For populations on probation, where mental wellbeing may fluctuate overtime, ensuring stable measurement is critical (Polit, 2014). While some studies suggest acceptable stability, the lack of comprehensive test-retest reliability limits the measures applicability and generalisability, particularly in settings with dynamic and high-stress environments like probation.

The critique highlights the DHS's good face and concurrent validity, indicating that it accurately measures constructs of interest and correlates well with established measures of depression and hopelessness. However, its predictive validity is somewhat undermined by the lack of specificity and sensitivity data, which could lead to false positives or negatives in identifying individuals who possess risk based vulnerabilities for suicidality. Moreover, while the DHS is effective in predicting suicidal ideation among male offenders, the tool's reliance on self-reported data raises concerns about honesty and the potential for individuals to minimise or misrepresent their mental health difficulties (Correria, 2000). This is particularly pertinent in forensic settings, where individuals may feel pressure to present themselves in a favourable manner (Van Impelen et al, 2016).

Despite these limitations, the DHS serves as a valuable screening tool that can identify individuals at increased risk of harm. For probation officers and mental health professionals, the DHS offers a standardised method for assessing mental health needs efficiently, especially in resource limited environments. However, the tool should not replace comprehensive assessments; rather, it should complement them. Effective suicide prevention protocols must include thorough assessments that integrate the DHS results with collateral information, interviews and ongoing observations to capture the full picture of an individual's presentation.

Theory

Integrated Motivational-Volitional Model (IMV; O'Connor et al, 2011)

The IMV model (O'Connor et al, 2011) posits that suicidal behaviour results from an interplay of motivational and volitional factors. The motivation for suicide can stem from adverse experiences, including mental health symptoms like depression and hopelessness (Ribeiro et al, 2018), which the DHS measures. By integrating the critique's findings, the DHS can be considered an effective tool for identifying individuals at risk based on their motivational states. Furthermore, the reliability of the DHS, especially concerning internal consistency across populations, supports the notion that accurate measurement can inform interventions aimed at reducing suicide risk.

Interpersonal Theory of Suicide (ITS; Joiner, 2005)

The ITS (Joiner, 2005) posits that suicidal behaviour is influenced by perceived lack of belongingness and a perceived burden on others. The critique notes that while the DHS demonstrates strong correlations with other validated measures of depression and hopelessness, it may not fully account for aspects of suicidality that involve interpersonal dynamics, such as feelings of isolation or perceived burdensomeness. Items related to these constructs are not explicitly included in the DHS indicating a potential gap in assessing interpersonal factors crucial to understanding suicidal ideation. Future iterations of the DHS may benefit from incorporating these interpersonal factors.

Three Step Theory (3ST; Klonsky et al, 2015)

The 3ST (Klonsky et al, 2015) articulates a sequential model of suicidal behaviour comprising the steps of psychological pain, hopelessness and capability for suicidal outcomes. The DHS effectively measures psychological pain and hopelessness. The predictive validity findings from the critique indicate that the DHS can accurately predict suicidal ideation, consistent with the 3ST framework, which identifies depression as a core component that could lead to suicidal behaviour. However, to adhere to the 3ST's framework, future iterations of the DHS may wish to consider additional factors to suicide, such as one's capability.

Conclusion

The DHS demonstrates greatest utility in screening individuals in custody for suicidal indicators in situations where limited records are available (Horon et al, 2013), however comprehensive risk assessment should incorporate interviews and file review. Although prisons comparative to community forensic settings may be likely to have more extensive information on file; including historical suicidal information (Mills & Kroner, 2005). This, conflated with less reliability and validity information for community samples, demonstrates how the tool should be utilised with caution in forensic populations beyond the prison environment. Further research is needed to determine psychometric properties of DHS in alternative forensic settings. Development of a normative sample for alternative forensic samples that considers further demographic factors would further improve its clinical utility. In light of clinical practice, impression management and situational factors should be considered when conducting assessments with forensic populations, and the DHS should be utilised in conjunction with alternative data sources, such as clinical judgement and behavioural observation. Finally, the utility of the DHS, or any suicide screening form, should not mitigate the necessity for continued assessment of dynamic risk factors of harm to self. This incorporates continued monitoring of

people who do initially screen as 'at risk', given that individuals circumstances may change over time (Martin et al, 2014; Mills & Kroner, 2008)

Chapter Six: General Discussion

Discussion

Thesis aim

A key aim of the thesis was to conduct research regarding a neglected population within the field of suicide research: the probation population. By focusing on this group, it promoted much needed focus and attention to the breadth of findings by identifying key risk factors likely to contribute to the emergence of suicidal ideation, suicide attempt and completed suicide. Identification of risk factors are hoped to be beneficial to practitioners working with the probation population in three-fold. Firstly, through providing further insight into contributing factors that influence suicide risk, and hence reduce harm from potential victims of suicidal behaviour or completed suicide. Secondly, to provide practitioners preliminary empirical evidence to guide individually-tailored assessment, intervention and risk management plans. Finally, the thesis produced a tool that can be utilised to identify vulnerabilities to suicidality. The final chapter of the thesis aims to synthesise overall findings within the wider context of forensic psychology, reflect on the research thread of each chapter whilst discussing limitations, implications and added value of the research. Each key thesis chapter undertook a distinctive approach with the aim to achieve a deeper understanding of suicide risk in probation. This thesis utilised varying exploratory measures to attain this aim, of which included a systematic review (Chapter Two), an empirical quantitative research project (Chapter Three), a single case study (Chapter Four), and a critique of a commonly used tool utilised to screen for suicide risk (Chapter Five). Each chapter aimed to construct a thread of discussion that coherently related to the next chapter. Chapter Two identified risk factors for suicidal ideation, suicide attempt and completed suicide reported in existing literature related to the probation population. The chapter demonstrated how possible predictors of suicidal ideation and suicide attempt are often not explored in tandem. Chapter Three sought to meet this research gap, and identified differences between men on probation who had attempted suicide, experienced solely suicidal ideation and have not experienced suicidal thoughts or behaviour, and curated a tool that can be utilised in probation to identify vulnerabilities for suicidality. Chapter

Four described the assessment, formulation and intervention of a man who had previously experienced a suicide attempt and ongoing suicidal ideation. This considered likely contributing factors for presenting problems and offending behaviour, and considered the utility of intervention proposed. The case study further supported findings from the previous chapter, whereby the tool identified Client X's vulnerabilities to suicidality. Finally, the screening tool identified to assess Client X's risk of harm to self was the Depression, Hopelessness and Suicide Screening Form (DHS; Mills, 2004), of which was critically appraised in Chapter Five.

Summary of findings

Chapter Two

Below outlines the research aim and question identified in this chapter: Aim: To synthesise the existing evidence on risk factors for suicidal ideation, suicide attempt and completed suicide in individuals on probation.

Research question: What risk factors have been identified for suicidal ideation, suicide attempt and completed suicide for individuals serving a probation order? Chapter Two comprised a systematic review, which included ten research articles investigating risk factors for suicide for individuals on probation and hence demonstrated sparsity of existing research. The findings indicated a wide array of possible factors associated with suicide risk. Firstly, sociodemographic variables indicated women and individuals of white ethnicity were at increased risk of completed suicide, suicide attempt and suicidal ideation. White race or ethnicity is a commonly cited risk factor within suicide risk assessment reports in community samples (Kessler et al, 1999). However, self-inflicted death is often reported as more prevalent amongst men in forensic and general population samples (Pratt et al, 2005). Therefore, it is imperative to hold in mind that women were identified as at increased risk amongst papers concerning completed suicide as the outcome (Haglund et al, 2014; Phillips et al, 2018; Pratt et al, 2006). Results indicated individuals aged 30+ on probation at increased risk of completed suicide. However, older individuals who completed suicide may have attempted suicide historically, and hence we should not overlook the risk of all age groups. Finally, lack of

education and residential instability were associated with suicidal ideation and suicide attempts.

Regarding criminogenic variables, the review demonstrates that during the first 12 months after release from custody there is an increased suicide risk. Individuals in custody possess proportionally increased risk factors associated with suicide comparative with the general population (Bland et al, 1998; Brooke et al, 1996; Fazel & Danesh, 2002; Joukamaa, 1995), however the period of transition may exacerbate existing risk factors and conflate difficulties reintegrating into society. Although analysis regarding offence related variables was sparse, the results were generally consistent with previous custodial research regarding violent offending and increased suicide risk (Fazel et al, 2008; Sarchiapone et al, 2009; Zhong et al, 2021). However, it is worth noting offence-related variables may be less prevalent because suicide risk among people on probation is significantly reduced when clinical and sociodemographic risk factors were accounted for (Haglund et al, 2014). Despite this, analysis regarding criminogenic variables was not possible due to lack of detail in the data set. This holds implications for further research, as the heterogeneity of samples could lead to a dilution of high-risk groups (Fazel et al, 2017).

Concerning clinical variables; psychiatric diagnoses, symptoms and medication or treatment were prevalent risk factors for suicide. Research consistently demonstrates that individuals on probation possess increased mental health needs compared to the general population (Brooker et al, 2014; Brooker & Ramsbotham, 2014; Gunter et al, 2011; HM Inspectorate of Probation, 2021; Kariminia et al, 2007; Pratt et al, 2010), and these findings further highlight the importance of mental health provisions for this high-risk group. In addition, lifetime physical and sexual abuse were clinical variables associated with all suicidal outcomes. Physical and sexual abuse has been associated with distress in samples of individuals who have offended (Clements-Nolle, et al, 2009; Milligan & Andrews, 2005); another risk factor for suicide identified in the review. Substance misuse also featured heavily in the review. Substance misuse can function as a coping mechanism for traumatic incidents (Krysińska, K., & Lester, D, 2010), however both risk factors require tailored intervention plans that could be beneficial to reduce overall risk of suicide. However, responsibility cannot lie with probation practitioners alone. Psychologically informed partner agencies and consultation should support probation and promote appropriate signposting and intervention

Overall, the chapter demonstrates the sparsity of research regarding suicide risk factors for the probation population, and highlighted how suicidal outcomes of ideation, attempt and completed suicide are rarely examined in tandem within one research paper. In light of the wide pool of risk factors identified, it is proposed it may be beneficial to explore differences between individuals who think about suicide, and act on these thoughts and attempt suicide to identify people most at risk. This gap was explored in Chapter Three.

Chapter Three

Below outlines the research aim and questions for this chapter Aims:

- To identify sociodemographic, criminogenic and clinical differences between men on probation who have; attempted suicide, experienced solely suicidal ideation and have not experienced suicidal thoughts or behaviour.
- 2. To curate a tool that can identify individuals who may possess vulnerabilities to suicidality and may require a suicide assessment

Research questions:

- What are sociodemographic, criminogenic and clinical differences between men on probation who have; attempted suicide, experienced solely suicidal ideation and have not experienced suicidal thoughts or behaviour?
- 2. What risk factors determine vulnerabilities that increase risk of suicidality for men on probation?

Chapter Three attempted to add to the breadth of research outlined in Chapter Two in two key ways. Firstly, Chapter Two outlined how suicidal outcomes of suicidal ideation and suicide attempt are rarely explored in tandem within one study. This curates challenges regarding identifying key differences within samples. An understanding of differences in groups can help identify individuals who are most at risk of acting on suicidal thoughts and transgressing to a suicide attempt; of which is addressed within research question 1. Secondly, Chapter Two outlined a wide range of risk factors associated with suicidality in the probation population. However, how can we identify individuals most 'at risk' of a suicide attempt within a large population, particularly when probation practitioners are often over-worked and under-resourced? (Paparozzi & DeMichele, 2008). In response to research question 2, the study presented a tool that consists of risk factors significantly associated with a suicide attempt, of which are routinely and readily collated within probation practice.

The results compliment findings outlined within the systematic review; whereby clinical risk factors demonstrated strong association with a suicide attempt. Specifically, psychiatric disorder, illicit substance misuse, psychological distress and childhood abuse were identified as risk factors for suicide amongst all papers that utilised these variables in the systematic review (Brooker et al, 2021; Candarelli et al, 2014; Cook & Borrill et al, 2013; Gunter et al, 2011; Haglund et al, 2014; McCullumsmith et al, 2013; Yu & Sung, 2015a; 2015b), and Chapter 3 also identified these variables as associated with suicidal ideation and attempt. White ethnicity demonstrated significance with suicide attempt, of which compliments systematic review findings (Cook & Borrill, 2013; Gunter et al, 2011; McCullumsmith et al, 2013; Phillips et al, 2018). Conversely, psychiatric treatment demonstrated weaker significance (p=<0.05), and was only significant when comparing controls with attempt and ideation versus attempt groups. This finding could be a result of low prevalence of individuals identified as taking psychiatric treatment within the sample (24%, N=75). Alcohol misuse was also associated with suicidal ideation and attempt, however received less hits within the systematic review. This could be a result of

alcohol misuse not being utilised or captured as heavily within Chapter Two; however, the findings of Chapter Three elicit its importance in consideration within further research.

The proposed tool included the following risk factors as key to distinguish between those who attempt suicide from those who did not report suicidal ideation or a suicide attempt. Firstly, risk of self-harm held the highest power, and was the only variable to meet p=<.001 significance when comparing ideation versus attempt groups. This indicates risk of self-harm as a pertinent risk factor that could influence suicidal ideation transitioning to an attempt. Mental health conditions, illicit substance misuse, binge drinking, adverse experience of childhood and the presence of significant distress, as measured by the Kessler-6 (Kessler, 2002), were the remaining risk factors included in the tool. This largely compliments existing research in the field as outlined in Chapter Two. However, when comparing differences between groups, the risk factors identified within the tool were the only variables to demonstrate significance when comparing controls with individuals who experienced suicidal ideation, albeit only at 0.05 significance. This finding perhaps indicates when these risk factors are more prevalent, they increase the likelihood of transcending from suicidal ideation to suicide attempt. However, this contrasts previous research that indicates risk factors for suicide can often be more predictive of suicidal ideation as opposed to attempt (Favril & O'Connor, 2019; Favril et al, 2020c).

Chapter Four

Below outlines the intervention aims and research questions for this chapter Aims:

- To formulate Client X's experience of suicidal ideation, anxiety and depression with exploratory focus on emotional dysregulation as a potential contributory factor.
- To incorporate Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT; Beck & Beck, 2020) and Dialectical Behavioural Therapy (DBT; Linehan, 2014) informed skills practice to manage and reduce the presence of

identified presenting problems and overall risk of a subsequent attempt.

Research Questions:

- 1. Is CBT (Beck & Beck, 2020) and DBT (Linehan, 2014) informed intervention effective in reducing suicidal ideation for a male on probation?
- 2. Would proposed suicide tool curated in Chapter Three identify Client X's vulnerabilities for suicide?
- 3. How does the lived experience of a person on probation who has attempted suicide complement existing ideation-action theories?

Chapter Four comprised a single case study that reported on the assessment, formulation and intervention of a young adult male serving a probation order. Client X previously demonstrated a suicide attempt and experienced suicidal ideation at the time of referral. The case study permits consideration of whether the intervention utilised for Client X could be considered for the wider probation population in light of suicide prevention intervention. Furthermore, in light of the thesis as a whole, consideration was permitted to risk factors that were present with Client X, and whether the proposed tool developed in the previous chapter would successfully identify vulnerabilities to suicidality. Finally, use of a case study permits exploration of suicide risk beyond risk factors amongst a large population, and instead provides insight and depth into the lived experience of a person on probation who has attempted suicide and the subjective experience of the suicidal state (Mackenzie, 2015).

Overall, Client X's pre and post psychometrics demonstrated in improvements in wellbeing and functioning that could be attributed to CBT (Beck & Beck, 2020) and DBT (Linehan, 2014) informed psychological intervention. Specifically, regarding the severity of anxiety and depressive symptoms, distress, hopelessness and endorsement of suicide items.

The thread continued into Chapter Four, whereby the proposed tool to identify men on probation who have, or who arguably may, attempt suicide developed in Chapter Three successfully identified vulnerabilities for suicidality. Finally, the case study findings also support the three-step theory (3ST; Klonksy et al, 2015) of ideationaction, whereby Client X associated feelings of psychological pain and hopelessness with feelings of suicidal ideation. When formulating the previous suicide attempt, Client X expressed how pain experienced felt somewhat insurmountable and the prospect of taking his own life presented as a solution for pain to be alleviated. In addition, Client X was highly isolated at the time of the attempt, hence lacking meaning and purpose and previously had engaged in self-harm via means of cutting. This further supports the 3ST (Klonksy et al, 2015), whereby Client X may have habituated his fear and pain regarding self-inflicted violence, and lacked connection with others that could have further motivated suicidal ideation to transcend into attempt (Klonsky et al, 2015).

Chapter Five

Below outlines the research aim and questions for this chapter Aim: to critique the Depression, Hopelessness and Suicide Screening Form (DHS; Mills, 2004). Specifically, its validity and reliability properties and general utility when utilised in forensic settings.

Questions:

- What are the validity and reliability properties of the Depression, Hopelessness and Suicide Screening Form (DHS; Mills, 2004) when utilised in forensic settings?
- 2. What are the practical implications, limitations and proposed further research for use of the tool in forensic settings?

Chapter Five offered a critique of the DHS (Mills, 2004); the tool utilised in Chapter Four and commonly utilised by clinicals in forensic settings. An overview of the tool was provided, with consideration of how it assists understanding, evaluation and management of an individual's suicide risk. The psychometric critique provides support for the validity and reliability of the DHS (Mills, 2004) with forensic populations and outlines how the tool demonstrated good prediction of distress and enhanced prediction of suicidal ideation (Mandracchia & Smith, 2014; Martin et al 2004; Pereira et al, 2010; Mills & Kroner, 2008; Mills & Kroner, 2005b) and self-harm (Martin et al, 2014) in male offender samples. However, key information is not included in the manual, such as; sensitivity and specificity values, of which indicates lack of certainty regarding the likelihood of false negatives and false positives it could generate (Gould et al, 2017) and female offender norms, of which could promote misinterpretation of results. In addition, results of the DHS are contingent upon what individuals disclose to practitioners. Although research has indicated inmates responded honestly regarding their reporting of prior suicide indicators (Mills & kroner, 2005), and the DHS has demonstrated a weak relationship with the scale of Denial (a measure of test taking style) within the Basic Personality Inventory (Jackson, 1989), verification of internal states such as depression, hopelessness and suicidal ideation are harder to deduce. Therefore, use of the DHS (Mills, 2004) should not replace comprehensive risk assessment that incorporates interviews and file review. Finally, the tool was developed in a prison environment. Therefore, despite its utility to screen large numbers such as the probation population, it should be used with caution and balanced with clinical judgement.

Research and clinical implications

Suicidal ideation and behaviours are potentially life-threatening and have demonstrated prevalence amongst the probation population; an identified high-risk group for suicide. Yet, the disparity between research regarding suicide risk into probation populations and custodial populations persists within the research field. The thesis attempted to fill a gap in research by not only focusing on the probation population, but also considering key differences in risk factors associated with suicidal outcomes of ideation and attempt. The findings and conclusions compiled within the thesis have identified risk factors likely to increase an individual's risk of engaging in suicidal ideation and behaviours, discussed tools that can be utilised to screen for suicide risk and provided insight into the lived experience of 'at risk' individual on probation that could inform prevention initiatives. The thesis shall now consider overall future research and clinical implications.

Chapter Two utilised a systematic review to outline risk factors already identified within the field. Annually, probation practitioners engage with thousands of individuals who have offended and are at increased risk of suicide (Yu & Sung, 2015b), and hence its critical probation practitioners are effective gatekeepers. To achieve this, it is essential probation practitioners receive sufficient training. Training could incorporate practical steps to help prevent suicide, such as information of pertinent risk factors and information of referral pathways to relevant agencies. In addition, training could include information regarding through-the-gate services for support and safeguarding during transition from custody to community. However, knowledge regarding risk factors alone is not enough. It is paramount that follow-up is completed with individuals who have disclosed suicidal thoughts or behaviour attempt (Sabbatine, 2007; Sorenson & Vittes, 2008; Yu & Sung, 2015a) and hence training could increase confidence to identify, manage and effectively communicate suicide risk concerns (Mackenzie, 2015). However, there is need for clarification and further discussion regarding the role and responsibility of probation practitioners regarding the limits of duty of care and managing non-criminogenic needs like suicide risk (Cook & Borill, 2013).

Chapter Three utilised quantitative research methods to identify differences between men who experience suicidal ideation, attempt and no history of suicidal ideation or attempt and a tool was developed to identify vulnerabilities to suicidality. The tool could be completed in-action to enable consideration of the compound effect of multiple vulnerabilities on an individual's potential risk of suicide. Probation practitioners are over-worked and under-resourced (Paparozzie & DeMichele, 2008), and use of the tool provides a pragmatic and cost-time effective solution to identify individuals who may be at risk and require further provisions and support. The study holds limitations in that use of suicidal outcomes as the criterion variable denotes the study as retrospective in design. Therefore, caution should be exercised when

using the tool and it should be used in conjunction with clinical judgement. Furthermore, the tool was developed from a sample with similar proportions of controls and attempts, otherwise known as equal priors. Ideally, the tool should be developed from a sample of greater controls. Although this would increase the number of false positives attained by the tool, it would more accurately reflect the prevalence of suicide attempts in the probation population.

Despite its limitations, Chapter Three is the first study to identify significant differences between those who think about suicide, and those who act on those thoughts amongst those serving a probation order. Therefore, findings can form a basis for future prospective research that can precisely report the sequence of every predictor and outcome (Dazel et al, 2020). A large prospective study of suicide in probation that utilises an ideation-to-action model would be beneficial to identify interventions in probation services to reduce suicide rates (Brooker et al, 2021). It would also be beneficial for suicide attempts to be formally recorded on probation records so this data can be easily obtained, and risk management protocols and follow-up can be adhered to. At present, OASys records any history of self-harm, suicidal ideation or attempt. However, these are separate phenomena with distinctive functions and precipitating factors. Hence, it could be beneficial to document each outcome separately and to map the date of when the outcome occurred to identify temporal risk factors. Finally, the proposed tool could be validated on alternative samples, and could compare individuals on probation who are; high risk of harm to others, not engaged with a mental health service, and women, to ascertain whether further differences exist.

Chapter Four comprised a single case study that reported on the assessment, formulation and intervention of a young adult male serving a probation order. The case study illustrates how CBT (Beck & Beck, 2020) and DBT (Linehan, 2014) informed intervention reduced feelings of hopelessness and the presence of suicidal ideation, of which there is an established significant relationship found in forensic and general population samples (Chin & Holden, 2013; Yu & Sung, 2015b). It is proposed hopelessness as an important feature to consider when formulating

presence of suicidal ideation or associated risk behaviours. Furthermore, life stressors have also been associated with the presence of suicidal ideation (Fitzpatrick et al, 2007), and in the case of Client X instance encouraged suicidal ideation to transcend into a suicide attempt. Therefore, emotional regulation intervention may further assist to help manage associated stressors and hence reduce the likelihood of suicidal thoughts or behaviours as a form of coping. However, the case study illustrates the importance of intervention beyond solely the psychological. Attention should be permitted to the context whereby distress arises, of which requires adequate funding and resources beyond mental health services. Despite the case study demonstrating support for the use of DBT (Linehan, 2014) and CBT (Beck & Beck, 2020) informed intervention for suicide prevention, each case should be formulated individually with support from psychology professionals. Finally, the tool developed in Chapter Three successfully identified vulnerabilities for suicide with Client X. Although this further supports the validity of the tool, further validity and reliability of the tool should be tested on a larger probation sample.

Chapter Five offered a critique of the DHS (Mills, 2004), a suicide screening tool utilised in Chapter Four and commonly used by clinicals in forensic settings. Chapter Five outlined benefits of utilising the tool in clinical practice, including the benefits of standardised scoring to promote objective results amongst a large population in a reduced resource and time intensive manner. The supervision requirements for the probation population illicit an effective mechanism for screening, however resource limitations often result in screening components of effective suicide prevention protocol being overlooked. However, this brief self-report instrument demonstrates potential to identify individuals at increased risk of harm to self of which could be utilised in the intake process (Mills & Kroner, 2005). However, it is important to consider the tool was standardised for prison populations whereby more extensive file information and observation opportunities are likely to be available, and therefore clinical judgement should be exercised in circumstances where this is not available. Finally, the DHS was not developed as a substitution for a comprehensive assessment of hopelessness, depression, or risk of harm to self (Mills & Kroner, 2004). However, this task may lay beyond the ever-increasing role of the probation practitioner (Cook & Borill, 2013).

Conclusions

The final thesis chapter has surmised overall findings and reflected on implications for research and clinical practice. Clinically, evidence-informed guidelines for practitioners working with individuals on probation at risk of suicide may be particularly beneficial to provide insight into effective interventions and risk management. Regarding research, the lack of universally agreed-upon definition regarding what constitutes suicidal ideation, behaviours and even completed suicide has hindered progress in suicide theory and research (Klonsky, 2016). The multiplicity of definitions reflects suicide's complex nature, however is one factor that contributes to inconsistency in research findings and possible under-reporting of suicide in high-risk groups. Hence, existing research may not accurately reflect real life suicide risk for individuals on probation, of which can perpetuate further disparities in care. Therefore, clear definitions of what constitutes suicidal outcomes may be beneficial to aid progress within the suicide research field. Furthermore, although findings can form a basis for future prospective studies, these studies hold practical and ethnical limitations as intervention would be required if a suicide attempt is imminent. However, use of the ideation-action framework for probation populations would support advancing suicide knowledge and prevention (Klonsky, 2016).

Each chapter of the thesis aimed to update practitioners' knowledge and confidence regarding risk factors relevant to the assessment of suicide risk and inform empirically supported individualised suicide prevention programmes (Cook & Borill, 2013; McCullumsmith et al, 2013). However, probation do not have surplus resources to manage suicide risk. Responsibility must be shared between probation, prison and community services to provide integrated, quality resettlement support and care for people on probation (Pratt et al, 2006). The thesis indicates the utility of mental health partnership with The National Probation Service for assessment and

intervention services. Third sector psychology services have demonstrated efficiency and efficacy within Community Rehabilitation Company (Fowler et al, 2019). However, to our knowledge mental health provisions appear lacking in current National Probation Service provision, whereby reliance is held upon community mental health teams. The nature of work completed within third-partner service embedded within probation is often limited in duration of intervention. However, specialist consultation and formulation with psychology professionals could support identification of intervention to address more deep-seated difficulties, of which has demonstrated efficacy within the Offender Personality Disorder Pathway (Knauer et al, 2017).

Although there are vast numbers of individuals on probation, supervision includes an intake assessment and regular reporting of which can support suicide screening as part of risk assessment. Although probation practitioners require training to identify, manage and effectively communicate suicide risk concerns; screening is responsive to the demands on probation practitioners. The thesis outlines two possible screening mechanisms; the tool developed from the empirical research paper and the DHS (Mills, 2004). Limitations of both tools should be held in mind due to screening tool development from a retrospective design and the DHS (Mills, 2004) being developed with prison samples. Although both tools should never mitigate the necessity for ongoing monitoring of dynamic risk factors of harm to self, they could be utilised in conjunction with clinical judgement, existing reports and behavioural observation. Furthermore, it is demonstrated that engagement with health services for individuals who have offended is incommensurate in relation to their level of need, and therefore additional support may be required to overcome these barriers to prevent further disparities in care when risk is identified (Brooker et al, 2012; Hausmann et al, 2011; Phillips et al, 2018).

Although the probation population has been neglected in the field of suicide research, there is evidence of deserved increasing research interest and attention. Despite this progress, we must not lose sight that further developments are required

to support the Department of Health and National Probation Strategy to improve awareness of suicide risk and prevention for this high-risk group (Department of Health & Social Care, 2023; National Probation Service, 2019). Future research regarding suicide risk in probation should be prioritised to ensure individuals on probation receive the attention they desperately need and deserve. Despite positive outcomes of the thesis as a whole, there is still much work to be done in understanding the aetiology of suicide risk amongst this population, including how it can be identified, assessed and managed. It is highly recommended that further evaluation and research is completed to support this high-risk group for suicide to continue to advance current knowledge and understanding of suicide risk on probation.

References

- Abdollahi, A., Hosseinian, S., Panahipour, H., & Allen, K. A. (2019). Cognitive behavioural therapy as an effective treatment for social anxiety, perfectionism, and rumination. *Current Psychology*, *40*(9), 4698–4707. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-019-00411-w</u>
- Abramson, L. Y., Metalsky, G. I., & Alloy, L. B. (1989). Hopelessness depression: A theorybased subtype of depression. *Psychological Review*, *96*(2), 358–372. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295x.96.2.358</u>
- Aguilar-Yamuza, B., Trenados, Y., Herruzo, C., Pino, M. J., & Herruzo, J. (2024). A systematic review of treatment for impulsivity and compulsivity. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2024.1430409
- Akehurst M., Brown I., & Wessley S. (1995). *Dying for help: Offenders at risk of suicide*. Wakefield, UK: Association of Chief Probation Officers
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (5th ed.).
- Antunes, S., Wainwright, V., & Gredecki, N. (2021). Suicide prevention across the UK criminal justice system: an overview of current provision and future directions. The Journal Of Forensic Practice, 23(1), 53-62. doi: 10.1108/jfp-07-2020-0029
- Baca-García, E., Perez-Rodriguez, M. M., Oquendo, M. A., Keyes, K. M., Hasin, D. S., Grant, B.
 F., & Blanco, C. (2011). Estimating risk for suicide attempt: Are we asking the right questions? *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *134*(1–3), 327–332.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2011.06.026
- Bácskai, E., Czobor, P., & Gerevich, J. (2009). Suicidality and trait aggression related to childhood victimization in patients with alcoholism. *Psychiatry research*, *165*(1-2), 103–110. https://doi-org.nottingham.idm.oclc.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2007.11.013
- Baer, M. M., Tull, M. T., Forbes, C. N., Richmond, J. R., & Gratz, K. L. (2019). Methods Matter: Nonsuicidal Self-Injury in the Form of Cutting is Uniquely Associated with Suicide Attempt Severity in Patients with Substance Use Disorders. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, 50(2), 397–407. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/sltb.12596</u>

- Baillargeon, J., Penn, J. V., Thomas, C. R., Temple, J. R., Baillargeon, G., & Murray, O. J.
 (2009). Psychiatric disorders and suicide in the nation's largest state prison
 system. *The journal of the American Academy of Psychiatry and the Law*, *37*(2), 188–193.
- Ballard, E. D., Farmer, C. A., Gerner, J., Bloomfield-Clagett, B., Park, L. T., & Zarate, C. A. (2022). Prospective association of psychological pain and hopelessness with suicidal thoughts. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *308*, 243–248.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2022.04.033
- Barton, S. B., Armstrong, P. V., Robinson, L. J., & Bromley, E. H. (2023). CBT for difficult-totreat depression: self-regulation model. *Behavioural and Cognitive Psychotherapy*, 51(6), 543–558. https://doi.org/10.1017/s1352465822000273
- Bar-On, R. (1997). BarOn Emotional Quotient inventory: A Measure of Emotional
- Batty, G. D., Kivimäki, M., Bell, S., Gale, C. R., Shipley, M. J., Whitley, E., & Gunnell, D. (2018).
 Psychosocial characteristics as potential predictors of suicide in adults: an overview of the evidence with new results from prospective cohort studies. *Translational Psychiatry*, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-017-0072-8
- Beautrais, A. L. (2004). Further suicidal behavior among medically serious suicide attempters. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, *34*(1), 1–11.

Beck, A. T. (1979). *Cognitive therapy of Depression*. Guilford Press.

- Beck, A. T., Epstein, N., Brown, G., & Steer, R. A. (1988). An inventory for measuring clinical anxiety: Psychometric properties. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 56, 893–897.
- Beck, J. S., & Beck, A. T. (2020). *Cognitive Behavior Therapy, Third Edition: Basics and Beyond* (Third ed.). The Guilford Press.
- Beck, A. T., Steer, R. A., & Brown, G. (1996). Beck Depression Inventory–II [Dataset]. In *PsycTESTS Dataset*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/t00742-000</u>
- Beck, A. T., Steer, R. A., & Brown, G. (1996). Beck Depression Inventory–II. *PsycTESTS Dataset*. https://doi.org/10.1037/t00742-000
- Beck AT, Steer RA, Ranieri WF (1988). Scale for Suicidal Ideation: psychometric properties of a self-report version. J Clin Psychol. 44(4):499–505

- Beck, A. T., Weissman, A., Lester, D., & Trexler, L. D. (1974). The measurement of pessimism:
 The Hopelessness Scale. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *42*(6), 861–
 865. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0037562
- Becker, C. B., Plasencia, M., Kilpela, L. S., Briggs, M., & Stewart, T. M. (2014). Changing the course of comorbid eating disorders and depression: what is the role of public health interventions in targeting shared risk factors? *Journal of Eating Disorders*, 2(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/2050-2974-2-15
- Bentley, K. H., Franklin, J. C., Ribeiro, J. D., Kleiman, E. M., Fox, K., & Nock, M. K. (2016).
 Anxiety and its disorders as risk factors for suicidal thoughts and behaviors: A metaanalytic review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 43, 30–46.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2015.11.008
- Bernert, R. A., Kim, J. S., Iwata, N. G., & Perlis, M. L. (2015). Sleep Disturbances as an Evidence-Based Suicide Risk Factor. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 17(3). <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-015-0554-4</u>
- Bhargav, M., & Swords, L. (2022). Role of thwarted belongingness, perceived burdensomeness and psychological distress in the association between adverse childhood experiences and suicidal ideation in college students. *BJPsych Open*, 8(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.1192/bjo.2021.1087</u>
- Binswanger, I. A., Blatchford, P. J., Lindsay, R., & Stern, M. (2011). Risk factors for all-cause, overdose and early deaths after release from prison in Washington state. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *117*(1), 1–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2010.11.029</u>
- Binswanger, I. A., Nowels, C., Corsi, K. F., Glanz, J., Long, J., Booth, R. E., & Steiner, J. F.

(2012). Return to drug use and overdose after release from prison: a qualitative

study of risk and protective factors. Addiction Science & Clinical Practice, 7(1).

https://doi.org/10.1186/1940-0640-7-3

Birmingham, L. (2004). Mental disorder and prisons. *Psychiatric Bulletin*, *28*(11), 393–397. <u>https://doi.org/10.1192/pb.28.11.393</u>

- Björk, T., & Lindqvist, P. (2005). Mortality among mentally disordered offenders: a community based follow-up study. *Criminal behaviour and mental health : CBMH*, 15(2), 93–96. <u>https://doi-org.nottingham.idm.oclc.org/10.1002/cbm.41</u>
- Blaauw, E., Arensman, E., Kraaij, V., Winkel, F. W., & Bout, R. (2002). Traumatic life events and suicide risk among jail inmates: the influence of types of events, time period and significant others. *Journal of traumatic stress*, 15(1), 9–16. https://doiorg.nottingham.idm.oclc.org/10.1023/A:1014323009493
- Bland, R. C., Newman, S. C., Thompson, A. H., & Dyck, R. J. (1998). Psychiatric disorders in the population and in prisoners. *International journal of law and psychiatry*, 21(3), 273–279. <u>https://doi-org.nottingham.idm.oclc.org/10.1016/s0160-2527(98)00005-3</u>
- Boothby, J. L., & Durham, T. W. (1999). Screening for depression in prisoners using the Beck Depression Inventory. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, *26*(1), 107–124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0093854899026001006</u>
- Bolton, J. M., Gunnell, D., & Turecki, G. (2015). Suicide risk assessment and intervention in people with mental illness. *BMJ*, 351(nov09 1), h4978.
 https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.h4978
- Borges, G., Walters, E. E., & Kessler, R. C. (2000). Associations of Substance Use, Abuse, and Dependence with Subsequent Suicidal Behavior. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 151(8), 781–789. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a010278</u>
- Bowlby, J. (2012). A secure base. Routledge
- Brausch, A. M., & Gutierrez, P. M. (2009). Differences in Non-Suicidal Self-Injury and suicide attempts in adolescents. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 39(3), 233–242. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-009-9482-0</u>
- Brezo, J., Barker, E. D., Paris, J., Hébert, M., Vitaro, F., Tremblay, R. E., & Turecki, G. (2008).
 Childhood trajectories of anxiousness and disruptiveness as predictors of suicide attempts. *Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine*, *162*(11), 1015.
 https://doi.org/10.1001/archpedi.162.11.1015
- Brezo, J., Bureau, A., Mérette, C., Jomphe, V., Barker, E. D., Vitaro, F., Hebert, M. R.,Carbonneau, R., Tremblay, R. E., & Turecki, G. (2009). Differences and similarities inthe serotonergic diathesis for suicide attempts and mood disorders: a 22-year

longitudinal gene–environment study. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 15(8), 831–843. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2009.19

- Bridges, A., Owers, A., & Flanagan, R. (2008). Probation hostels: Control, Help and Change? A Joint Inspection of Probation Approved Premises. Criminal Justice Joint Inspection.
- British Psychological Society. (2017). Position statement: Understanding and preventing suicide: A Psychological Perspective - NSPA. <u>https://nspa.org.uk/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2021/04/BPS-Position-Statement-Understanding-and-preventing-</u> <u>suicide-1.pdf</u>
- Brodsky, B. S., Oquendo, M., Ellis, S. P., Haas, G. L., Malone, K. M., & Mann, J. J. (2001). The relationship of childhood abuse to impulsivity and suicidal behavior in adults with major depression. *The American journal of psychiatry*, *158*(11), 1871–1877. https://doi-org.nottingham.idm.oclc.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.158.11.1871
- Brooke, D., Taylor, C., Gunn, J., & Maden, A. (1996). Point prevalence of mental disorder in unconvicted male prisoners in England and Wales. *BMJ (Clinical research ed.)*, 313(7071), 1524–1527. <u>https://doi-</u>

org.nottingham.idm.oclc.org/10.1136/bmj.313.7071.1524

Brooker, C., & Ramsbotham, D. (2014). Probation and mental health: who cares? *British Journal of General Practice*, *64*(621), 170–171.

https://doi.org/10.3399/bjgp14x677743

- Brooker, C, Sirdifield, C, Blizard, R, Denney, D, Pluck, G. (2012). Probation and mental illness. *The Journal of Forensic Psychiatry & Psychology*, *23*(4), 522–537.
- Brooker, C., Sirdifield, C., & Marples, R. (2020). Mental health and probation: A systematic review of the literature. *Forensic Science International: Mind and Law*, *1*, 100003. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsiml.2019.100003
- Brooker, C., Sirdifield, C., Blizard, R., Denney, D., & Pluck, G. (2017). Probation and mental illness. *Journal of Forensic Psychiatry & Psychology*, *23*(4), 522–537. https://doi.org/10.1080/14789949.2012.704640
- Brooker, C., Tocque, K., West, G., Norman-Taylor, A., & Fowler, J. (2021). Suicide in probation: Towards the ideation-to-action model. *Probation Journal*, 70(1), 6–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/02645505211041581</u>

- Burrell, L. V., Mehlum, L., & Qin, P. (2018). Sudden parental death from external causes and risk of suicide in the bereaved offspring: A national study. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 96, 49–56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2017.09.023</u>
- Calati, R., Ferrari, C., Brittner, M., Oasi, O., Olié, E., Carvalho, A. F., & Courtet, P. (2018).
 Suicidal thoughts and behaviors and social isolation: A narrative review of the literature. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *245*, 653–667.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2018.11.022
- Cardarelli, R., Balyakina, E., Malone, K., Fulda, K. G., Ellison, M., Sivernell, R., & Shabu, T.
 (2014). Suicide risk and mental health co-morbidities in a probationer population.
 Community Mental Health Journal, *51*(2), 145–152. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10597-014-9771-2</u>
- Cavanagh, J., Carson, A., Sharpe, M., & Lawrie, S. M. (2003). Psychological autopsy studies of suicide: a systematic review. *Psychological Medicine*, *33*(3), 395–405. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0033291702006943</u>
- Chin J., & Holden R. R. (2013). Multidimensional future time perspective as moderators of the relationships between suicide motivation, preparation, and its predictors. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, (4), 395–405.
- Chu, J. P., Goldblum, P., Floyd, R., & Bongar, B. (2010). The cultural theory and model of suicide. *Applied and Preventive Psychology*, *14*(1–4), 25–40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appsy.2011.11.001</u>
- Chu, C., Walker, K. L., Stanley, I. H., Hirsch, J. K., Greenberg, J. H., Rudd, M. D., & Joiner, T. E. (2017). Perceived problem-solving deficits and suicidal ideation: Evidence for the explanatory roles of thwarted belongingness and perceived burdensomeness in five samples. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *115*(1), 137–160. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/pspp0000152</u>
- Clements-Nolle, K., Wolden, M., & Bargmann-Losche, J. (2009). Childhood trauma and risk for past and future suicide attempts among women in prison. *Women's health issues : official publication of the Jacobs Institute of Women's Health*, *19*(3), 185–192. <u>https://doi-org.nottingham.idm.oclc.org/10.1016/j.whi.2009.02.002</u>

- Cole, D. A. (1988). Hopelessness, social desirability, depression, and parasuicide in two college student samples. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 56(1), 131–136. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006x.56.1.131
- Coker, A. L., Davis, K. E., Arias, I., Desai, S., Sanderson, M., Brandt, H. M., & Smith, P. H. (2002). Physical and mental health effects of intimate partner violence for men and women. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 23(4), 260–268. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0749-3797(02)00514-7
- Conejero, I., Olié, E., Calati, R., Ducasse, D., & Courtet, P. (2018). Psychological Pain, Depression, and Suicide: Recent evidences and future directions. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 20(5). <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-018-0893-z</u>
- Cook, L. C., & Borrill, J. (2013). Identifying suicide risk in a Metropolitan Probation Trust: Risk
 Factors and staff decision making. *Legal and Criminological Psychology*, 20(2), 255–266. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/lcrp.12034</u>
- Core System Group (2002). CORE System (Information Management) Handbook. Leeds, Core System Group.
- Correia, K. M. (2000). Suicide assessment in a prison environment. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 27(5), 581–599. https://doi.org/10.1177/0093854800027005003
- Cortina, J. M. (1993). What is coefficient alpha? An examination of theory and applications. Journal of Applied Psychology, 78(1), 98–104. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.78.1.98
- Cottler, L. B., Campbell, W., Krishna, V. a. S., Cunningham-Williams, R. M., & Abdallah, A. B. (2005). Predictors of High Rates of Suicidal Ideation Among Drug Users. *NIH Public Access*, 193(7), 431–437. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.nmd.0000168245.56563.90
- Courtney, D., & Maschi, T. (2012). Trauma and stress among older adults in prison: Breaking the cycle of silence. *Traumatology an International Journal*, *19*(1), 73–81. https://doi.org/10.1177/1534765612437378
- Cramer, R. J., Garza, M., Henderson, C. E., Ribeiro, J. D., Silva, C., Smith, A. R., Joiner, T. E., & White, J. (2012). A Trait-Interpersonal perspective on suicide risk in criminal offenders. *Archives of Suicide Research*, *16*(4), 334–347.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/13811118.2013.722057
- Crewe, B., & Ievins, A. (2019). The prison as a reinventive institution. *Theoretical Criminology*, 24(4), 568–589. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362480619841900
- Critical Appraisal Skills Programme (2018). CASP Checklist. [online] Available at: https://casp-uk.net/casp-tools-checklists/. Accessed: Date 03/03/2023.
- Cunningham, P. J. (2009). Beyond parity: Primary care physicians' perspectives on access to mental health care. *Health Affairs, 28*(3), w490–w501.
- D'Anci, K. E., Uhl, S., Giradi, G., & Martin, C. (2019). Treatments for the prevention and management of suicide. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *171*(5), 334. <u>https://doi.org/10.7326/m19-0869</u>
- Daigle, M. S., & Naud, H. (2012). Risk of Dying by Suicide Inside or Outside Prison: The Shortened Lives of Male Offenders. *Canadian Journal of Criminology and Criminal Justice*, *54*(4), 511–528. <u>https://doi.org/10.3138/cjccj.2011.e.54</u>
- Dazzi, T., Gribble, R., Wessely, S., & Fear, N. T. (2014). Does asking about suicide and related behaviours induce suicidal ideation? What is the evidence? *Psychological Medicine*, 44(16), 3361–3363. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0033291714001299</u>
- De Leo, D., Burgis, S., Bertolote, J. M., Kerkhof, A. J. F. M., & Bille-Brahe, U. (2004).
 Definitions of suicidal behaviour. In D. DeLeo, U. Bille-Brahe, A. Kerkhof & A.
 Schmidtke (Eds.), Suicidal Behaviour: Theories and Research Findings (pp. 17-40).
 Germany: Hogrefe Publishing.
- Department of Health and Social Care. (2012, September 10). *Suicide prevention strategy for England*. GOV.UK. <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/suicide-</u> prevention-strategy-for-england
- Department of Health & Social Care. *Suicide prevention in England: 5-year cross-sector strategy*. (2023, September 8). GOV.UK.

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/suicide-prevention-strategy-forengland-2023-to-2028/suicide-prevention-in-england-5-year-cross-sectorstrategy#executive-summary

Department of Health. (2001). Safety First: Five-year Report of the National Confidential Inquiry into Suicide and Homicide by People with Mental Illness. London: Department of Health,.

- Dieserud, G., Røysamb, E., Ekeberg, Ø., & Kraft, P. (2001). Toward an integrative model of suicide attempt: a cognitive psychological approach. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, 31(2), 153–168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1521/suli.31.2.153.21511</u>
- Dixon-Gordon, K. L., Harrison, N. A., & Roesch, R. (2012). Non-Suicidal Self-Injury within Offender Populations: A Systematic review. *International Journal of Forensic Mental Health*, *11*(1), 33–50. https://doi.org/10.1080/14999013.2012.667513
- Draine, J., & Solomon, P. (2000). Anxiety and depression symptoms and quality of life among clients of a psychiatric probation and parole service. *Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal*, *24*(1), 38–45. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/h0095125</u>
- Dumais, A., Lesage, A., Alda, M., Rouleau, G. A., Dumont, M., Chawky, N., Roy, M. S., Mann,
 J. J., Benkelfat, C., & Turecki, G. (2005). Risk Factors for Suicide Completion in Major
 Depression: A Case-Control Study of Impulsive and Aggressive Behaviors in Men.
 American Journal of Psychiatry, 162(11), 2116–2124.
 https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.162.11.2116
- Egger, M., Schneider, M., & Smith, G. D. (1998). Meta-analysis Spurious precision? Metaanalysis of observational studies. *BMJ*, *316*(7125), 140–144. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.316.7125.140</u>
- Esqueda, C. W. (2010). Cross-Cultural Perspectives on Stigma. In *Springer eBooks* (pp. 185–204). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-6293-5_10
- Evans, C., Connell, J., Barkham, M., Margison, F., McGrath, G., Mellor-Clark, J., & Audin, K. (2002). Towards a standardised brief outcome measure: Psychometric properties and utility of the CORE–OM. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, *180*(1), 51–60.
 https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.180.1.51
- Favril, L. (2021). Epidemiology, Risk Factors, and Prevention of Suicidal Thoughts and Behaviour in Prisons: a literature review. *Psychologica Belgica*, *61*(1), 341–355.
 https://doi.org/10.5334/pb.1072
- Favril L and O'Connor R (2019) Distinguishing prisoners who think about suicide from those who attempt suicide. Psychological Medicine 51(2): 228–235. doi:10.1017/S0033291719003118.
- Favril L, Indig D, Gear C, et al. (2020a) Mental disorders and risk of suicide attempt in prisoners. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology 55: 1145–1155.

- Favril L, O'Connor R, Hawton K, et al. (2020b) Factors associated with the transition from suicidal ideation to suicide attempt in prison. European Psychiatry63(1): 1–7.
- Favril, L., Stoliker, B., & Vander Laenen, F. (2020c). What Differentiates Prisoners Who Attempt Suicide from Those Who Experience Suicidal Ideation? A Nationally Representative Study. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, *50*(5), 975–989. https://doi.org/10.1111/sltb.12638
- Fazel, S., & Benning, R. (2009). Suicides in female prisoners in England and Wales, 1978–2004. The British Journal of Psychiatry, 194(2), 183–184.
 https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.107.046490
- Fazel, S., Benning, R., & Danesh, J. (2005). Suicides in male prisoners in England and Wales, 1978–2003. *The Lancet*, 366(9493), 1301–1302. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(05)67325-4</u>
- Fazel S, Cartwright J, Norman-Nott A, Hawton K (2008) Suicide in prisoners: A systematic review of risk factors. Journal of Clinical Psychiatry. 69:1721–1731
- Fazel S, Danesh J. Serious mental disorder in 23000 prisoners: a systematic review of 62 surveys. Lancet. (2002) Feb 16;359(9306):545-50. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(02)07740-1. PMID: 11867106.
- Fazel, S., Grann, M., Kling, B., & Hawton, K. (2011). Prison suicide in 12 countries: an ecological study of 861 suicides during 2003–2007. Social Psychiatry And Psychiatric Epidemiology, 46(3), 191-195. doi: 10.1007/s00127-010-0184-4
- Fazel, S., Ramesh, T., & Hawton, K. (2017). Suicide in prisons: an international study of prevalence and contributory factors. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 4(12), 946–952. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s2215-0366(17)30430-3</u>
- Fergusson, D. M., Woodward, L. J., & Horwood, L. J. (2000). Risk factors and life processes associated with the onset of suicidal behaviour during adolescence and early adulthood. *Psychological Medicine*, 30(1), 23–39. https://doi.org/10.1017/s003329179900135x
- Field, A. (2005) Reliability analysis. In: Field, A., Ed., Discovering Statistics Using spss. 2nd Edition, Sage, London, Chapter 15.
- Figueiredo, A., & Abreu, T. (2015b). Suicide among LGBT individuals. *European Psychiatry*, *30*, 1815. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0924-9338(15)31398-5</u>

- Fitzpatrick K. M., Irwin J., LaGory M., & Ritchey F. (2007). Just thinking about it: Social capital and suicide ideation among homeless persons. *Journal of Health Psychology*, (5), 750–760.
- Fowler, J., Allen, J., Oldham, J., & Frueh, B. (2013). Exposure to interpersonal trauma, attachment insecurity, and depression severity. Journal Of Affective Disorders, 149(1-3), 313-318. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2013.01.045
- Fowler, J. C., Price, R. C., Burger, K., Mattei, A. J., McCarthy, A. M., Lowe, & Sathiyaseelan, T. (2019). Embedding third sector psychology services within the probation environment: an alternative to MHTRs. *Journal of Criminal Psychology*, *10*(1), 16–29. https://doi.org/10.1108/jcp-04-2019-0013
- Fox A., Khan L., Briggs D., Rees-Jones N., Thompson Z., Owens J. (2005). Home Office on-line report 01/05—throughcare and aftercare: approaches and promising practice in service delivery for clients released from prison or leaving residential rehabilitation. London: Home Office.
- Fox, A. D., Moore, A., Binswanger, I. A., & Kinner, S. (2019). Deaths in custody and following release. *Journal of Health and Human Services Administration*, *41*(4), 45-84.
- Frank E. Harrell, Jr. (2015). *Regression modeling strategies: With Applications to Linear Models, Logistic and Ordinal Regression, and Survival Analysis*. Springer.
- Fresán, A., Dionisio-García, D. M., González-Castro, T. B., Ramos-Méndez, M. Á., Castillo-Ávila, R. G., Tovilla-Zárate, C. A., Juárez-Rojop, I. E., López-Narváez, M. L., Genis-Mendoza, A. D., & Nicolini, H. (2022). Cannabis smoking increases the risk of suicide ideation and suicide attempt in young individuals of 11–21 years: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 153, 90–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2022.06.053
- Fruehwald, S., Matschnig, T., Koenig, F., Bauer, P., & Frottier, P. (2018). Suicide in custody. British Journal of Psychiatry, 185(6), 494–498. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.185.6.494
- Fu, Q., Heath, A. C., Bucholz, K. K., Nelson, E. C., Glowinski, A. L., Goldberg, J., Lyons, M. J., Tsuang, M. T., Jacob, T., True, M., & Eisen, S. A. (2002). A twin study of genetic and environmental influences on suicidality in men. *Psychological Medicine*, *32*(1), 11– 24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0033291701004846</u>

- Furnham, A. (1986). Response bias, social desirability and dissimulation. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 7(3), 385–400. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0191-8869(86)90014-0</u>
- Galway, K., Gossrau-Breen, D., Mallon, S., Hughes, L., Rosato, M., Rondon-Sulbaran, J., & Leavey, G. (2015). Substance misuse in life and death in a 2-year cohort of suicides.
 The British Journal of Psychiatry, 208(3), 292–297.
 https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.114.147603
- Giancola, P. R. (2002). Irritability, acute alcohol consumption and aggressive behavior in men and women. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *68*(3), 263–274. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0376-8716(02)00221-1</u>
- Gould, C., McGeorge, T., & Slade, K. (2017). Suicide Screening Tools for use in Incarcerated Offenders: A Systematic Review. Archives Of Suicide Research, 22(3), 345-364. doi: 10.1080/13811118.2017.1334611
- Graney, J., Hunt, I. M., Quinlivan, L., Rodway, C., Turnbull, P., Gianatsi, M., Appleby, L., & Kapur, N. (2020). Suicide risk assessment in UK mental health services: a national mixed-methods study. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 7(12), 1046–1053. https://doi.org/10.1016/s2215-0366(20)30381-3
- Gunter, T. D., Chibnall, J. T., Antoniak, S. K., Philibert, R. A., & Hollenbeck, N. (2011).
 Predictors of suicidal ideation, suicide attempts, and self-harm without lethal intent in a community corrections sample. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, *39*(3), 238–245.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcrimjus.2011.02.005
- Gunter, T. D., Chibnall, J. T., Antoniak, S., Philibert, R. A., & Black, D. W. (2013). Childhood trauma, traumatic brain injury, and mental health disorders associated with suicidal ideation and suicide-related behavior in a community corrections sample. *PubMed*, *41*(2), 245–255. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23771938</u>
- Guydish J., Chan M., Bostorm A., Jessup M. A., Davis T. B., & Marsh C. (2011). A randomized trial of probation case managmenet for drug-involved women offenders. *Crime and Delinquency*, (2), 169–198.
- Hamai, K., Harris, R., Hough, M., Ville, R., & Zvekic, U. (2005). *Probation round the world*. Routledge.

- Haglund, A., Tidemalm, D., Jokinen, J., Långström, N., Lichtenstein, P., Fazel, S., & Runeson,
 B. (2014). Suicide after release from prison. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, *75*(10),
 1047–1053. https://doi.org/10.4088/jcp.13m08967
- Håkansson, A., Brådvik, L., Schlyter, F., & Berglund, M. (2010). Factors Associated with the History of Attempted Suicide. *Crisis-the Journal of Crisis Intervention and Suicide Prevention*, *31*(1), 12–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1027/0227-5910/a000008</u>
- Halicka, J., & Kiejna, A. (2015). Differences between suicide and non-suicidal self-harm behaviours: a literary review. Archives of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, 17(3), 59–63. https://doi.org/10.12740/app/58953
- Hallgren, K. A. (2012). Computing inter-rater reliability for Observational Data: An overview and tutorial. *Tutorials in Quantitative Methods for Psychology*, 8(1), 23–34.
 https://doi.org/10.20982/tqmp.08.1.p023
- Harmer, B., Lee, S., Duong, TVH., Saadabadi, A (2023) Suicidal Ideation. *In: StatPearls. StatPearls Publishing*, Treasure Island (FL); 2022.
- Hausmann, L. R. M., Hannon, M. J., Kresevic, D. M., Hanusa, B. H., Kwoh, C. K., & Ibrahim, S.
 A. (2011). Impact of perceived discrimination in healthcare on patient-provider communication. *Medical Care*, 49(7), 626.
- Hawton, K. (2002). Studying survivors of nearly lethal suicide attempts: an important strategy in suicide research. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, *32*(s1), 76–84.
 https://doi.org/10.1521/suli.32.1.5.76.24215
- Hawton, K., Comabella, C. C. I., Haw, C., & Saunders, K. E. A. (2013). Risk factors for suicide in individuals with depression: A systematic review. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 147(1–3), 17–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2013.01.004
- Hawton, K., Linsell, L., Adeniji, T., Sariaslan, A., & Fazel, S. (2014). Self-harm in prisons in England and Wales: an epidemiological study of prevalence, risk factors, clustering, and subsequent suicide. *The Lancet*, 383(9923), 1147–1154. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(13)62118-2
- Hayes, L. M. (1995). Prison suicide: An Overview and a Guide to Prevention. *The Prison Journal*, *75*(4), 431–456. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0032855595075004003</u>

- Hemmati, T., Mills, J. F., & Kroner, D. G. (2004). The validity of the Bar-On emotional intelligence quotient in an offender population. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 37(4), 695–706. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2003.10.003</u>
- Henderson, L. K., Craig, J. C., Willis, N. S., Tovey, D., & Webster, A. C. (2010). How to write a Cochrane systematic review. *Nephrology*, 15(6), 617–624. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1797.2010.01380.x
- HM Inspectorate of Probation (2021). A Joint Thematic Inspection of the Criminal Justice Journey for Individuals with Mental Health Needs and Disorders. Manchester: Her Majesty's Inspectorate of Probation
- Holden, R. R., Mendonça, J. D., & Serin, R. C. (1989). Suicide, hopelessness, and social desirability: A test of an interactive model. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *57*(4), 500–504. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006x.57.4.500</u>
- Holt, M. K., Vivolo-Kantor, A. M., Polanin, J. R., Holland, K. M., DeGue, S., Matjasko, J. L.,
 Wolfe, M., & Reid, G. (2015). Bullying and Suicidal Ideation and Behaviors: A Meta-Analysis. *Pediatrics*, 135(2), e496–e509. <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2014-1864</u>
- Horon, R., McManus, T., Schmollinger, J., Barr, T., & Jimenez, M. (2013). A Study of the Use and Interpretation of Standardized Suicide Risk Assessment: Measures within a Psychiatrically Hospitalized Correctional Population. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, 43(1), 17–38. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1943-278x.2012.00124.x
- Howard, J., Lennings, C. J., & Copeland, J. (2003). Suicidal behavior in a young offender population. *Crisis*, *24*(3), 98–104. <u>https://doi-</u>

org.nottingham.idm.oclc.org/10.1027//0227-5910.24.3.98

- Humphreys, M. (2000). Aspects of basic management of offenders with mental disorders. Advances in Psychiatric Treatment, 6(1), 22–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1192/apt.6.1.22</u>
- Hyun, N., Young, M. & Ho, N.(2015). The Associations between Aggression, Acquired
 Capability for Suicide and Suicidal Behavior in Male Alcohol Use Disorders. *Korean Journal of Health Psychology*, 20(1), 253–265.
 https://doi.org/10.17315/kjhp.2015.20.1.014
- Ireland, J. L., & York, C. (2012). Exploring application of the Interpersonal-Psychological Theory of Suicidal Behaviour to self-injurious behaviour among women prisoners:

Proposing a new model of understanding. *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry*, *35*(1), 70–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijlp.2011.11.006

- Ivanoff, A., & Jang, S. J. (1991). The role of hopelessness and social desirability in predicting suicidal behavior: A study of prison inmates. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 59(3), 394–399. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006x.59.3.394</u>
- Jackson, D. N. (1989). *The Basic Personality Inventory manual*. Port Huron, MI: Sigma Assessment Systems
- James, A., Lai, F. H., & Dahl, C. (2004). Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder and suicide: A review of possible associations. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *110*(6), 408–415.
- Jenkins, R., Bhugra, D., Meltzer, H., Singleton, N., Bebbington, P., & Brugha, T. et al.
 (2005). Psychiatric and social aspects of suicidal behaviour in prisons. Psychological Medicine, 35(2), 257-269. doi: 10.1017/s0033291704002958

Joiner, T. (2006). *Why people die by suicide*. Harvard University Press.

- Joiner, T. E., Sachs-Ericsson, N., Wingate, L. R., Brown, J. A., Anestis, M. D., & Selby, E. A. (2007). Childhood physical and sexual abuse and lifetime number of suicide attempts: A persistent and theoretically important relationship. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *45*(3), 539–547. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2006.04.007</u>
- Joiner, T. E., Wingate, L. R., & Otamendi, A. (2005). An interpersonal addendum to the hopelessness theory of depression: Hopelessness as a stress and depression generator. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, *24*(5), 649–664. https://doi.org/10.1521/jscp.2005.24.5.649
- Jones, D., & Maynard, A. (2013). Suicide in recently released prisoners: A systematic review. *Mental Health Practice*, 17(3), 20–27.

https://doi.org/10.7748/mhp2013.11.17.3.20.e846

- Joukamaa M. (1995). Psychiatric morbidity among Finnish prisoners with special reference to socio-demographic factors: results of the Health Survey of Finnish Prisoners (Wattu Project). *Forensic science international*, *73*(2), 85–91. <u>https://doiorg.nottingham.idm.oclc.org/10.1016/0379-0738(95)01713-s</u>
- Kariminia, A., Law, M., Butler, T., Lévy, M., Corben, S., Kaldor, J., & Grant, L. (2007b). Suicide risk among recently released prisoners in New South Wales, Australia. *Medical*

Journal of Australia, 187(7), 387–390. https://doi.org/10.5694/j.1326-5377.2007.tb01307.x

- Kessler, R. C., Berglund, P. A., Borges, G., Nock, M. K., & Wang, P. S. (2005). Trends in Suicide Ideation, Plans, Gestures, and Attempts in the United States, 1990-1992 to 2001-2003. JAMA, 293(20), 2487. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.293.20.2487</u>
- Kessler, R., Andrews, G., Colpe, L., Hiripi, E., Mroczek, D., & Normand, S. et al. (2002). Short screening scales to monitor population prevalences and trends in non-specific psychological distress. *Psychological Medicine*, 32(6), 959-976. doi: 10.1017/s0033291702006074
- Kim, E. Y., Park, J., & Kim, B. (2016). Type of childhood maltreatment and the risk of criminal recidivism in adult probationers: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Psychiatry*, 16(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-016-1001-8</u>
- King, C., Senior, J., Webb, R. T., Millar, T., Piper, M., Pearsall, A., Humber, N., Appleby, L., & Shaw, J. (2015). Suicide by people in a community justice pathway: Population-based nested case–control study. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 207(2), 175–176. <u>https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.114.154831</u>
- Kline, P. (2013). Handbook of Psychological Testing. Routledge.
- Klonsky, E. D., & May, A. M. (2015). The Three-Step Theory (3ST): a new theory of suicide rooted in the "Ideation-to-Action" framework. *International Journal of Cognitive Therapy*, 8(2), 114–129. <u>https://doi.org/10.1521/ijct.2015.8.2.114</u>
- Klonsky, E. D., May, A. M., & Saffer, B. Y. (2016). Suicide, suicide attempts, and suicidal ideation. Annual Review of Clinical Psychology, 12(1), 307–330. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-021815-093204</u>
- Knauer, V., Walker, J., & Roberts, A. (2017). Offender personality disorder pathway: the impact of case consultation and formulation with probation staff. *Journal of Forensic Psychiatry & Psychology*, 28(6), 825–840.
 - https://doi.org/10.1080/14789949.2017.1331370
- Knipe, D., Padmanathan, P., Newton-Howes, G., Chan, L. F., & Kapur, N. (2022). Suicide and self-harm. *The Lancet*, *399*(10338), 1903–1916. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(22)00173-8</u>

- Koerner, K. (2013). What Must You Know and Do to Get Good Outcomes With DBT? Behavior Therapy, 44(4), 568–579. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2013.03.005
- Kroner, D. G., Kang, T., Mills, J. F., Harris, A., & Green, M. M. (2011). Reliabilities, validities, and cutoff scores of the Depression Hopelessness Suicide screening form among women offenders. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, *38*(8), 779–795. https://doi.org/10.1177/0093854811409004
- Krysińska, K., & Lester, D. (2010). Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder and Suicide Risk: A Systematic review. Archives of Suicide Research, 14(1), 1–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13811110903478997</u>
- Lamberti, J. S. (2016). Preventing criminal recidivism through mental health and criminal justice collaboration. *Psychiatric Services*, 67(11), 1206–1212. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.201500384
- Larson Sawin, J., & Zehr, H. (2016). The ideas of engagement and empowerment. In Handbook of Restorative Justice (pp. 41–43). http://www.antoniocasella.eu/restorative/Larson Zehr 2006.pdf
- Laye-Gindhu, A., & Schonert-Reichl, K. A. (2005). Nonsuicidal Self-Harm among Community Adolescents: Understanding the "Whats" and "Whys" of Self-Harm. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *34*(5), 447–457. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-005-7262-z</u>
- Leslie, C. N., & Hetzel-Riggin, M. D. (2024). Peer Victimization, dating Violence, and Suicide Ideation: Examining the mediating roles of the thwarted belongingness and perceived burdensomeness in a college sample. *International Journal of Bullying Prevention*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42380-024-00259-0
- Leventhal, J. M. (1988). Can child maltreatment be predicted during the perinatal period: Evidence from longitudinal cohort studies? *Journal of Reproductive and Infant Psychology*, 6(3), 139–161. https://doi.org/10.1080/02646838808403553

Linehan, M (2014). DBT Training Manual. New York, NY: The Guilford Press

Lohner, J., & Konrad, N. (2007). Risk factors for self-injurious behaviour in custody: Problems of definition and prediction. *International Journal of Prisoner Health*, *3*(2), 135–161. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17449200701321654</u>

- Lutz, P., Mechawar, N., & Turecki, G. (2017). Neuropathology of suicide: recent findings and future directions. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 22(10), 1395–1412. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2017.141
- Mai, Y., Yang, R., Wu, X., Xie, Z., Zhang, X., Yang, X., Liu, H., & Zhao, J. (2021). Impulsiveness and suicide in male offenders: Examining the buffer roles of regulatory emotional self-efficacy and flourishing. *Psychology and Psychotherapy Theory Research and Practice*, 94(2), 289–306. https://doi.org/10.1111/papt.12312
- MacInnes, D., Khan, A., Tallent, J., Hove, F., Dyson, H., Grandi, T., Canterbury Christ Church University, Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust, Nacro, Clarion Housing, & Parrott, J. (2020). *Restarting a prisoner's life onto a supportive path leading to RESETtlement in the community: The RESET Study*.

https://repository.canterbury.ac.uk/download/0f94ce04beb512906803c0f4235ccde c90e0d77fe0346fd5d4420370e3ae4a3d/443899/RESET-%20Final%20Report.pdf

- Mackenzie, J. C., Cartwright, T., & Borrill, J. (2017). Exploring suicidal behaviours by probation clients—a qualitative near-lethal study. *Journal of Public Health*, 40(1), 146–153. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/pubmed/fdx005</u>
- Mackenzie, J., Cartwright, T., Beck, A., & Borrill, J. (2015). Probation staff experiences of managing suicidal and self-harming service users. *Probation Journal*, 62(2), 111–127. https://doi.org/10.1177/0264550515571396
- McAnallen, A., & McGinnis, E. (2021). Trauma-Informed Practice and the Criminal Justice
 System: A Systematic Narrative review. *Irish Probation Journal*, *18*, 109–129.
 https://pure.ulster.ac.uk/ws/portalfiles/portal/93272247/Trauma_Informed_Practic
 e and the Criminal Justice System.pdf
- McKay, M. T., Cannon, M., Chambers, D., Conroy, R. M., Coughlan, H., Dodd, P., Healy, C.,
 O'Donnell, L., & Clarke, M. C. (2020). Childhood trauma and adult mental disorder: A systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal cohort studies. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 143(3), 189–205. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/acps.13268</u>
- Mclean, J. (2020). Exploring the role of protective factors in the development of suicidal ideation and behaviour. https://ethos.bl.uk/OrderDetails.do?uin=uk.bl.ethos.815067

- Majekodunmi, O. E., Obadeji, A., Oluwole, L. O., & Oyelami, R. O. (2017). Depression in prison population: Demographic and clinical predictors. *Journal of Forensic Science and Medicine*, *3*(3), 122. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/jfsm.jfsm_32_16</u>
- Mandracchia, J. T., & Smith, P. N. (2014). The interpersonal theory of suicide applied to male prisoners. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, *45*(3), 293–301. https://doi.org/10.1111/sltb.12132
- Mann (2005). A Systematic Review of Suicide Prevention Strategies. European Psychiatry, 41(S1), S290-S290. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2017.02.155
- Mann, J. J., Arango, V., Avenevoli, S., Brent, D. A., Champagne, F. A., Clayton, P. J., Currier,
 D., Dougherty, D. M., Haghighi, F., Hodge, S. E., Kleinman, J. E., Lehner, T., McMahon,
 F. J., Mościcki, E. K., Oquendo, M. A., Pandey, G. N., Pearson, J. L., Stanley, B.,
 Terwilliger, J. D., & Wenzel, A. (2009). Candidate endophenotypes for genetic studies of suicidal behavior. *Biological Psychiatry*, *65*(7), 556–563.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.11.021
- Mars, B., Heron, J., Klonsky, E. D., Moran, P., O'Connor, R. C., Tilling, K., Wilkinson, P., & Gunnell, D. (2019). Predictors of future suicide attempt among adolescents with suicidal thoughts or non-suicidal self-harm: a population-based birth cohort study. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 6(4), 327–337. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s2215-0366(19)30030-6</u>
- Martin, M. S., Dorken, S. K., Simpson, A. I. F., McKenzie, K., & Colman, I. (2014). The predictive validity of the Depression Hopelessness Suicide screening form for self-harm among prisoners. *Journal of Forensic Psychiatry & Psychology*, 25(6), 733–747. https://doi.org/10.1080/14789949.2014.955811
- Marzano, L., Fazel, S., Rivlin, A., & Hawton, K. (2010). Psychiatric disorders in women prisoners who have engaged in near-lethal self-harm: case–control study. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, *197*(3), 219–226. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.109.075424
- Mathew, A., & Nanoo, S. (2013). Psychosocial stressors and patterns of coping in adolescent suicide attempters. *Indian Journal of Psychological Medicine*, 35(1), 39–46. https://doi.org/10.4103/0253-7176.112200
- Matthews, J. D. (2013). Cognitive Behavioral Therapy Approach for suicidal thinking and behaviors in depression

- McCullumsmith, C. B., Clark, C. R., Perkins, A. M., Fife, J., & Cropsey, K. L. (2013). Gender and Racial Differences for Suicide Attempters and Ideators in a High-Risk Community Corrections Population. *Crisis-the Journal of Crisis Intervention and Suicide Prevention*, 34(1), 50–62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1027/0227-5910/a000160</u>
- McGirr, A., Alda, M., Séguin, M., Cabot, S., Lesage, A., & Turecki, G. (2009). Familial aggregation of suicide Explained by Cluster B traits: A Three-Group Family study of suicide controlling for major depressive disorder. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 166(10), 1124–1134. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2009.08111744
- Meijers, J., Harte, J., Jonker, F. A., & Meynen, G. (2015). Prison brain? Executive dysfunction in prisoners. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 6. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00043</u>
- Mendoza, N. S. (2023). Women and the criminal justice System: gender, race, and class. Journal of Social Work Practice in the Addictions, 23(2), 141–142. https://doi.org/10.1080/1533256x.2023.2191452
- Milligan, R., & Andrews, B. (2005). Suicidal and other self-harming behaviour in offender women: The role of shame, anger and childhood abuse. *Legal and Criminological Psychology*, *10*(1), 13–25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1348/135532504x15439</u>
- Mills, J. F., & Kroner, D. G. (2004). A new instrument to screen for depression, hopelessness, and suicide in incarcerated offenders. *Psychological Services*, 1(1), 83–91. https://doi.org/10.1037/1541-1559.1.1.83
- Mills, J. F., & Kroner, D. G. (2005). Screening for suicide risk factors in prison inmates: Evaluating the efficiency of the Depression, Hopelessness and Suicide Screening Form (DHS). Legal and Criminological Psychology, 10(1), 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1348/135532504x15295</u>
- Mills, J. F., & Kroner, D. G. (2008). Predicting Suicidal Ideation with the Depression
 Hopelessness and Suicide Screening Form (DHS). *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation*,
 47(1–2), 74–100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10509670801940680</u>
- Mills, J. F., & Kroner, D. G. (2010). Concurrent Validity and Normative Data of the Depression Hopelessness and Suicide Screening Form with Women Offenders
- Mills, J.F., & Kroner, D. G. (2003). Depression, Hopelessness and Suicide Screening Form (DHS): User guide.

Ministry of Justice and HM Prison and Probation Service (2024). Offender management statistics quarterly: January to March 2024. (2024, July 25). GOV.UK. <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/offender-management-statistics-</u> <u>quarterly-january-to-march-2024</u>

- Ministry of Justice (2015). Reducing reoffending and improving rehabilitation: Transforming rehabilitation. Retrieved from <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/reducing-</u> <u>reoffending-andimproving-rehabilitation/supporting-pages/transforming-</u> <u>rehabilitation</u>
- Ministry of Justice (2017). *Safety in custody statistics bulletin, England and Wales, deaths in prison custody to march 2017, assaults and self-harm to December 2016.* London: Ministry of Justice.

Ministry of Justice (2021). *Deaths of Offenders in the Community, England and Wales,* 2020/21. Retrieved from

<u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/61797bbae90e07197867ec39/Deaths</u> _of Offenders in the Community 2020-21 bulletin.pdf

- Ministry of Justice (2022). Safety in custody statistics, England and Wales: Deaths in prison custody to March 2022, assaults and self-harm to December 2021. (2022, April 28). GOV.UK. <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/safety-in-custody-quarterly-update-to-december-2021/safety-in-custody-statistics-england-and-wales-deaths-in-prison-custody-to-march-2022-assaults-and-self-harm-to-december-2021#:~:text=For%20females%2C%2038%25%20of%20individuals,(221%20per%201 %2C000%20prisoners)</u>.
- Ministry of Justice (2023). Safety in Custody Statistics, England and Wales: Deaths in Prison Custody to December 2022 Assaults and Self-harm to September 2022. (2023). *GOV.UK*. <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/safety-in-custody-quarterly-update-to-september-2022/safety-in-custody-statistics-england-and-wales-deathsin-prison-custody-to-december-2022-assaults-and-self-harm-to-september-2022</u>
- Ministry of Justice (2023a) Offender management statistics quarterly: April to June 2023. (2023, October 26). GOV.UK. <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/offender-management-statistics-quarterly-april-to-june-2023/offender-management-statistics-quarterly-april-to-june-</u>

<u>2023#:~:text=The%20total%20number%20of%20offenders,9%25%20compared%20t</u> <u>o%20June%202013</u>.

- Ministry of Justice. (2010). Breaking the Cycle: Effective Punishment, Rehabilitation and Sentencing of Offenders. London: Ministry of Justice Retrieved from 193 <u>http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20120119200607/http://www.justic</u> e.gov.uk/consultations/docs/breaking-the-cycle.pdf.
- Moeller, F. G., & Dougherty, D. M. (2002). Impulsivity and substance abuse: what is the connection? Addictive Disorders & Their Treatment, 1(1), 3–10. https://doi.org/10.1097/00132576-200205000-00002
- Morley, K. C., Sitharthan, G., Haber, P., Tucker, P., & Sitharthan, T. (2018). Characteristics of suicide attempters and ideators in a clinical sample of substance users. *Substance Use & Misuse*, *53*(11), 1811–1818. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10826084.2018.1435075</u>
- Najavits, L. M., Hyman, S. M., Ruglass, L. M., Hien, D. A., & Read, J. P. (2017). Substance use disorder and trauma. In *American Psychological Association eBooks* (pp. 195–213). <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0000019-012</u>
- National Institute for Health Care and Excellence (NICE, 2011) Service user experience in adult mental health: improving the experience of care for people using adult NHS mental health services [CG136]
- National Institute of Mental Health. (2020). *Suicide*. National Institute of Mental Health. <u>https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/statistics/suicide#:~:text=Suicide%20is%20define</u> <u>d%20as%20death,a%20result%20of%20the%20behavior</u>.
- National Probation Service. (2019). National probation service health and social care strategy 2019-2022. London: National Probation Service.
- Nazem, S. (2013). Perceived burdensomeness, thwarted belongingness and acquired capability for suicide: suicidal risk factors in an incarcerated population. https://doi.org/10.33915/etd.161
- Neacsiu, A. D., Fang, C. M., Rodriguez, M., & Rosenthal, M. Z. (2017). Suicidal Behavior and Problems with Emotion Regulation. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, 48(1), 52– 74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/sltb.12335</u>

- Neeleman, J., & Wessely, S. (1999). Ethnic minority suicide: a small area geographical study in south London. *Psychological Medicine*, *29*(2), 429–436. https://doi.org/10.1017/s003329179800806x
- NICE. (2022, September 7). Recommendations | Self-harm: assessment, management and preventing recurrence | Guidance | NICE. <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng225/chapter/Recommendations#risk-</u>

assessment-tools-and-scales.

- Nock, M. K., Borges, G., Bromet, E. J., Alonso, J., Angermeyer, M. C., Beautrais, A. L., Bruffærts, R., Chiu, W. T., De Girolamo, G., Gluzman, S., De Graaf, R., Gureje, O., Haro, J. M., Huang, Y., Karam, E. G., Kessler, R. C., Lépine, J. P., Levinson, D., Medina-Mora, M. E., .Williams, D. R. (2008). Cross-national prevalence and risk factors for suicidal ideation, plans and attempts. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, *192*(2), 98– 105. <u>https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.107.040113</u>
- O'Connor, R. C., & Kirtley, O. J. (2018). The integrated motivational–volitional model of suicidal behaviour. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B*, *373*(1754), 20170268. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2017.0268</u>
- O'Connor, R. C., Platt, S., & Gordon, J. (2011). *International Handbook of Suicide Prevention: Research, Policy and Practice*. John Wiley & Sons.
- O'Neill, S., Ennis, E., Corry, C., & Bunting, B. (2017). Factors Associated with Suicide in Four Age Groups: A Population Based Study. *Archives of Suicide Research*, *22*(1), 128–138. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13811118.2017.1283265</u>
- *Offender Rehabilitation Act (2014): Chapter 6, Supervision after end of sentence of prisoners serving less than 2 years.* Stationery Office.
- Office of National Statistics. (2023a). Drug-related deaths and suicide in prison custody in England and Wales - Office for National Statistics. https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/de aths/articles/drugrelateddeathsandsuicideinprisoncustodyinenglandandwales/2023-01-26
- Office For National Statistics (2023b). Drug-related deaths and suicide in offenders in the community, England and Wales Office for National Statistics. https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/de

aths/bulletins/drugrelateddeathsandsuicideinoffendersinthecommunityenglandandwale s/2011to2021

Office of National Statistics (2024) Suicides in England and Wales - Office for National Statistics.

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/de

aths/bulletins/suicidesintheunitedkingdom/2023#:~:text=4.-

Suicide%20patterns%20by%20age,rate%20(9.2%20per%20100%2C000).

- Overholser, J. C., Braden, A., & Dieter, L. (2011). Understanding suicide risk: identification of high-risk groups during high-risk times. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 68(3), 349–361. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.20859</u>
- Palmer, E. J., & Connelly, R. (2005). Depression, hopelessness and suicide ideation among vulnerable prisoners. *Criminal Behaviour and Mental Health*, 15(3), 164–170. https://doi.org/10.1002/cbm.4
- Polit, D. F. (2014). Getting serious about test–retest reliability: a critique of retest research and some recommendations. *Quality of Life Research*, *23*(6), 1713–1720. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-014-0632-9
- Panos, P. T., Jackson, J. W., Hasan, O., & Panos, A. (2013). Meta-Analysis and Systematic review assessing the efficacy of Dialectical Behavior Therapy (DBT). *Research on Social Work Practice*, 24(2), 213–223. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049731513503047</u>
- Paparozzi, M. A., & DeMichele, M. (2008). Probation and parole: Overworked, misunderstood, and Under-Appreciated: But why? *Howard Journal of Criminal Justice*, 47(3), 275–296. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2311.2008.00522.x</u>
- Patel, M. D., Bhaju, J., Thompson, M. P., & Kaslow, N. J. (2011). Life Stress as Mediator of the Childhood Maltreatment – Intimate Partner Violence Link in Low-Income, African American Women. *Journal of Family Violence*, 27(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-011-9398-9
- Paton, J., & Jenkins, R. (2005). Suicide and Suicide Attempts in Prison. In K. Hawton (Ed.),
 Prevention and Treatment of Suicidal Behaviour: From science to practice (pp. 307-334). Oxford: Open University Press.

- Paulhus, D. (1998). Paulhus Deception Scales (PDS): The Balanced Inventory of Desirable Responding—7: User's manual. North Tanawanda, NY: Multi-Health Systems.
- Pereira, E. J., Kroner, D. G., Holden, R. R., & Flamenbaum, R. (2010). Testing Shneidman's model of suicidality in incarcerated offenders and in undergraduates. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 49(8), 912–917. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2010.07.029
- Perry AE, Marandos R, Coulton S, et al (2010) Screening tools assessing risk of suicide and self-harm in adult offenders: a systematic review. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative* Criminology 54:803–828.
- Phillips, J., Padfield, N., & Gelsthorpe, L. (2018). Suicide and community justice. Health & Justice, 6(1). doi: 10.1186/s40352-018-0072-7
- Pluck G and Brooker C (2014) Epidemiological survey of suicide ideation and acts and other deliberate self-harm among offenders in the community under supervision of the probation service in England and Wales. Criminal Behaviour and Mental Health 24: 358–364. doi:10.1002/cbm.190.
- Pratt, D. W., Appleby, L., Piper, M., Webb, R. T., & Shaw, J. (2010). Suicide in recently released prisoners: a case-control study. *Psychological Medicine*, 40(5), 827–835. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0033291709991048</u>
- Pratt, D., & Foster, E. (2020). Feeling hopeful: can hope and social support protect prisoners from suicide ideation? *Journal of Forensic Psychiatry & Psychology*, *31*(2), 311–330. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14789949.2020.1732445</u>
- Pratt, D., Piper, M., Appleby, L., Webb, R., & Shaw, J. (2006). Suicide in recently released prisoners: A population-based Cohort Study. *The Lancet*, *368*(9530), 119–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(06)69002-8
- Pritchard, C., & King, E. A. (2005). Differential suicide rates in typologies of child sex offenders in a 6-year consecutive cohort of male suicides. *Archives of Suicide Research*, *9*(1), 35–43. https://doi.org/10.1080/13811110590512903
- Pritchard, C., Cox, M., & Dawson, A. (1997). Suicide and "violent" death in a six-year cohort of male probationers compared with pattern of mortality in the general population: evidence of accumulative socio-psychiatric vulnerability. *The Journal of the Royal Society of Health*, *117*(3), 180–185. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/146642409711700310</u>

- Psychology Tools. (2023, September 29). *Psychology Tools | Deliver Effective Therapy*. <u>https://www.psychologytools.com/</u>
- Slade, K., Justice, L., Martijn, F., Borschmann, R., & Baguley, T. (2024). Deaths among adults under supervision of the England and Wales' probation services: variation in individual and criminal justice-related factors by cause of death. *Health & Justice*, *12*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40352-024-00263-y
- Qin, P., Agerbo, E., & Mortensen, P. B. (2003). Suicide risk in relation to socioeconomic, demographic, psychiatric, and familial factors: A National Register–Based Study of All Suicides in Denmark, 1981–1997. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *160*(4), 765–772. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.160.4.765</u>
- Ramstedt, M. (2001). Alcohol and suicide in 14 European countries. *Addiction*, *96*(1s1), 59– 75. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1360-0443.96.1s1.6.x</u>
- Reynders, A., Kerkhof, A. J., Molenberghs, G., & Van Audenhove, C. (2015). Help-seeking, stigma and attitudes of people with and without a suicidal past. A comparison between a low and a high suicide rate country. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *178*, 5–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2015.02.013</u>
- Ribeiro, J. D., Huang, X., Fox, K., & Franklin, J. C. (2018). Depression and hopelessness as risk factors for suicide ideation, attempts and death: meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 212(5), 279–286. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.2018.27
- Richard-Devantoy, S., Berlim, M. T., & Jollant, F. (2014). Suicidal behaviour and memory: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *The World Journal of Biological Psychiatry*, *16*(8), 544–566. https://doi.org/10.3109/15622975.2014.925584
- Riskind, J. H., Beck, A. T., Brown, G., & Steer, R. A. (1987). Taking the measure of anxiety and depression validity of the reconstructed Hamilton scales. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, *175*(8), 474–479. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00005053-198708000-00005</u>

- Rivlin, A., Hawton, K., Marzano, L., & Fazel, S. (2010). Psychiatric disorders in male prisoners who made near-lethal suicide attempts: case–control study. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 197(4), 313–319. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.110.077883
- Roe-Sepowitz D. (2007). Characteristics and predictors of self-mutilation: a study of incarcerated women. *Criminal behaviour and mental health : CBMH*, 17(5), 312–321. https://doi-org.nottingham.idm.oclc.org/10.1002/cbm.665
- Sabbatine R (2007). An "extended care" community corrections model for seriously mentally ill offenders. *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation* 45:55–57.
- Salisbury, E. J., & Van Voorhis, P. (2009). Gendered pathways. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, *36*(6), 541–566. https://doi.org/10.1177/0093854809334076
- Sarchiapone, M., Jovanović, N., Roy, A., Podlesek, A., Carli, V., Amore, M., Mancini, M., & Marusic, A. (2009). Relations of psychological characteristics to suicide behaviour:
 Results from a large sample of male prisoners. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 47(4), 250–255. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2009.03.008
- Sattar, G. (2001). Rates and causes of death among prisoners and offenders under community supervision (231 ed.). London: Home Office Research, Development and Statistics Directorate.
- Sattar, G. (2003). The death of offenders in England and Wales. *Crisis: The Journal of Crisis* Intervention and Suicide Prevention, 24(1), 17–23. <u>https://doi-org.nottingham.idm.oclc.org/10.1027/0227-5910.24.1.17</u>
- Schamborg, S., Tully, R. J., & Browne, K. D. (2015). The use of the State–Trait Anger Expression Inventory–II with forensic populations. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology*, 60(11), 1239–1256. https://doi.org/10.1177/0306624x15577932
- Schmidt, S., Heffernan, R., & Ward, T. (2019). Why we cannot explain cross-cultural differences in risk assessment. Aggression and Violent Behavior, 50, 101346. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2019.101346</u>
- Scott, R., Aboud, A., & Smith, T. (2022). Using the stress–vulnerability model to better understand suicide in prison populations. *Psychiatry Psychology and Law*, 30(3), 299–333. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13218719.2021.2013340</u>

- Sedgwick, P. (2012). Multiple significance tests: the Bonferroni correction. *The BMJ*, 344(jan25 4), e509. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.e509
- Seiter RP & West AD (2003): Supervision styles in probation and parole. *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation* 38:57–75.
- Siddaway, A. P., Taylor, P. J., Wood, A. M., & Schulz, J. (2015). A meta-analysis of perceptions of defeat and entrapment in depression, anxiety problems, posttraumatic stress disorder, and suicidality. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 184*, 149–159. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2015.05.046</u>
- Sirdfield, C., Brooker, C., & Marples, R. (2019). Suicide and probation: A systematic review of the literature. *Forensic Science International: Mind and Law*, 1, 100012. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsiml.2020.100012</u>
- Sirdifield, C., Gojković, D., Brooker, C., & Ferriter, M. (2009). A systematic review of research on the epidemiology of mental health disorders in prison populations: a summary of findings. *Journal of Forensic Psychiatry & Psychology*, 20(sup1), S78–S101. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14789940802594445</u>
- Skinner, G. C. M., & Farrington, D. P. (2020). A systematic review and meta-analysis of offending versus suicide in community (non-psychiatric and non-prison) samples. Aggression and Violent Behavior, 52, 101421.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2020.101421

- Skinner, G. (2021). Offending, physical health and premature mortality: Associations Derived from Longitudinal and Meta-analytic Evidence.
- Slade, K. (2019). Dual harm: the importance of recognising the duality of self-harm and violence in forensic populations. *Medicine, Science and the Law, 59*(2), 75–77.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0025802419845161

- Slade, K., & Edelman, R. I. (2014). Can Theory Predict the Process of Suicide on Entry To Prison? Crisis-the Journal of Crisis Intervention and Suicide Prevention, 35(2), 82–89. https://doi.org/10.1027/0227-5910/a000236
- Solomon AL, Osborne J, Winterfield L, et al (2008). Putting Public Safety First: 13 Parole Supervision Strategies to Enhance Reentry Outcomes. Washington, DC, Urban Institute.

- Solomon, P., Draine, J., & Marcus, S. C. (2002). Predicting incarceration of clients of a psychiatric probation and parole service. *Psychiatric Services*, *53*(1), 50–56. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.53.1.50
- Sorenson SB, Vittes KA (2008) Mental health and firearms in community-based surveys: implications for suicide prevention. *Evaluation Review* 32:239–256
- Steer, R. A., Beck, A. T., Riskind, J. H., & Brown, G. (1987). Relationships between the Beck Depression Inventory and the Hamilton Psychiatric Rating Scale for Depression in depressed outpatients. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 9(3), 327–339. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00964561</u>
- Stoliker, B. E., & Galli, P. M. (2020). Prevalence and correlates of Suicidal Ideation and Attempt According to Prisoners' Race/Ethnicity: An Exploratory analysis. *Race and Social Problems*, 13(4), 292–305. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12552-020-09310-3
- Swogger, M. T., Walsh, Z., Houston, R. J., Cashman-Brown, S., & Conner, K. R. (2010).
 Psychopathy and axis I psychiatric disorders among criminal offenders: relationships to impulsive and proactive aggression. *Aggressive behavior*, *36*(1), 45–53.
 https://doi-org.nottingham.idm.oclc.org/10.1002/ab.20330
- Tang, S., Reily, N. M., Arena, A. F., Batterham, P. J., Calear, A. L., Carter, G. L., Mackinnon, A. J., & Christensen, H. (2022). People who die by suicide Without receiving mental health services: A systematic review. *Frontiers in Public Health*, *9*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2021.736948
- Thompson, M. P., & Light, L. S. (2010). Examining gender differences in risk factors for suicide attempts made 1 and 7 years later in a nationally representative sample. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, *48*(4), 391–397. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2010.07.018
- Trajković G, Starčević V, Latas M, Leštarević M, Ille T, Bukumirić Z, Marinković J. Reliability of the Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression: a meta-analysis over a period of 49 years.
 Psychiatry Res. 2011 Aug 30;189(1):1-9. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2010.12.007. Epub 2011 Jan 26. PMID: 2127661
- Turecki, G. (2014). The molecular bases of the suicidal brain. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *15*(12), 802–816. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn3839</u>

- Turecki, G., Brent, D. A., Gunnell, D., O'Connor, R. C., Oquendo, M. A., Pirkis, J. and Stanley,
 B. H. (2019) Suicide and suicide risk. Nature Reviews Disease Primers, 5, 74. (doi: 10.1038/s41572-019-0121-0)
- Turecki, G., Ota, V. K., Belangero, S., Jackowski, A. P., & Kaufman, J. (2014). Early life adversity, genomic plasticity, and psychopathology. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 1(6), 461–466. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s2215-0366(14)00022-4</u>
- Umphrey, L. R., Sherblom, J. C., & Swiatkowski, P. (2020). Relationship of Self-Compassion, hope, and emotional control to perceived burdensomeness, thwarted belongingness, and suicidal ideation. *Crisis*, *42*(2), 121–127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1027/0227-5910/a000697</u>
- University College London. (2023, October 8). Specific dialectical behaviour therapy (DBT) techniques for working with people who self-harm or are suicidal. <u>https://www.ucl.ac.uk/clinical-psychology/competency-maps/self-harm/adult-framework/Specific%20interventions/Specific%20interventions.pdf</u>
- Van Den Berg, C., Beijersbergen, K. A., Nieuwbeerta, P., & Dirkzwager, A. (2017). Sex offenders in prison: Are they socially isolated? *Sexual Abuse*, *30*(7), 828–845. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1079063217700884</u>
- Van Impelen, A., Merckelbach, H., Niesten, I. J. M., Jelicic, M., Huhnt, B., & Campo, J. Á.
 (2016). Biased symptom reporting and antisocial behaviour in forensic samples: a weak link. *Psychiatry Psychology and Law*, 24(4), 530–548. https://doi.org/10.1080/13218719.2016.1256017
- Van Orden, K. A., Witte, T. K., Cukrowicz, K. C., Braithwaite, S. R., Selby, E. A., & Joiner, T. E. (2010). The interpersonal theory of suicide. *Psychological Review*, *117*(2), 575–600. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018697
- Verdejo-García, A., López-Torrecillas, F., De Arcos, F. A., & Pérez-García, M. (2005).
 Differential effects of MDMA, cocaine, and cannabis use severity on distinctive components of the executive functions in polysubstance users: A multiple regression analysis. *Addictive Behaviors*, *30*(1), 89–101.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2004.04.015

Wallis, D., Coatsworth, J. D., Mennis, J., Riggs, N. R., Zaharakis, N., Russell, M. A., Brown, A., Rayburn, S., Radford, A., Hale, C., & Mason, M. (2022). Predicting Self-Medication with Cannabis in Young Adults with Hazardous Cannabis Use. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *19*(3), 1850. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19031850</u>

- Walsh, K., DiLillo, D., & Scalora, M. J. (2011). The Cumulative Impact of Sexual Revictimization on Emotion Regulation Difficulties. *Violence Against Women*, *17*(8), 1103–1118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801211414165</u>
- Webb, R. T., Shaw, J., Stevens, H., Mortensen, P. B., Appleby, L., & Qin, P. (2012). Suicide
 Risk Among Violent and Sexual Criminal Offenders. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 27(17), 3405–3424. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260512445387</u>
- Weerasekera, P. (1993). Formulation: a multiperspective model. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, *38*(5), 351–358. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/070674379303800513</u>
- Wenzel, A., Brown, G. K., & Beck, A. T. (2009). Cognitive therapy for suicidal patients:
 Scientific and clinical applications. In *American Psychological Association eBooks*.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/11862-000
- Wetherall, K., Cleare, S., Eschle, S., Ferguson, E., O'Connor, D., O'Carroll, R., & O'Connor,R. (2021). From ideation to action: Differentiating between those who think about suicide and those who attempt suicide in a national study of young adult
- Wilcox, H. C., Conner, K. R., & Caine, E. D. (2004). Association of alcohol and drug use disorders and completed suicide: an empirical review of cohort studies. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 76, S11–S19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2004.08.003
- World Health Organisation (2019). International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems (11th ed.). https://icd.who.int

World Health Organisation (2020). *Suicide data*. World Health Organisation. https://www.who.int/teams/mental-health-and-substance-use/suicide-data

- World Health Organisation. (1974). Suicide and attempted suicide. In E. Brooke (Ed.), Public Health Paper no 58. Geneva
- World Health Organization: WHO. (2023, August 28). *Suicide*. <u>https://www.who.int/news-</u> room/fact-sheets/detail/suicide
- World Health Organization. Preventing suicide: a global imperative [online], 833
 https://www.who.int/mental_health/suicide-prevention/world_report_2014/en/
 (2014). 834 A systematic overview of the global epidemiology of suicide and suicide

attempts, including country-specific data and 835 an assessment of key prevention strategies

- You, S., Van Orden, K. A., & Conner, K. R. (2010). Social connections and suicidal thoughts and behavior. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors*, 25(1), 180–184. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0020936
- Yu, S.-S. V., & Sung, H.-E. (2015a). Suicidal ideation of probationers: Gender differences. *Crisis: The Journal of Crisis Intervention and Suicide Prevention, 36*(6), 424–432. <u>https://doi-org.nottingham.idm.oclc.org/10.1027/0227-5910/a000336</u>
- Yu, S.-S. V., & Sung, H.-E. (2015b). Suicidal ideation of probationers. *Crisis*, *36*(6), 424–432. https://doi.org/10.1027/0227-5910/a000336
- Zalsman, G., Hawton, K., Wasserman, D., Van Heeringen, K., Arensman, E., Sarchiapone, M., Carli, V., Höschl, C., Barzilay, R., Balázs, J., Purebl, G., Kahn, J. P., Sáiz, P. A., Lipsicas, C. B., Bobes, J., Cozman, D., Hegerl, U., & Zohar, J. (2016). Suicide prevention strategies revisited: 10-year systematic review. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, *3*(7), 646–659. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s2215-0366(16)30030-x</u>
- Zhong, S., Senior, M., Yu, R., Perry, A., Hawton, K., Shaw, J., & Fazel, S. (2021). Risk factors for suicide in prisons: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Lancet Public Health*, 6(3). <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s2468-2667(20)30233-4</u>

Appendices

Appendix A: Inclusion and exclusion criteria (PECO)

PECO	Inclusion	Exclusion
Population	Men and women aged over 18	Young offenders
		Setting: Prison or
	People on probation	psychiatric settings
	Setting: Supervised on	Samples not supervised
	probation or community	by probation or
	order	international equivalent
Exposure	Characteristics regarded as risk/protective factors present	
	Included studies report on a broad range of exposures including but not limited to the following:	
	 a) Demographic factors: gender, ethnicity, relationship status, employment, religion. b) Criminological factors: sentence length, offence type, previous offending history, length of imprisonment, length of order, order type c) Clinical factors: history of attempted suicide, recent suicidal ideation, being on psychotropic medication, psychiatric diagnosis, substance or alcohol misuse, contacts with healthcare providers. 	
Comparator	Any distinct group as permitted within the defined inclusion populations (see above), or no specified comparator	Data from excluded populations (as above) will not be evaluated or synthesised

Outcomes	Suicidal tendencies (i.e.	Self-harm
	ideation, attempt, self-	Self-inflicted death of
	inflicted death) using	which was not
	psychometric, self-report	documented as suicide
	and recording systems	
Study design	Any comparative	Editorials, reviews,
	quantitative study design	opinion papers,
		commentaries and book
	Cohort, cross-sectional	chapters
	and Case Control	
		Qualitative or case
		studies
		Secondary research
Language	Material published in	Non-English articles
	English & Welsh only,	
	matching the inclusion	
	populations (as above)	

Study number:

Type and language of	Yes/No/Partial/Unclear	Exclusion criteria
study		
Is the study design:		If no exclude
Cohort		
Case control		
Cross-sectional		
Is the study reported in		If no exclude
English or Welsh?		

Participants in the study	Yes/No/Partial/Unclear	Exclusion criteria
Were the participants		If no exclude
male/female adults aged		
18 years old or over?		
Were the participants		If no exclude
supervised in the		
community?		
Where are participants		N/A
from?		

Exposures in the study	Yes/No/Partial/Unclear	Exclusion criteria
Were sociodemographic/clinical/offending variables identified?		If no exclude

Comparators in the study	Yes/No/Partial/Unclear	Exclusion criteria
Where a comparator group		If no exclude
is included		
Was the comparator group		
one of the included		
participant groups as		
defined above?		
If not, is data pertaining to		
the target participant groups		
separable from the other		
data?		

Outcomes in the study	Yes/No/Partial/Unclear
Were at least one of the following	If no exclude
outcomes measured	
a. Suicideb. Suicide attemptc. Suicidal ideation	
d. Suicide risk	
Comments	

Appendix B: Quality assessment

- U = Unknown
- 1 point for every high quality 'Yes' (Y) response
- 0.5 points for every 'Partial' (P)
- 0 points for every inadequate/low quality 'No' (N) response

Study design: Cohort (CASP UK, 2018)

Section A: Are the results of the study valid? Q1. Did the study address a clearly focused issue? HINT: A question can be 'focused' in terms of; population studied, risk factors studied, is it clear whether the study tried to detect a beneficial or harmful effect? The outcomes considered?

Q2. Was the cohort recruited in an acceptable way? HINT: Look for selection bias which might compromise the generalisability of the findings: was the cohort representative of a defined population? Was there something special about the cohort? Was everybody included who should have been?

Q3. Was he exposure accurately measured to minimise bias? HINT: Look for measurement or classification bias: did they use subjective or objective measurements? Do the measurements truly reflect what you want them to (have they been validated)? Were all the subjects classified into exposure groups using the same procedure?

Q4. Was the outcome accurately measured to minimise bias? HINT: Look for measurement or classification bias: did they use subjective or objective measurements? Do the measurements truly reflect what you want them to (have they been validated)? Has a reliable system been established for detecting al the cases (for measuring disease occurrence)? Were the measurement methods similar in the different groups? Were the subjects and/or the outcome assessor blinded to exposure (does this matter)?

Q5. Have the authors identified all important confounding factors? HINT: List the ones you think might be important, and ones the author missed Q5b. Have they taken account of the confounding factors in the design and/or analysis?

HINT: look for restriction in design, and techniques, e.g. modelling, stratified, regression, or sensitivity analysis to correct, control or adjust for confounding factors.

Q6. Was the follow up of subjects complete enough?

HINT: the good or bad effects should have had long enough to reveal themselves? The person that are lost to follow up may have different outcomes than those available for assessment? In an open or dynamic cohort, was there anything special about the outcome of the people leaving, or the exposure of the people entering the cohort?

Q6b. was the follow up of subjects long enough?

Subject B: What are the results?

Q7. What are the results of this study?

HINT: Consider what are the bottom line results? Have they reported the rate or the proportion between the exposed/unexposed, the ratio/rate difference? How strong is the association between exposure and outcome (RR)? What is the absolute risk reduction (ARR)?

Q8. . How precise are the results?

HINT: look for the range of the confidence intervals, if given

Q9. . Do you believe the results?

HINT: Consider big effect is hard to ignore, can it be due to bias, chance or confounding? Are the design and methods of this study sufficiently flawed to make the results unreliable? Bradford Hills criteria (e.g. time sequence, dose-response gradient, biological plausibility, consistency)

10.Can the results be applied to the local population HINT: Consider whether a cohort study was the appropriate method to answer this question? The subjects covered in this study could be sufficiently different from your population to cause concern? Can you quantify the local benefits and harm?

11.Do the results of this study fit with other available evidence?

12. What are the implications of this study for practice?HINT: Consider one observational study rarely provides sufficiently robust evidence to recommend changes to clinical practice or within health policy decision making.For certain questions, observational studies provide the only evidence.Recommendations from observational studies are always stronger when supported by other evidence

Study design: Case control (CASP UK, 2018)

- U = Unknown
- 1 point for every high quality 'Yes' (Y) response
- 0.5 points for every 'Partial' (P)
- 0 points for every inadequate/low quality 'No' (N) response

Section A: Are the results of the trial valid?

Did the study address a clearly focused issue?
 HINT: An issue can be 'focused' In terms of: the population studied, whether the study tried to detect a beneficial or harmful effect and the risk factors studied

Did the authors use an appropriate method to answer their question?
 HINT: Is a case control study an appropriate way of answering the question under the circumstances? Did it address the study question?

3. Were the cases recruited in an acceptable way?

HINT: We are looking for selection bias which might compromise validity of the findings. Are the cases defined precisely? Were the cases representative of a defined population (geographically and/or temporally)? Was there an established reliable system for selecting all the cases? Are they incident or prevalent? Is there something special about the cases? Is the time frame of the study relevant to disease/exposure? Was there a sufficient number of cases selected? Was there a power calculation?

4. . Were the controls selected in an acceptable way?

HINT: We are looking for selection bias which might compromise the generalisability of the findings. Were the controls representative of the defined population (geographically and/or temporally)? Was there something special about the controls? Was the non-response high, could non-respondents be different in any way? Are they matched, population based or randomly selected? Was there a sufficient number of controls selected?

5. Was the exposure accurately measured to minimise bias? HINT: We are looking for measurement, recall or classification bias? W?as the exposure clearly defined and accurately measured? Did the authors use subjective or objective measurements? Do the measures truly reflect what they are supposed to measure (have they been validated)? Were the measurement methods similar in the cases and controls? Did the study incorporate blinding where feasible? Is the temporal relation correct (does the exposure of interest precede the outcome)

6. (a) Aside from the experimental intervention, were the groups treated equally?

HINT: List the ones you think might be important, that the author may have missed

6. (b) Have the authors taken account of the potential confounding factors in the design and/or in their analysis?

HINT: Look for restriction in design, and techniques e.g. modelling, stratified-, regression-, or sensitivity analysis to correct, control or adjust for confounding factors

7. 7. How large was the treatment effect?

HINT: Consider what are the bottom line results? Is the analysis appropriate to the design? How strong is the association between exposure and outcome (look at the odds ratio)? Are the results adjusted for confounding, and might confounding still explain the association? Has adjustment made a big difference to the OR?

8. How precise was the estimate of the treatment effect?
 HINT: Consider size of the p-value? Size of the confidence intervals? Have the authors considered all the important variables? How was the effect of subjects refusing to participate evaluated

9. Do you believe the results?

HINT: Consider- how big effect is hard to ignore! Can it be due to chance, bias, or confounding? Are the design and methods of this study sufficiently flawed to make the results unreliable? Consider Bradford Hills criteria (e.g. time sequence, does-response gradient, strength, biological plausibility)

Section B: Will the results help locally?

10. Can the results be applied to the local population? HINT: Consider whether the subjects covered in the study could be sufficiently different from your population to cause concern? Does your local setting is likely to differ much from that of the study? Can you quantify the local benefits and harms?

11. Do the results of this study fit with other available evidence?HINT: Consider all the available evidence from RCT's Systematic Reviews, CohortStudies, and Case Control Studies as well, for consistency

Study design: Cross-sectional (CASP UK, 2018)

- U = Unknown
- 1 point for every high quality 'Yes' (Y) response
- 0.5 points for every 'Partial' (P)
- 0 points for every inadequate/low quality 'No' (N) response
- 1. Were the aims/objectives of the study clear?
- 2. Was the study design appropriate for the stated aim(s)?
- 3. Was the sample size justified?
- 4. Was the target/reference population clearly defined?
- 5. Was the sample frame taken from an appropriate population base so that it closely represented the target/reference population under investigation?
- 6. Was the selection process likely to select subjects/participants that were representative of the target/reference population under investigation?
- 7. Were measures undertaken to address and categorise non-responders?
- 8. Were the risk factor and outcome variables measured appropriate to the aims of the study?
- 9. Were the risk factor and outcome variables measured correctly using instruments/measurements that had been trialled, piloted or published previously?
- 10. Is it clear what was used to determined clinical statistical significance and/or precision estimates?
- 11. Were the methods (including statistical methods) sufficiently described to enable them to be repeated?
- 12. Were the basic data adequately described?
- 13. Does the response rate raise concerns about non-response bias?
- 14. If appropriate, was information about non-responders described?
- 15. Were the results internally consistent?
- 16. Were the results for the analyses described in the methods, presented?
- 17. Were the authors' discussions and conclusions justified by the results?

- 18. Were the limitations of the study discussed?
- 19. Were there any funding sources or conflicts of interest that may affect the authors' interpretation of the results?
- 20. Was ethnical approval or consent of participants attained?
Appendix C: Data Extraction Form

Study number	
Date of data extraction	
Title of Paper	
Author(s)	
Year, source, volume,	
page(s)	
Country of Origin	
Quality Assessment Score &	
Number of Unclear Answers	

Re-verification of Study eligibility

PECO	Criterion answer	Yes	No	Partial	Unknown
Population					
Exposure					
Comparator					
Outcome					

Study Characteristics

Aims/Objectives of the study	
Study design	
Study inclusion criteria	
Study exclusion criteria	
Recruitment Procedures	
Study Setting	

Population

Target population	
Source/setting of population	
Age group	
Total number of participants/sample size	

Comparator (Control group)

Control group?	
Control Group Matched?	
Number of controls	
Further details control group	

Methods

How were outcomes measured?	
How were exposures measured?	
How was data analysed?	

Outcomes

Name of risk factors	
Definition of risk factors	
Type of measurement (percentage/odds	
ratio/risk ratio)	
Is outcome tool validated? Self-report?	
Statistical methods used and	
appropriateness of these methods (e.g.	
proportion/percentages/RROR)	
Dichotomous: odds ratio, risk ratio, and	
confidence intervals, p value	
Continuous: mean difference, confidence	
intervals)	
All systematic and random error	
adjusted? (e.g. confounding, effect	
medication etc)	

Appendix D: Frequency of Hits

Key

 \overline{O} = Variable not included in study or reported in analysis

X = Variable not associated with suicidal outcome

 \checkmark = Variable associated with suicidal outcome

Study	Pratt et al (2007)	Phillips et al (2018)	Haglund et al (2014)	Brooker et al (2019)	McCullumsmit h et al (2013)	Gunter et al (2011)	Yu & Sung (2015b)	Yu & Sung (2015a)	Candareli (2014)	Cook & Borrill (2013)	Fraction of hits
Outcome	Complete d suicide	Completed suicide	Completed suicide	Ideation and attempt	Ideation and attempt	Ideation and attempt	Ideation	Ideation	Ideation	Identified 'at risk of suicide'	_
Sociodemogra phic variables											
Gender (Women)	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	х	\checkmark	X	x	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	7/10
Gender (Men)	Х	\checkmark	X	Х	\checkmark	X	Х	X	Х	X	2/10
Ethnicity (White)	0	\checkmark	0	x	\checkmark	\checkmark	Х	Х	X	\checkmark	4/8
Ethnicity (Non- White)	0	х	0	Х	Х	x	Х	\checkmark	x	Х	1/8
Age (18-30)	Х	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	X	Х	1/10
Age (30-39)	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	X	Х	1/10
Age (40-49)	\checkmark	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	X	Х	2/10
≥ Age 50 +	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	X	Х	1/10
Education (No school qualifications)	0	0	0	0	\checkmark	X	\checkmark	X	X	\checkmark	3/6
Residential instability	0	0	0	0	\checkmark	0	0	\checkmark	0	\checkmark	3/3

Relationship	0	0	0	0	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	0	\checkmark	2/5
status											
Employment	0	0	0	0	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	0	\checkmark	2/5
status											
Financial	0	0	0	0	0	Х	0	Х	0	\checkmark	1/4
difficulties											
Physical health	0	0	0	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	0	\checkmark	2/5
Clinical											
variables											
Depressive	0	0	0	\checkmark	0	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	6/6
symptoms or											
disorder											
Anxiety	0	0	0	\checkmark	0	\checkmark	0	0	\checkmark	0	3/3
symptoms or											
disorder											
Any other	0	0	\checkmark	\checkmark	0	\checkmark	0	0	\checkmark	0	4/4
Psychiatric											
disorder											
Psychiatric	0	0	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	0	\checkmark	6/6
treatment											
Illicit	0	0	\checkmark	0	0	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	7/7
substance											
misuse											
Alcohol	0	0	0	0	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	0	\checkmark	2/5
misuse											
Psychological	0	0	0	\checkmark	0	0	\checkmark	\checkmark	0	0	3/3
distress											
Previous	0	0	0	0	\checkmark	\checkmark	0	0	0	\checkmark	3/3
victimisation											

Attitude to	0	0	0	\checkmark	0	0	0	0	0	\checkmark	2/2
self and											
problem-											
solving ability											1
Criminogenic											
variables											
Violence	0	0	0	0	0	0	Х	\checkmark	0	\checkmark	2/3
perpetration											
Sentence type	0	\checkmark	0	Х	0	Х	0	0	0	Х	1/4
(post sentence											
supervision)											
Sexual	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	\checkmark	1/1
offending											
Risk of serious	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	\checkmark	1/1
harm to											
others											
MAPPA status	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	\checkmark	1/1
Being recalled	0	0	\checkmark	0	0	Х	0	0	0	0	1/2
and released											
or having											
multiple											
convictions											
First	0	0	0	0	0	\checkmark	0	0	0	0	1/1
conviction as											
an adolescent.											
Temporal											
variables											
Recent release	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3/3
from custody											

Appendix E: Descriptive data synthesis for variables with two hits

Sociodemographic variables

Relationships

Relationship status was identified as significantly associated with suicide risk in two out of five papers that utilised it as a variable (Cook & Borrill, 2013; McCallumsmith et al, 2015). Cook & Borrill (2013) identified difficulties in relationship with current partner, problematic previous experience of close relationships and social isolation as variables that increased the likelihood of staff judgements regarding increased suicide risk. It is of note poor previous experience of close relationships is the only sociological variable within this study to remain significant within the regression model (Cook & Borril et al, 2015). McCallumsmith et al (2015) found that women, irrespective of race, who reported a suicide attempt were more likely to be divorced. However, relationship status was not associated with suicidal ideation or attempts in the other three papers (Yu & Sung, 2015a; 2015b; Gunter et al, 2011), and the remaining five studies did not explore relationships or marital status as a variable (Phillips et al, 2019; Pratt et al, 2007; Haglund et al, 2014; Candarelli et al, 2014 and Brooker et al, 2019).

Physical health

Physical health was identified as associated with suicide risk in two out of five papers that utilised it as a variable (Gunter et al, 2011; Cook & Borrill, 2013). Gunter et al (2011) reported that brain injury increased the likelihood of experiencing suicidal ideation and attempt and Cook & Borill (2013) identified poor physical health as significantly associated with staff judgements regarding increased suicide risk. However, Yu & Sung (2015a; 2015b) did not report a significant association between poor health and suicidal ideation, and the remaining five papers did not explore physical health as a variable possibly associated with completed suicide (Phillips et al, 2019; Pratt et al, 2007; Haglund et al, 2014), suicidal ideation or attempt (Candarelli et al, 2014; Brooker et al, 2009). Finally, McCallumsmith et al (2013) reported that individuals with physical disability were more likely to have experienced suicidal ideation or attempt, however this group also encompassed individuals who were retired and therefore the effect of disability alone cannot be ascertained.

Employment status

Variables associated with employment were explored in five studies and found to be significantly associated with suicide risk in two (McCullumsmith et al, 2013; Cook & Borrill, 2013). McCullumsmith et al (2013) found unemployment was significantly associated for suicide attempts amongst men and women, irrespective of race. However, employment was only associated to suicidal ideation for white women (McCullumsmith et al, 2013). Cook & Borrill (2013) also found unemployment was with staff judgements of increased suicide risk. Employment was not found to be protective against suicidal ideation (Yu & Sung, 2015a; 2015b) or attempts (Gunter et al, 2013) in the three other studies that utilised it as a variable. The remaining five papers did not explore employment as a variable possibly associated with completed suicide (Phillips et al, 2019; Pratt et al, 2007; Haglund et al, 2014), suicidal ideation or attempt (Candarelli et al, 2014; Brooker et al, 2009).

Clinical variables

Alcohol misuse

Alcohol misuse featured less frequently as a risk factor for suicidal outcomes comparative to illicit substance misuse and was only utilised in five papers (Cook & Borrill, 2013; Gunter et al, 2013; McCullumsmith et al, 2013; Yu & Sung, 2015a; 2015b), with only two papers reporting a significant association (Cook & Borrill, 2013 and McCullumsmith et al, 2013). Cook & Borrill (2013) identified current and historic alcohol misuse as significantly predictive regarding staff's judgements of people on probations suicide risk, however alcohol misuse did not remain significant within the regression model, hence indicating a small effect size or lack of association once controlled for confounding variables. McCullumsmith et al (2013) reported alcohol dependence as a risk factor for people who attempted suicide in community corrections amongst White women and men. However, alcohol dependence was identified as a risk factor for suicidal ideation amongst White and African-American men. Yu & Sung (2015a;2015b) did not identify alcohol use in the last month as a significant risk factor for suicidal ideation. However, suicidal ideation was measured across 12 months and alcohol use was only measured for the previous month. Although Gunter et al (2013) also did not identify alcohol use and dependence as associated with suicidal ideation or attempt, and more rigorous structured measurement tools were utilised for this variable.

Attitude to self and problem-solving ability

Only two studies explored attitude to self and problem-solving ability, however these were identified as significantly associated to suicidal outcomes in both papers (Brooker et al, 2019; Cook & Borrill, 2013). Brooker et al (2019) found that individuals in the attempt group had significantly lower self-regard and optimism than those with no history using the general self-efficacy score measure, and that those in the attempt group had a significantly lower social problem-solving ability, as measured by the social problem solving inventory, compared to those with no history. Although no other papers utilised these specific measures, Cook & Borrill (2013) found that low problem-solving skills and poor attitude to self were associated with staff judgements regarding suicide risk, as based by their own professional judgement.

Previous suicidal tendencies

Only two papers utilised history of suicide attempts as a variable associated with suicide risk. Previous experience of self-harm, suicide attempts or suicidal thoughts remained significant within Cook & Borrill's (2013) regression model to predict staff's judgements on suicide risk, and Haglund et al (2014) identified previous suicide attempt as increasing likelihood of completed suicide by nearly 4-fold.

Appendix F: Primary study ethical approval



Research & Innovation St Andrew's Healthcare Billing Road Northampton NN1 5DG

E: research@standrew.co.uk T:01604 616088

Tuesday 25 May 2021

Dear Georgia

Georgia West

RE: 197_Risk factors for suicide within men under probation supervision: Can we predict the likelihood of acting on suicidal ideation?

I am pleased to advise that we are able to give ${\bf final}$ approval for you to conduct your research project at St Andrew's Healthcare.

To confirm:

Roles & responsibilities

Role	Who
Principle investigator/Chief Investigator	Georgia West/Kevin Browne
Sponsor	University of Nottingham
Funder	University of Nottingham
Clinical research advisor	Eve Hepburn
Data controller	Johnny Rico (CRC)
Data processor	Georgia West
Ethics review	University
Authorship details	Georgia West, Eve Hepburn, Kevin Browne

Expectations

In relation to projects conducted at St Andrew's Healthcare, you will be required to:

- Update the department on a regular basis the first update will be required in August
 2021
- Comply with St Andrew's policies & procedures, and with any request to audit compliance
- Follow authorship good practice
- Send a draft of all publications to research@standrew.co.uk prior to final publication



April 1, 2021

Dear Georgia West:

I'm pleased to inform you that our Research Committee has approved your request for data, related to your project: "Risk Factors for Suicide Within Men Under Probation Supervision."

The conditions of the approval require that the data be anonymised so that no service-user names are used.

If you have any further questions, please contact John Rico at johnny.rico@londoncrc.org.uk.

Regards,

John Rico Research Manager

www.mtcgroup.org.uk



Faculty of Medicine & Health Sciences Research Ethics Committee

Faculty Hub Room E41, E Floor, Medical School Queen's Medical Centre Campus Nottingham University Hospitals Nottingham, NG7 2UH Email: <u>FMHS-ResearchEthics@nottingham.ac.uk</u>

12 March 2021

Georgia West

Doctorate in Forensic Psychology Top-up Yang Fujia Building Psychiatry and Applied Psychology School of Medicine University of Nottingham Jubilee Campus Wollaton Road Nottingham, NG8 1BB

Dear Ms West

 Ethics Reference No: FMHS 185-0221 – please always quote

 Study Title: Risk factors for suicide within men under probation supervision: Can we predict the likelihood of acting on suicidal ideation?

 Chief Investigator/Supervisors: Professor Kevin Browne, Forensic Psychology, Dr Elizabeth Paddock, Assistant Professor of Forensic Psychology, Psychiatry and Applied Psychology, School of Medicine

 Lead Investigators/student: Georgia West, Doctorate in Forensic Psychology, Top-Up, School of Medicine

 Other Key researchers/collaborators: Dr Charlie Brooker, Honorary Professor Centre for Sociology and Criminology, Royal Holloway, University of London

 Proposed Start Date: 01/03/2021

Thank you for submitting this straightforward anonymised secondary database analysis study which was considered at a sub-committee meeting on 22 February 2021 and the following documents were received:

- FMHS REC Application form version 1.0: 06.02.2021
- Data Management Plan dated 06.02.2021
- Provisional approval MTC Novo, London CRC (probation) Jan 2021

These have been reviewed and are satisfactory and the project has been given a favourable ethics opinion.

A favourable ethics opinion has been given on the understanding that:

- The protocol agreed is followed and the Committee is informed of any changes using a notice of amendment form (please request a form).
- 2. The Chair is informed of any serious or unexpected event.
- 3. An End of Project Progress Report is completed and returned when the study has finished (Please request a form).

Yours sincerely

n

Dr John Williams, Associate Professor in Anaesthesia and Pain Medicine Chair, Faculty of Medicine & Health Sciences Research Ethics Committee

Appendix G: Case Study consent form



Case Study Consent form

UNITED KINGDOM · CHINA · MALAYSIA

I consent for information regarding my assessment, formulation, intervention and outcomes to be comprised as a Case Study for the requirements of The University of Nottingham Doctorate in Forensic Psychology.

I understand that this piece of work, although not published, can be made available to a third party who requests it under the Freedom of Information Act.

I understand that consent forms will be kept securely like confidential documents and will be archived securely for seven years.

I understand my right to withdraw consent at any time

I understand that all personal information will remain anonymised, and any identifiable information will be kept secure and removed as soon as possible

Name: XXXX

Signed: JC

Date: 12/10/2020

Appendix H: Client X longitudinal formulation

Early experiences Estranged relationship with Dad Victim of physical abuse and witnessed domestic abuse perpetrated by Dad against Mum Traumatic experiences – witnessing Dad's drug abuse and feared he had died Feelings of helplessness/unprotected Exposure to substances from young age Truanted school

Rules/Assumptions If I carry a knife, then I am safe If I wasn't here, then I wouldn't have to feel this way anymore. If the world doesn't improve then I will always feel like this People won't protect or rescue me, so what is the point in relationships or trusting anyone If I leave the house, I would be harmed

Core beliefs The world is unsafe Part of my personality is to be on edge because of what has happened to me I will never not be depressed I can't trust anyone I am a burden I'm not good enough – I make others' life worse

Precipitating/Environmental factors

Failing in school Lack of control over life Feeling let down Attacked and mugged with knife Bullied at school Increase exercise and reduction in eating at young age



What made me vulnerable in the first place?

Estranged relationship with Dad

Victim of physical abuse and witnessed domestic abuse – felt unprotected

Traumatic memories of witnessing drug abuse and fears of Dad's death

Exposure to substances

Truanted school

The problem: Anxiety, depression and suicidal thoughts/behaviour

What positive things do I have going for me? -Supportive relationship with Mum -Engaging well with Probation -Motivated to address mental health issues

What triggered my most recent episode?

Failing academically Unable to cope alone Feeling let down Feeling at risk of harm Bullied at school Increase exercise and reduction in eating Robbed at knife point Hiding emotions

What keeps the problem going?

- A sense of lack of control
 - Feeling unprotected
- Negative core beliefs (i.e. I will always be depressed)
 - Isolating/not leaving the house
 - Suicidal ideation



PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL

RE: XXXXX

To whom it may concern,

XXXX was referred to St XXXX within London Community Rehabilitation Company for a mental health assessment. As the assessing clinician, I am writing to you to see if you may be able to help address the following recommendations. I am hoping that you may review XXXX; and his past medical records, to see whether you think the below may be beneficial.

I believe it may be beneficial for XXXX to recommence his prescription of antidepressants. He reported that he stopped taking them last year once the prescription had expired, however he identified the medication as helpful to alleviate low mood, improve sleep and increase appetite; all of which he currently identifies as presenting problems. XXXX expressed being unable to arrange a medication review yet himself, or via his mother, and requested whether I could prompt a suggestion for this.

Furthermore, XXXX disclosed being diagnosed with bulimia in his adolescent years. Although XXXX is unable to provide specific details of this diagnosis, he reported currently eating only one meal a day. I wanted to make you aware, in case having his weight/food and fluid intake monitored over time was required. I believe psychological intervention with an eating disorder specialist may be beneficial for XXXX. In addition, he stated he would appreciate some education on food and nutrition in the hope he can take positive steps to improve his energy levels.

Finally, XXXX continues to report daily nausea in the morning, and presents as distressed and concerned regarding this. He has continually reported that he would like medical support to help the feeling to subside. It is of note that XXXX physical health concerns have a significant impact on his mental health and emotional wellbeing, and I believe support with this would further improve his progress in psychological intervention. Any due consideration you can give to reviewing his case would be appreciated

Many thanks	Supervised by:
Coorgia West	Dr Eve Hepburn
Georgia west	HCPC Registered Forensic
BSc, MSc, MBPsS	Psychologist
Forensic Psychologist in Training	Acting Principal Psychologist

Appendix K: Follow up Satisfaction Questionnaire

Name	e (optional): XX	XXX				
Psych	ologist: Georg	ia West				
1 Ove	erall how satio	fied were you	with the servi	ice? ·		
1.01	1	יישני אינייע אינייע י	2	/	E	
	⊥ Notatal	۲ Leatisfied	5	4 Extromoly	<u>5</u> Satisfied	
	Not at all satisfied			Extremely Satisfied		
2. Thi	nking about yo	our own progre	ss during and	after the treatr	nent, how wo	uld
you ra	ate your progr	ess in the follow	wing area:			
(i)	Ability to manage your emotions					
	1	2	3	<u>4</u>	5	
	Limited Progress			Lots of progress		
(ii)	Ability to dea	l with problem	S			
	1	2	3	<u>4</u>	5	
	Limited Progress			Lots of progress		
(iii)	Confidence t	o use the skills	introduced in	treatment		
	1	2	3	4	<u>5</u>	
	Limited Progress			Lots of progress		
3. Hav	ve you used an	y of the skills i	ntroduced in t	treatment? <u>Yes</u>	/ No	
3a. If	yes, were the	skills helpful in	that situatior	n? <u>Yes</u> / No		
4. Hov	w helpful will o	completing this	treatment be	e for your future	2?	
	1	2	3	4	<u>5</u>	
	Not at all helpful			Extremely	helpful	

Please turn over

5. Thinking about the service, how would you rate:

(i)	Session Mate	erial			
	1	2	3	4	<u>5</u>
	Not at al	l satisfied		Extremely	Satisfied
(ii)	Flexibility (e.	g. Appointment	times)		
	1	2	3	4	<u>5</u>
	Not at al	l satisfied		Extremely	Satisfied

6. Is there anything you would have liked the service to have done differently? :

7. Any other comments:

No

Very helpful and will always remember it for the rest of my life

When completed, please return to Probation reception.

Thank you

Appendix L: Depression, Hopelessness and Suicide Screening Form (Mills, 2004)

 Name:_____
 FPS #:_____
 Date_____

DHS Scale							
Please answer all of the questions. Circle either T (True) or F (False).							
		True	False				
1.	I feel sad most of the time.	Т	F				
2.	My future seems bleak.	Т	F				
3.	Sometimes I feel bad for no reason.	Т	F				
4.	I have been diagnosed as being depressed by a psychiatrist or psychologist in the past.	Т	F				
5.	I am mostly happy.	Т	F				
6.	I can't see how my circumstances will get better.	Т	F				
7.	I feel like a failure and I am disappointed with myself.	Т	F				
8.	I have close friends or family members who have killed themselves.	Т	F				
9.	I have a normal amount of energy.	Т	F				
10.	Life is too hard for me right now.	Т	F				
11.	I seem to get distracted easily.	Т	F				
12.	Suicide is not an option for me.	Т	F				
13.	I feel tired a lot of the time.	Т	F				
14.	My future will be mostly happy.	Т	F				
15.	I have trouble sleeping at night.	Т	F				
16.	I have had serious thoughts of suicide in the past.	Т	F				
17.	Usually I sleep soundly.	Т	F				
18.	No matter what I do, things don't get better.	Т	F				
19.	I feel down most of the time.	Т	F				
20.	I have intentionally hurt myself.	Т	F				
21.	I am often bored and unhappy.	Т	F				
22.	I am certain I can make something of myself.	Т	F				
23.	Sad thoughts keep me awake at night.	Т	F				
24.	If circumstances get too bad, suicide is always an option.	Т	F				
25.	I have many interests I follow.	Т	F				

		True	False	
26	Most times things don't seem to go my way	т	F	
20.	wost times times don't seem to go my way.	1	Г	
27.	Lately I prefer to keep to myself.	Т	F	
28.	In the past my suicidal thoughts have led to a suicide attempt.	Т	F	
29.	I have lost my appetite.	Т	F	
30.	It is hard for me to see myself being happy.	Т	F	
31.	My life is generally satisfying and interesting.	Т	F	
32.	I have attempted suicide more than once in the past.	Т	F	
33.	My problems don't seem to end.	Т	F	
34.	I have attempted suicide in the past two years.	Т	F	
35.	I feel my situation is hopeless.	Т	F	
36.	I have recently had thoughts of hurting myself.	Т	F	
37.	I don't think I will amount to anything.	Т	F	
38.	Life is not worth living.	Т	F	
39.	I have a plan to hurt myself.	Т	F	

Please answer all of the questions. Circle either T (True) or F (False).